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Preface to the sixth edition

Introduction

This book uses the international framework and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as its primary focus. It enables students in their early stages of study
to understand and analyse the published annual reports and financial statements of
our largest businesses and public sector institutions. IFRS are now applied in many
aspects of government, local authority and other public sector accounting. Where rele-
vant it also refers to the approach used in small and medium-sized businesses where
the traditions of UK GAAP continue to be applied.

The book is written for the first level of undergraduate degree study in accounting
and business studies, or equivalent introductory accounting courses for any pro-
fessional training where an understanding of accounting is a basic requirement. While
UK listed companies apply IFRS in their published financial statements, the remainder
of the annual report is governed by UK-based regulations and codes. All UK com-
panies operate under the Companies Act 2006. Their annual reports are influenced
by the regulatory process applied to listed companies in the UK. This sixth edition is
thoroughly revised to reflect these regulatory changes, particularly the restructuring
of the Financial Reporting Council to take responsibility for the standards previously
issued by the UK Accounting Standards Board.

All ‘Real World’ case studies at the start of each chapter have been updated to
reflect changing conditions and particularly the note of caution over financial state-
ments that has resulted from the banking and credit crisis of 2008-09. The underlying
pedagogy of previous editions has been retained in response to encouraging com-
ments from reviewers and from users of the book.

As institutions come under increasing scrutiny for the quality of the teaching and
learning experience offered, a textbook must do more than present the knowledge and
skills of the chosen subject. It must make explicit to the students what targets are to be
achieved and it must help them to assess realistically their own achievements of those
targets. It must help the class lecturer prepare, deliver, explain and assess the knowl-
edge and skills expected for the relevant level of study. This is achieved by stating
learning outcomes at the start of each chapter and by ensuring that the chapter head-
ings and the end-of-chapter questions address the stated outcomes.

The management accounting chapters continue the approach of previous editions
in taking some of the newer costing techniques into mainstream discussion, reflecting
their increasing acceptance in management accounting practice. Business strategy and
competitive position are recurring themes.

An accompanying website at www.pearsoned.co.uk/weetman provides the lecturer
with a complete resource pack for each chapter. Student handouts containing a skel-
eton outline of each chapter, leaving slots for students to complete; overhead-projector
masters that match the lecture handouts; additional multiple-choice questions and
further graded questions in application of knowledge and in problem solving; all are
features for this sixth edition.

End-of-chapter questions are graded according to the skills being assessed. There
are tests of retained knowledge, tests of application of knowledge in straightforward
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situations and tests of problem solving and evaluation using the acquired knowledge
in less familiar situations.

Overall the aim of the sixth edition is to provide an introduction to financial
accounting and management accounting which engages the interest of students and
encourages a desire for further study. It also contributes to developing the generic
skills of application, problem solving, evaluation and communication, all emphasised
by employers.

Subject coverage

Financial reporting is an essential component in the process of communication be-
tween a business and its stakeholders. The importance of communication increases
as organisations become larger and more complex. Reporting financial information to
external stakeholders not involved in the day-to-day management of the business
requires a carefully balanced process of extracting the key features while preserving
the essential core of information. The participants in the communication process cover
a wide range of expertise and educational background, so far as accounting is con-
cerned. The range begins with those who prepare financial statements, who may have
a special training in accounting techniques, but it ends with those who may be pro-
fessional investors, private investors, investment advisers, bankers, employee rep-
resentatives, customers, suppliers and journalists.

One very significant group of stakeholders in any business is the internal manage-
ment of the organisation. Managers have access to a wealth of detailed financial infor-
mation and a responsibility for the careful management of the assets and operations
of the organisation. The way in which the managers of an organisation use financial
information is very much contingent on the purpose for which the information is
intended. Management accounting is a specialist area of study within accounting more
generally. Ideally, management accounting and financial accounting would coalesce
if the external users could be given access to all internal information, but that might
damage the competitive position of the business and would probably swamp the
external users in detail.

First-level degree courses in accounting are increasingly addressed to this broad
base of potential interest and this book seeks to provide such a broad base of under-
standing while also supplying a sound technical base for those intending to pursue
specialised study of the subject further. In particular it makes use of the Conceptual
Framework which is used by the International Accounting Standards Board in develop-
ing and reviewing accounting standards. That Framework is intended to help preparers,
users and auditors of financial statements to understand better the general nature and
function of information reported in financial statements.

Aim of the book

The sixth edition has been updated throughout. It aims to provide a full understand-
ing of the key aspects of the annual report, concentrating in particular on companies
in the private sector but presenting principles of wider application which are relevant
also to organisations operating in the public sector.

In the management accounting section, the book aims to establish a firm under-
standing of the basic techniques, while recognising that more recent developments in
management accounting are becoming widespread. A contingency approach is adopted
which emphasises that the selection of management accounting techniques is con-
ditional on management’s purpose. To meet this purpose, the management accountant
performs the roles of directing attention, keeping the score and solving problems.
Strategic management accounting is emphasised from the outset so that students are
aware that management accounting must take an outward-looking approach. These
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themes are reiterated throughout, concluding with an explanation of the role of
management accounting in business strategy, particularly e-business in the new econ-
omy. A student who has completed this first-level study of management accounting
will be aware of many of the day-to-day practices of management accounting in busi-
ness and the relevance of those practices. It also provides a self-contained, broad intro-
duction to management accounting for business students who do not need to develop
specialist knowledge.

In particular

An international perspective reflects the convergence in accounting standards across the
European Union for listed companies. Features specific to the UK are retained where
these continue to be relevant to other enterprises.

Concepts of financial accounting are identified by applying the principles enunci-
ated by the International Accounting Standards Board in its Conceptual Framework. The
Conceptual Framework emphasises the desirability of meeting the needs of users of
financial statements and it takes a balance sheet-oriented approach. That approach
is applied consistently throughout the book, with some indication of the problems
which may arise when it is clear that the established emphasis on the matching of
revenues and costs may give a more rational explanation of existing practice.

User needs are explained in every chapter and illustrated by including first-person
commentary from a professional fund manager, holding a conversation with an audit
manager. The conversations are based on the author’s research in the area of com-
munication through the annual report.

The accounting equation is used throughout the financial accounting section for
analysis and processing of transactions. It is possible for students who do not seek a
technical specialism to complete the text without any reference to debit and credit
bookkeeping. It is, however, recognised that particular groups of students may wish
to understand the basic aspects of debit and credit bookkeeping and for this purpose
the end-of-chapter supplements revisit, on a debit and credit recording basis, material
already explored in the chapter. Debit and credit aspects of management accounting
are not covered since these are regarded as best reserved for later specialist courses if
the student so chooses.

Practical illustration is achieved by drawing on the financial information of a fictitious
major listed company, taking an overview in early chapters and then developing the
detailed disclosures as more specific matters are explored.

Interpretation of financial statements is a feature of all financial reporting chapters,
formally brought together in Chapters 13 and 14. The importance of the wider range
of corporate communication is reinforced in Chapter 14. This chapter also includes
a discussion of some current developments that are under debate in the context of
international convergence.

A running case study example of the fictitious company Safe and Sure plc provides
illustration and interpretation throughout the chapters. Safe and Sure plc is in the
service sector. The Instructors” Manual contains a parallel example, Craigielaw plc, in
the manufacturing sector. On the website there are questions on Craigielaw to accom-
pany most of the chapters.

Self-evaluation is encouraged by setting learning outcomes at the start of each chap-
ter and reviewing these in the chapter summaries. Activity questions are placed at
various stages throughout each chapter. Self-testing questions at the end of the chapter
may be answered by referring again to the text. Further end-of-chapter questions
provide a range of practical applications. Group activities are suggested at the end
of each chapter with the particular aim of encouraging participation and interaction.
Answers are available to all computational questions, either at the end of the book or
on the website.
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A sense of achievement is engendered in the reader of the financial accounting
section by providing a general understanding of the entire annual report by the
end of Chapter 7. Thereafter specific aspects of the annual report are explored in
Chapters 8-12. Lecturers who wish to truncate a first-level course or leave specific
aspects to a later level will find Chapters 8-12 may be used on a selective basis.

A spreadsheet approach to financial accounting transactions is used in the body of
the relevant chapters to show processing of transactions using the accounting
equation. The author is firmly convinced, after years of trying every conceivable approach,
that the spreadsheet encourages students to apply the accounting equation analyt-
ically, rather than trying to memorise T-account entries. Furthermore students now
use spreadsheets as a tool of analysis on a regular basis and will have little difficulty
in applying suitable software in preparing spreadsheets. In the bookkeeping supple-
mentary sections, the three-column ledger account has been adopted in the knowledge
that school teaching is moving increasingly to adopt this approach which cuts out
much of the bewilderment of balancing T-accounts. Computerised accounting systems
also favour the three-column presentation with continuous updating of the balance.

Flexible course design

There was once a time when the academic year comprised three terms and we all
knew the length of a typical course unit over those three terms. Now there are
semesters, trimesters, modules and half-modules so that planning a course of study
becomes an exercise in critical path analysis. This text is written for one academic year
comprising two semesters of 12 weeks each but may need selective guidance to
students for a module of lesser duration.

In financial accounting, Chapters 1-4 provide an essential conceptual framework
which sets the scene. For a general appreciation course, Chapters 5 and 6 are practical
so that one or both could be omitted, leading directly to Chapter 7 as a guide to
published accounts. Chapters 8-12 are structured so that the explanation of principles
is contained early in each chapter, but the practical implementation is later in each
chapter. For a general appreciation course, it would be particularly important to refer
to the section of each chapter which analyses users’ needs for information and
discusses information provided in the financial statements. However, the practical
sections of these chapters could be omitted or used on a selective basis rather than
attempting full coverage. Chapters 13 and 14 are important to all readers for a sense
of interpretation and awareness of the range of material within corporate reports.
Chapter 15 takes the reader through a cash flow statement item-by-item with the
emphasis on understanding and interpretation.

In teaching and learning management accounting various combinations are
possible, depending on course design and aims. Chapters 16, 17 and 18 provide an
essential set of basic tools of analysis but thereafter some flexibility is feasible. For
applications in job costing, Chapter 19 provides further material. For concentrating
on decision making and awareness of business strategy, Chapters 20, 24 and 25 are
recommended. For concentrating on planning and control, Chapters 21, 22 and 23 give
students experience of the variety of techniques in use.

Approaches to teaching and learning
Learning outcomes

Targets for student achievement in relation to knowledge and understanding of the
subject are specified in learning outcomes at the head of each chapter. The achieve-
ments represented by these learning outcomes are confirmed against graded questions
at the end of each chapter. The achievement of some learning outcomes may be
confirmed by Activities set out at the appropriate stage within the chapter.
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Skills outcomes

The end-of-chapter questions test not only subject-specific knowledge and technical
skills but also the broader general skills that are transferable to subsequent employ-
ment or further training.

Graded questions

End-of-chapter questions are graded and each is matched to one or more learning
outcomes. Where a solution is provided to a question this is shown by an [S] after the
question number.

A series questions: test your understanding

The A series questions confirm the application of technical skills. These are skills
specific to the subject of accounting which add to the specialist expertise of the
student. More generally they show the student’s capacity to acquire and apply a
technical skill of this type.

The answers to these questions can be found in relevant sections of the chapter, as
indicated at the end of each question.

B series questions: application

The B series questions apply the knowledge gained from reading and practising the
material of the chapter. They resemble closely in style and content the technical material
of the chapter. Confidence is gained in applying knowledge in a situation that is very
similar to that illustrated. Answers are given in Appendix II or on the website. These
questions test skills of problem solving and evaluation that are relevant to many sub-
jects and many activities in life, especially in subsequent employment. Some initiative
is required in deciding how to apply relevant knowledge and in solving problems.

C series questions: problem solving and evaluation

The C series questions apply the knowledge gained from reading the chapter, but in a
varied style of question. Problem solving skills are required in selecting relevant data
or in using knowledge to work out what further effort is needed to solve the problem.
Evaluation means giving an opinion or explanation of the results of the problem-
solving exercise. Some answers are given in Appendix I but others are on the website
so that they can be used in tutorial preparation or class work.

Group and individual cases

Cases apply knowledge gained from the chapter but they also test communication
skills. Communication may involve writing or speaking, or both. It may require, for
example, explanation of a technical matter to a non-technical person, or discussion
with other students to explore a controversial issue, or presentation of a report to a
business audience.

S series questions in supplementary sections

The S series questions test knowledge of the accounting records system (bookkeeping
entries) to confirm understanding by those who have chosen to study the supple-
mentary bookkeeping sections.

Website

A website is available at www.pearsoned.co.uk/weetman by password access to
lecturers adopting this book. It contains additional problem questions for each chapter,
with full solutions to these additional questions as well as any solutions not provided
in the book. The website includes basic tutorial instructions and overhead-projector
masters to support each chapter.
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Target readership

This book is targeted at a broad-ranging business studies type of first-level degree
course. It is intended to support the equivalent of one semester of 12 teaching weeks.
There is sufficient basic bookkeeping (ledger accounts) in the end-of-chapter supple-
ments to make the book suitable for those intending to pursue a specialised study of
accounting beyond the first level but the bookkeeping material is optional for those
who do not have such special intentions. The book has been written with under-
graduate students particularly in mind, but may also be suitable for professional and
postgraduate business courses where financial reporting is taught at an introductory
level.
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Guided tour of the book

Chapter 14

Reporting corporate performance

REAL WORLD CASE

Vodafone plc
Extract from Annual Report 2012
The Group's key risks are outlined below:

1 Regulatory decisions and changes in the
roguiatory environment could adversaly.
affect our business.

2 Wa could suffer loss of consumer
confidence and/or legal action due.
to2a fallure to protect our customer
information.

3 Our business could be adversely affected
by a fallure or significant inerruption to
telecommunications networks.

handsets and use of
in less demand for our traditional service offerings.

Gatty Images

services may result

5 Increased competition may reduce our market share and profitabilty.
6 Our business may be impaired by actual or percelved health risks associated with the

transmission of radio waves from mobile telephones, transriters and associated equipment.
7 One or more countries may exit the eurozone.

8 We may be an

9 We may ot satisfactoriy resolve major tax disputes.

10 A on our network senvices or compromise
our data.

11 Changes in assumptions underlying the camying value of certain Group assets could result in
impairment

&

1 o Vacsons

12012.p. 5. T—

Discussion points.

1 What would be your ranking of (a)the relative likelinaod and (5) the relative impact of the risks.
listed?

2

Chapter contents
provide a quick and
easy reference to the
following section.

Real world case studies
at the beginning of each
chapter are designed

to exemplify a typical
situation in which
financial or management
accounting can be
helpful.

Key terms and definitions are emboldened where
they are first introduced, with a definition box to

provide a concise explanation where required.

i Pt 1 A concapul amawcsting h scane
(EETTTLIN  Ater studying this chapter you shouid b able to:
outcomes » Define, and explain the definition of, ccounting.

© Explain what is meant by a conceptufl framework.
o Explain trader, a hip and

a limited company.
‘ Listthe main users of financial informRtion and ther partioular needs.

 Discuss the usefulnss of financial sthtements to the main users.

Additionally, for those who choos to stfdy the supplement
» Dafine the basic terminology of businkss transactions.

B 1 inwoduction

Activity 1.1

think the
word ‘accounting’ means. Then read this scion and compare it with your paragraph.

A e s s

the following

“official’ definition A‘ counting, but for the purposes of this text
ding will be used:

Definition ting

process o identl
iy o permit

the information.”

and s suffcient to specify the enire cont oxt
Taking the definiton word by word, i eads o the following questions:

6 Who are the users of financial information about an entity?
7 What types of judgements and o these users make?

Figures and Tables,
at frequent intervals
throughout most
chapters, provide clear
explanations of key
points and calculations.

Colour coding provides
a clear and accessible
guide to key aspects of
accounting equations.

h O ———

— ] 21 Introduction 2

22 The accounting equation 2
22,1 Form of the equation: international preferences 29
222 Flexiilty 30

23 Defining assets 30
23,1 Controlled by the entity 30
232 Pastevents 31
233 Future economic benefits 3t

24 Examples of assets 32

25 Recognition of assats 34
25,1 Probabilty that economic beneits wil flow 34
252 Reliabilty of measurement 35
253 Non-recognition 3

26 Defining labilties. 36
26.1 Present obligation 36
262 Past ever 36
263 Outflow of economic bensfits a7

27 Examples of liabilties a7

28 Recognition of iabilties 8

29 Defining the ownership interest 30

210 Recognition of the ownership interest a0

211 Changes in the ownership interest a0
2111 Revenue and expense 4
2112 Position after a change has occurred 2

212 Assurance for users of financial statements a2

213 Summary. a3
‘Supplement: debit and credit bookkeeping )

PITTIIN  erstucying ths chatar you shouid be abl t:
(ITESUE o Defne and expian the accounting equatin.
o Define asses.
o Appy the detiton to examples o assts.

A Sonandcot e s o eognton ot s
o Defne labiltes.
« Applythe cefntion to exampes of ables
 Explain and apply the ules for recogniton ofabiles
o Deine ounership iterest.
= Explin how the recogriton of ownership interest dipends on th recogriton of

assets and abiltes

‘@ Explain how users of financial statements can gain assurance about assets and
liablties.

Additionaly, for those who choose to study the supplement:

‘o Explain how the rules of debit and credit recording are derived from the
‘accounting equation.

Learning outcomes are bullet points at
the start of each chapter to show what

you can expect to learn from that chapter,

highlighting the core coverage.

h Part Aconopta s sting o scre

Table 39
g Rules for debit and credit recording

‘Debit entries in a leoger | Credit entries ina ledger
account account

Left-hand side of the equation

Asset Increase Decrease

Right-hand side of the equation|

Liabiity Decrease Increase.

Ownership interest Expense. Revenue

Capital withdrawn Capital contributed

Analysis of each transaction
Sept.1 P Mason deposits £140,00 i a bank account to commence the business
un . el pracic

‘The business acquires an asset (cash in the bank) and an ownership interest is

created through contribution of capital
Transaction number: 1| Debit Credit
Asset Bank £140.000

Ownership interest Capital contributed

£140,000

50,000 from a fin iness to
for use as an office. The

i
e [ommt \
o [eeme o0 \ \
[ceoiy \ [Congamismsiaaeo |

Sept.1 A property s purchased ata cost of £75,000 for the land and £175,000 for
the buildings. The full price is paid from the bank account.

land and > total) and the asset

of cash in the bank s reduced.

[Farsetanromtars _Joan [owan \
S 000 ‘

‘ Asset

Land and buidings
£250,000

from Stylecraft ata cost of £30,000. The full

Sept.3  Office furniture
priceis 190 days.

be paid w

Activities appear throughout each chapter to encourage
self-evaluation and help you to think about the application

of the subject in everyday life.




While they wait for lur
is quite helpful to have Leo

ed, David turns to the annual report and finds it
longside him.

" DAVID: At the present time nothing seems to excite more comment from the financial

that it's somathing I ook for in the annual report. Maybe I'm looking for my future earning
potentiall One of my more cynical colleagues says that directors can't lose on opions. If
the sharo price rises they make money, which we don't mind because our investment is

rising in value. The directors the
lower price and then wait for the market o rise again so that they make a profitl We can't
do that for our investment.

| always ook at the note on share capital to see whether new shares have been issued

the reason is explained i the accounts as being due entirly o the issue of options.

126.2  Share premium

Note 13 Share premium account

Year7 Vear 6

m m

ALY January 55 36
Premium on shares issued during the year

under the share option schemes 30 19

At31 December 85 55

 DAVID: look at the share premium account only as a check on the amount of cash raised
< 1m shown
s an incraase in nominal value, then 1 know that £3.1m was raised in total by the issue of
Shares. I can check that in the cash flow statement.

1263 Revaluation reserve

Note 14 Revaluation reserve

Year7 Vear &

om om
A1 January a8 a6
AL 31 December pry 6

" DAVID: / always look at the reserves nots to see what is happening to the overall share-
=~ holders” caim. Vear 6 or Year
the company has ot revalued the non-current assefs in that period?

LEONA: The directors are required fo roview the valuations at each statement of financial

have been o change in the value of the assets involved.

Summaries at the "

end of each chapter
highlight the material
that has been covered
and can be used as a
quick reminder of the
main issues.

/

A conversation between two managers (consultants)
appears at intervals throughout the text to provide a
valuable insight into the type of interpretative comment
which you may find more taxing. These conversations
allow a more candid discussion of issues and problems

within the subject.
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Activity 4.4 it s
quite kly thatyou wil
this book as & whole s {0 help you understand published financial satements and we are,
as yet, ony at the end of Chapler 4. Make a note of the itams you don' fully understand
and keep that note safe i a fle. As you progress through th restof the book, ook back
o the poins
 page ull of tcks by the &nd of the book.

- - 4.7 Summary
m

nt principles that are
2006:

most widely known in the UK are

i of financial reporting in the U

S Regulation requires all li

in g
of accounting for tax

Application (Series B) questions are questions that
ask you to apply the knowledge gained from reading

and practising the material in the chapter, and closely
resemble the style and content of the technical material.
Answers are given at the end of the book or in the

Resources for Tutors on the Instructor Resource Centre

at www.pearsoned.co.uk/weetman.

of the UK ASB has many similarities to the 1ASB's

lsted companies in m:
ing regulation to use a system
ASB.

imers, employees, lender

suppliers, customers, nd the public interest,

o Stakeholders a
cial information

i receiving finan-

Further reading sections
provide full details of

Further reading

1ASB Q01
Standa
ICAEW (2009), Deo
ive. The Institute

[ ausmows

“The Questions saction of each chaper has three types of question. “Test your Understanding”
questions to help you review your reading aro in the A" series.of questons. You will find the
“Application’ questions

to B
You o show skillsin problem solving and evaluation are i the ‘C' series of questions. A leter
5] indicates that there i a solution at the end of the book.

N st your understanding

ALY Deine ‘accounting’ and ideniy the separate questions raised by the defition. (Sec-
tion 1)

A1.2The folowing technical terms appear for th fist time in tis chapter. Check that you
Know the meaning of each. f you can't find them again i the fax! there is a glossary
atthe end of the book)

‘o accountancy fim * capial
‘» accountancy profession @ cash flow projectons.
o accounting

nnnnn i report efaul
o articles of association o drectors
o audit manager o dvidend
‘o business entiy o entity

€

sources of information
referred to in the chapter.

Test your
understanding
(Series A) questions

[ are short questions to
encourage you to review
your understanding of the
main topics covered in
each chapter.

Problem solving and evaluation (Series C) questions require

problem solving skills to select relevant data in order to work out
what further effort is needed to solve the problem. Evaluation
questions ask for your opinion surrounding the results of the

\

A

711
cash flow? (Section 7.6.3)
A7.12 Explain why groups of companies are formed. (Section 7.7)
A7.13 Explin the purpos of consolidated financial satements. (Section 7.7)
A7:14. Define the terms: (Section 7.71)
@ grouw:
) parent company; and
(© subsidary.
A7.15 Explain, using the accounting equation, the effect on the parent company's balance
et of a cash payment foran investment n a subsidiary company. (Section 7.3.1)

A7.16 Explan, using the accounting equation, the effect on the parent company's balance
ton 7.8.1)

A7:17 Explan wha Is meant by goodwill on acquisiion. (Section 7.8.4)
A7.18 Wnatis an associated company? (Section 7.8.5)
A719

investors, users of fnancial state-

ments? (Section 7.9)

B Application

B7.15]
Wite  letterto the financialcontroller of a company advising on the factors which a company
should

B72[5]
Wite a note for financial analysts explaining how the published income statement (proft and
of a company.

B7315]
What features are Ikely to make a balance sheat helpful to users?

B7.415]

Could a statement of cash flows be presented as the only financial statement reported by a
company? Explain your view.

Il Problem solving and evaluation

cras)

the highights and
supplementary information as a leaiet to be inserted in the annual report. Give advice on the
princiles t0 be followed In making such information useful o users.

Activities for study groups

Continuing to use the annual reports of companies which you obtained for Chapters 1 and 4,
find the financial statements and the notes to the accouns.

this chapter,
and note any diferences which you observe. Look at the notes to the accounts for foms.

/

Activities for study groups at the end of

problem solving exercise. Some solutions are found at the end of
the book but others are in the Resources for Tutors section on the
Instructor Resource Centre at www.pearsoned.co.uk/weetman,

for use in tutorial preparation or class work.

most chapters are designed to help you apply
the accounting skills and knowledge you have
acquired from the chapter to the real world.
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Who needs accounting?

REAL WORLD CASE

Meeting users’ needs
Transport for London: extracts from Annual Report 2012

Transport for London (TfL) is a statutory
corporation established by section 154 of the
Greater London Authority Act 1999 (GLA Act
1999). It is a functional body of the Greater London
Authority (GLA) and reports to the Mayor of London.

Accounting policies (p. 92)

TfL is required to prepare an annual Statement of
Accounts by the Accounts and Audit (England)
Regulations 2011 (the 2011 Regulations), which
those Regulations require to be prepared in
accordance with proper accounting practices.

Shutterstock.com/Stuart Monk

Highlights (p. 70)

In 2011/12, passenger demand again increased
from the previous year. London Underground (LU) passenger journey growth continued, with
passenger journeys up 5.7 per cent on 2010/11. Service demand on the bus network rose by 2.4 per
cent and Docklands Light Railway (DLR) passenger journeys increased by 10.0 per cent reflecting the
opening of the Stratford International Extension and Westfield Stratford City. Fares increased by an
average 5.6 per cent in January 2012, resulting in an increase in gross fares income to £3,547m.

Gross expenditure before write off of goodwill increased by 5.2 per cent to £6,124m, reflecting the
increased level of activity offset to a degree by the impact of efficiency savings. An exceptional
goodwill impairment of £106m was recognised in relation to the acquisition of the CARE and WARE
groups of companies (former PFI partners of DLR).

The level of capital works being undertaken during 2011/12 remained high reflecting the ongoing
investment in Crossrail and Tube infrastructure required to increase capacity on the network. Capital
expenditure during the year was £2,652m.

Statement of responsibilities (p. 80)
The Corporation is required to:

e Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its
officers (its Chief Finance Officer) has responsibility for the administration of those affairs;
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@ Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its
assets;

® Approve the Statement of Accounts.

Annual Governance Statement (p. 206)

TfL establishes clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and other
stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open consultation by:

® Making clear to staff and the public what it is accountable for and to whom

@ Publishing, publicising and making generally available an annual report as soon as practicable after
the end of the financial year

® The annual report presenting an objective and understandable account of its activities and
achievements and its financial position and performance

Discussion points
1 Who might be included in the stakeholders to whom TfL is accountable?

2 To what extent do the ‘Highlights’ meet the needs of users of the financial statements?
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Learning

outcomes

m

Activity 1.1

Definition

After studying this chapter you should be able to:
o Define, and explain the definition of, accounting.
e Explain what is meant by a conceptual framework.

o Explain the distinguishing features of a sole trader, a partnership and
a limited company.

o List the main users of financial information and their particular needs.
@ Discuss the usefulness of financial statements to the main users.

Additionally, for those who choose to study the supplement:
@ Define the basic terminology of business transactions.

Introduction

Before starting to read this section, write down one paragraph stating what you think the
word ‘accounting’ means. Then read this section and compare it with your paragraph.

There is no single ‘official” definition of accounting, but for the purposes of this text
the following wording will be used:

Accounting is the process of identifying, measuring and communicating financial
information about an entity to permit informed judgements and decisions by users of
the information.’

This definition may appear short but it has been widely quoted over a number of years
and is sufficient to specify the entire contents of this introductory textbook.
Taking the definition word by word, it leads to the following questions:

What is the process?

How is financial information identified?

How is financial information measured?

How is financial information communicated?

What is an entity?

Who are the users of financial information about an entity?
What types of judgements and decisions do these users make?

NS UT b WON =

Writing the questions in this order is slightly dangerous because it starts by
emphasising the process and waits until the final question to ask about the use of
the information. The danger is that accountants may design the process first and then
hope to show that it is suitable to allow judgements and decisions by users. This is
what has often happened over many years of developing the process by accountants.

In order to learn about, and understand, accounting by taking a critical approach
to the usefulness of the current processes and seeing its limitations and the potential
for improvement, it is preferable to reverse the order of the questions and start by
specifying the users of financial information and the judgements and decisions they
make. Once the users and their needs have been identified, the most effective forms
of communication may be determined and only then may the technical details of
measurement and identification be dealt with in a satisfactory manner.
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Reversing the order of the questions arising from the definition of accounting is the
approach used in this book, because it is the one which has been taken by those seeking
to develop a conceptual framework of accounting.

This chapter outlines in particular the Conceptual Framework of the International
Accounting Standards Board which has been developed for international use in
accounting practice. The chapter explains the nature of three common types of
business entity and concludes by drawing on various views relating to the users of
accounting information and their information needs.

Because the understanding of users’ needs is essential throughout the entire text,
the chapter introduces David Wilson, a fund manager working for a large insurance
company. In order to balance the demands of users with the restrictions and con-
straints on preparers of financial information, the chapter also introduces Leona Rees
who works as an audit manager with an accountancy firm. Both of them will offer
comments and explanations as you progress through the text.

Activity 1.2 How does this section compare with your initial notions of what accounting means?
If they are similar, then it is likely that the rest of this book will meet your expectations.
If they are different, then it may be that you are hoping for more than this book can
achieve. If that is the case, this may be a useful point at which to consult your lecturer,
tutor or some other expert in the subject to be sure that you are satisfied that this book
will meet your personal learning outcomes.

- 1.2 The development of a conceptual framework

A conceptual framework for accounting is a statement of principles which provides
generally accepted guidance for the development of new reporting practices and for
challenging and evaluating the existing practices. Conceptual frameworks have been
developed in several countries around the world, with the UK arriving a little late
on the scene. However, arriving late does give the advantage of learning from what
has gone before. It is possible to see a pattern emerging in the various approaches to
developing a conceptual framework.

The conceptual frameworks developed for practical use by the accountancy
profession in various countries all start with the common assumption that financial
statements must be useful. The structure of most conceptual frameworks is along the
following lines:

Who are the users of financial statements?

What are the information needs of users?

What types of financial statements will best satisfy their needs?

What are the characteristics of financial statements which meet these needs?

What are the principles for defining and recognising items in financial statements?
What are the principles for measuring items in financial statements?

The most widely applicable conceptual framework originated as the Framework
for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements produced by the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board (IASB). This Framework was issued in 1989 and
either reflects, or is reflected in, national conceptual frameworks of the USA, Canada,
Australia and the UK. In 2010 the Framework was partially updated but it seems un-
likely that a fully revised version will be issued until after some challenging account-
ing issues have been addressed. The thinking in all those documents can be traced to
two discussion papers of the 1970s in the UK and the USA. In the UK, The Corporate
Report* was a slim but highly influential document setting out the needs of users and
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Activity 1.3

1.3

how these might be met. Two years earlier the Trueblood Report® in the USA had taken
a similar approach of identifying the needs of users, although perhaps coming out
more strongly in support of the needs of shareholders and creditors than of other user
groups. In the UK, various documents on the needs of users have been prepared by
individuals invited to help the process® or those who took it on themselves to propose
radical new ideas.’

Since January 2005, all listed companies in member states of the European Union
(EU) have been required by an accounting regulation called the IAS Regulation® to
use a system of international financial reporting standards set by the International
Accounting Standards Board. The UK ASB has been influential in the development of
these international reporting standards and, over a period of years, has been moving
UK accounting practice closely into line with the international standards. For unlisted
companies and other organisations not covered by the IAS Regulation of the EU, the
UK ASB has a conceptual framework of its own, called the Statement of Principles.” This
document has many similarities to the IASB’s Conceptual Framework.

Most conceptual frameworks start with the question: Who are the users of financial
statements? Write down a list of the persons or organisations you think would be
interested in making use of financial statements, and their possible reasons for being
interested. Have you included yourself in that list? Keep your list available for comparing
with a later section of this chapter.

The conceptual framework for financial reporting

The Conceptual Framework is under a process of gradual revision and updating, as a
joint project of the IASB and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) of the
USA. In 2010 a partial revision was published with the following structure:

Chapters

1 The objective of general purpose financial reporting

2 The reporting entity (to be added later)

3 Qualitative characteristics of useful financial information

4 Remaining text based on the Framework (1989):
Underlying assumption 4.1
The elements of financial statements 4.2-4.36
Recognition of the elements of financial statements 4.37-4.53
Measurement of the elements of financial statements 4.54—4.56
Concepts of capital and capital maintenance 4.57-4.65

Chapters 1 and 3 of the Conceptual Framework are written at a general level and a
reader would find no difficulty in reviewing these at an early stage of study, to gain a
flavour of what is expected of financial statements. The remaining sections are a mix-
ture of general principles, which are appropriate to first-level study of the subject, and
some quite specific principles which deal with more advanced problems. Some of
those problems need an understanding of accounting which is beyond a first level
of study. This book will refer to aspects of the various sections of the Conceptual Frame-
work, as appropriate, when particular issues are dealt with. You should be aware,
however, that this book concentrates on the basic aspects of the Conceptual Framework
and does not explore every complexity.

A conceptual framework is particularly important when practices are being
developed for reporting to those who are not part of the day-to-day running of the
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business. This is called external reporting or financial accounting and is the focus of
the Financial Accounting studied in this book. For those who are managing the business
on a day-to-day basis, special techniques have been developed and are referred to
generally as internal reporting or management accounting.

Before continuing with the theme of the conceptual framework, it is useful to
pause and consider the types of business for which accounting information may be

required.
Activity 14 Visit the website of the International Accounting Standards Board at
www.ifrs.org and find the link to the Conceptual Framework. What does "‘t’P'?t
the IASB say about the purpose of the Conceptual Framework? How is it activity
being developed?

Visit the UK website of the Financial Reporting Council at www.frc.org.uk and
find the link to the Statement of Principles. What is the stated purpose of the
Statement of Principles? How was it developed?

- 1.4 Types of business entity

The word entity means ‘something that exists independently’. A business entity is a
business that exists independently of those who own the business. There are three
main categories of business which will be found in all countries, although with differ-
ent titles in different ones. This chapter uses the terminology common to the UK. The
three main categories are: sole trader, partnership and limited liability company. This
list is by no means exhaustive but provides sufficient variety to allow explanation of
the usefulness of most accounting practices and their application.

Activity 1.5 Before reading the next sections, take out a newspaper with business advertisements
or a business telephone directory, or take a walk down your local high street or drive
round the trading estate. Write down the names of five businesses, shops or other
organisations. Then read the sections and attempt to match your list against the
information provided in each.

1.4.1 Sole trader

An individual may enter into business alone, either selling goods or providing a ser-
vice. Such a person is described as a sole trader. The business may be started because
the sole trader has a good idea which appears likely to make a profit, and has some
cash to buy the equipment and other resources to start the business. If cash is not avail-
able, the sole trader may borrow from a bank to enable the business to start up.
Although this is the form in which many businesses have started, it is one which is
difficult to expand because the sole trader will find it difficult to arrange additional
finance for expansion. If the business is not successful and the sole trader is unable to
meet obligations to pay money to others, then those persons may ask a court of law to
authorise the sale of the personal possessions, and even the family home, of the sole
trader. Being a sole trader can be a risky matter and the cost of bank borrowing
may be at a relatively unfavourable rate of interest because the bank fears losing its
money.
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1.4.2
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From this description it will be seen that the sole trader’s business is very much
intertwined with the sole trader’s personal life. However, for accounting purposes, the
business is regarded as a separate economic entity, of which the sole trader is the
owner who takes the risk of the bad times and the benefit of the good times. Take as
an example the person who decides to start working as an electrician and advertises
their services in a newspaper. The electrician travels to jobs from home and has no
business premises. Tools are stored in the loft at home and the business records are
in a cupboard in the kitchen. Telephone calls from customers are received on the
domestic phone and there are no clearly defined working hours. The work is inextric-
ably intertwined with family life.

For accounting purposes that person is seen as the owner of a business which
provides electrical services and the business is seen as being separate from the
person’s other interests and private life. The owner may hardly feel any great need for
accounting information because they know the business very closely, but account-
ing information will be needed by other persons or entities, mainly the government
(in the form of HM Revenue and Customs) for tax collecting purposes. It may also be
required by a bank for the purposes of lending money to the business or by another
sole trader who is intending to buy the business when the existing owner retires.

Partnership

One method by which the business of a sole trader may expand is to enter into partner-
ship with one or more people. This may permit a pooling of skills to allow more
efficient working, or may allow one person with ideas to work with another who has
the money to provide the resources needed to turn the ideas into a profit. There is thus
more potential for being successful. If the business is unsuccessful, then the conse-
quences are similar to those for the sole trader. Persons to whom money is owed by
the business may ask a court of law to authorise the sale of the personal property of
the partners in order to meet the obligation. Even more seriously, one partner may be
required to meet all the obligations of the partnership if the other partner does not
have sufficient personal property, possessions and cash. This is described in law as
joint and several liability and the risks have to be considered very carefully by those
entering into partnership.

Partnership may be established as a matter of fact by two persons starting to work
together with the intention of making a profit and sharing it between them. More often
there is a legal agreement, called a partnership deed, which sets out the rights and
duties of each partner and specifies how they will share the profits. There is also part-
nership law, which governs the basic relationships between partners and which they
may use to resolve their disputes in a court of law if there is no partnership deed, or if
the partnership deed has not covered some aspect of the partnership.

For accounting purposes the partnership is seen as a separate economic entity,
owned by the partners. The owners may have the same intimate knowledge of the
business as does the sole trader and may therefore feel that accounting information
is not very important for them. On the other hand, each partner may wish to be sure
that they are receiving a fair share of the partnership profits. There will also be other
persons requesting accounting information, such as HM Revenue and Customs, banks
who provide finance and individuals who may be invited to join the partnership so
that it can expand even further.

Limited liability company

The main risk attached to either a sole trader or a partnership is that of losing personal
property and possessions, including the family home, if the business fails. That risk
would inhibit many persons from starting or expanding a business. Historically, as the
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UK changed from a predominantly agricultural to a predominantly industrial econ-
omy in the nineteenth century, it became apparent that owners needed the protection
of limited liability. This meant that if the business failed, the owners might lose all the
money they had put into the business but their personal wealth would be safe.

There are two forms of limited liability company. The private limited company has
the word ‘Limited” (abbreviated to ‘Ltd’) in its title. The public limited company has
the abbreviation ‘plc’ in its title. The private limited company is prohibited by law
from offering its shares to the public, so it is a form of limited liability appropriate
to a family-controlled business. The public limited company is permitted to offer its
shares to the public. In return it has to satisfy more onerous regulations. Where the
shares of a public limited company are bought and sold on a stock exchange, the
public limited company is called a listed company because the shares of the company
are on a list of share prices.

In either type of company, the owners are called shareholders because they share
the ownership and share the profits of the good times and the losses of the bad times
(to the defined limit of liability). Once they have paid in full for their shares, the owners
face no further risk of being asked to contribute to meeting any obligations of the busi-
ness. Hopefully, the business will prosper and the owners may be able to receive a
share of that prosperity in the form of a cash dividend. A cash dividend returns to the
owners, on a regular basis and in the form of cash, a part of the profit created by the
business.

If the company is very small, the owners may run the business themselves. If it is
larger, then they may prefer to pay someone else to run the business. In either case, the
persons running the business on a day-to-day basis are called the directors.

Because limited liability is a great privilege for the owners, the company must meet
regulations set out by Parliament in the form of a Companies Act. At present the
relevant law is the Companies Act 2006.

For accounting purposes the company is an entity with an existence separate from
the owners. In the very smallest companies the owners may not feel a great need for
accounting information, but in medium- or large-sized companies, accounting infor-
mation will be very important for the shareholders as it forms a report on how well
the directors have run the company. As with other forms of business accounting infor-
mation must be supplied to HM Revenue and Customs for tax-collecting purposes.
The list of other users will expand considerably because there will be a greater variety of
sources of finance, the company may be seeking to attract more investors, employees
will be concerned about the well-being of the business and even the customers and
suppliers may want to know more about the financial strength of the company.

Although the law provides the protection of limited liability, this has little practical
meaning for many small family-controlled companies because a bank lending money
to the business will ask for personal guarantees from the shareholder directors. Those
personal guarantees could involve a mortgage over the family home, or an interest in
life assurance policies. The potential consequences of such personal guarantees, when
a company fails, are such that the owners may suffer as much as the sole trader whose
business fails.

1.4.4 Limited liability partnership

A limited liability partnership (LLP) is a corporate body, which means it has a legal
personality separate from that of its members. It is formed by being incorporated
under the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 2000. Any new or existing partner-
ship firm of two or more persons can incorporate as an LLP. There is no limit on
the number of members. There must be at least two designated members who take
responsibility for compliance with statutory requirements. The minimum capital
requirement is only £2. An LLP structure may be used by any business seeking to
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make a profit. It has been used in particular by professional firms such as accountants,
solicitors and architects.

The LLP may be managed like a normal partnership. All members may participate
actively in the management of the business. However the LLP is responsible for the
debts of the business. The individual members do not have the unlimited liability that
they would have in a normal partnership. Taxation procedures are those that apply to
a partnership.

From an accounting perspective in the UK the disclosure requirements are similar
to those of a company. LLPs are required to provide financial information equivalent
to that of companies, including the filing of annual accounts with the Registrar of

Companies.

Comparing partnership and limited liability company

Table 1.1 summarises the differences between a partnership and a limited liability
company that are relevant for accounting purposes.

Table 1.2 identifies the differences between the public limited company and the
private limited company that are relevant for accounting purposes.

Table 1.1

Differences between a partnership and a limited liability company

Partnership

Limited liability company

Formation

Formed by two or more
persons, usually with written
agreement but not
necessarily in writing.

Formed by a number of persons
registering the company under the
Companies Act, following legal
formalities. In particular there must
be a written memorandum and
articles of association setting out
the powers allowed to the company.

Running the

All partners are entitled to

Shareholders must appoint

business share in the running of the directors to run the business
business. (although shareholders may appoint
themselves as directors).
Accounting Partnerships are not obliged Companies must make accounting
information to make accounting information available to the public
information available to the through the Registrar of
wider public. Companies.
Meeting All members of a general The personal liability of the owners
obligations partnership are jointly and is limited to the amount they have
severally liable for money agreed to pay for shares.
owed by the firm.
Powers to Partnerships may carry out The company may only carry out the
carry out any legal business activities activities set out in its memorandum
activities agreed by the partners. and articles of association.

Status in law

The partnership is not a
separate legal entity (under
English law), the partnership
property being owned by the
partners. (Under Scots law
the partnership is a separate
legal entity.)

The company is seen in law as a
separate person, distinct from its
members. This means that the
company can own property, make
contracts and take legal action or
be the subject of legal action.
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Brief comparison of private and public companies
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Public company

Private company

Running the

Minimum of two directors.

Minimum of one director.

business i
Must have a company secretary The sole director may also act
who holds a relevant qualification | as the company secretary and
(responsible for ensuring the is not required to have a formal
company complies with the qualification.
requirements of company law).
Ownership Shares may be offered to the Shares must not be offered to
public, inviting subscription. the public. May only be sold by
private arrangements.
Minimum share capital £50,000. No minimum share capital.
Accounting Extensive information required Less need for disclosure of
information on transactions between directors | transactions between directors

and the company.

and the company.

Information must be made public through the Registrar of Companies.

Provision of financial information to the public is determined by size
of company, more information being required of medium- and

large-sized companies.

Accounting information must be sent to all shareholders.

Look at the list of five organisations which you prepared before reading this section.

Did the list match what you have just read? If not, there are several possible explanations.
One is that you have written down organisations which are not covered by this book.

That would apply if you have written down ‘museum’, ‘town hall’ or ‘college’. These are
examples of public sector bodies that require specialised financial statements not covered
by this text. Another is that you did not discover the name of the business enterprise.
Perhaps you wrote down ‘Northern Hotel’ but did not find the name of the company
owning the hotel. If your list does not match the section, ask for help from your lecturer,
tutor or other expert in the subject so that you are satisfied that this book will continue to
meet your personal learning outcomes.

1.5 Users and their information needs

Who are the users of the information provided by these reporting entities? This sec-
tion shows that there is one group, namely the management of an organisation, whose
information needs are so specialised that a separate type of accounting has evolved
called management accounting. However, there are other groups, each of which may
believe it has a reasonable right to obtain information about an organisation, that do
not enjoy unrestricted access to the business and so have to rely on management to
supply suitable information. These groups include the owners, where the owners are
not also the managers, but extend further to employees, lenders, suppliers, customers,
government and its branches and the public interest. Those in the wider interest

groups are sometimes referred to as stakeholders.
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Definition

1.5.1

1.5.2

Stakeholder A general term to indicate all those who might have a legitimate interest in
receiving financial information about a business because they have a ‘stake’ in it.

Management

Many would argue that the foremost users of accounting information about an organ-
isation must be those who manage the business on a day-to-day basis. This group is
referred to in broad terms as management, which is a collective term for all those
persons who have responsibilities for making judgements and decisions within an
organisation. Because they have close involvement with the business, they have access
to a wide range of information (much of which may be confidential within the organ-
isation) and will seek those aspects of the information which are most relevant to their
particular judgements and decisions. Because this group of users is so broad, and
because of the vast amount of information potentially available, a specialist branch
of accounting has developed, called management accounting, to serve the particular
needs of management.

It is management’s responsibility to employ the resources of the business in an
efficient way and to meet the objectives of the business. The information needed by
management to carry out this responsibility ought to be of high quality and in an
understandable form so far as the management is concerned. If that is the case, it
would not be unreasonable to think that a similar quality (although not necessarily
quantity) of information should be made available more widely to those stakeholders
who do not have the access available to management.® Such an idea would be regarded
as somewhat revolutionary in nature by some of those who manage companies, but
more and more are beginning to realise that sharing information with investors and
other stakeholders adds to the general atmosphere of confidence in the enterprise.

Owners as investors

Where the owners are the managers, as is the case for a sole trader or a partnership,
they have no problem in gaining access to information and will select information
appropriate to their own needs. They may be asked to provide information for other
users, such as HM Revenue and Customs or a bank which has been approached to
provide finance, but that information will be designed to meet the needs of those
particular users rather than the owners.

Where the ownership is separate from the management of the business, as is the
case with a limited liability company, the owners are more appropriately viewed as
investors who entrust their money to the company and expect something in return,
usually a dividend and a growth in the value of their investment as the company pros-
pers. Providing money to fund a business is a risky act and investors are concerned
with the risk inherent in, and return provided by, their investments. They need
information to help them decide whether they should buy, hold or sell.” They are also
interested in information on the entity’s financial performance and financial position
that helps them to assess both its cash-generation abilities and how management dis-
charges its responsibilities."

Much of the investment in shares through the Stock Exchange in the UK is carried
out by institutional investors, such as pension funds, insurance companies, unit trusts
and investment trusts. The day-to-day business of buying and selling shares is carried
out by a fund manager employed by the institutional investor. Private investors are
in the minority as a group of investors in the UK. They will often take the advice of an
equities analyst who investigates and reports on share investment. The fund man-
agers and the equities analysts are also regarded as users of accounting information.
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The kinds of judgements and decisions made by investors could include any or all
of the following;:

(a) Evaluating the performance of the entity.

(b) Assessing the effectiveness of the entity in achieving objectives (including com-
pliance with stewardship obligations) established previously by its management,
its members or owners.

(c) Evaluating managerial performance, efficiency and objectives, including invest-
ment and dividend distribution plans.

(d) Ascertaining the experience and background of company directors and officials
including details of other directorships or official positions held.

(e) Ascertaining the economic stability and vulnerability of the reporting entity.

(f) Assessing the liquidity of the entity, its present or future requirements for ad-
ditional working capital, and its ability to raise long-term and short-term finance.

(g) Assessing the capacity of the entity to make future reallocations of its resources for
economic purposes.

(h) Estimating the future prospects of the entity, including its capacity to pay divi-
dends, and predicting future levels of investment.

(i) Making economic comparisons, either for the given entity over a period of time or
with other entities at one point in time.

(j) Estimating the value of present or prospective interests in or claims on the entity.

(k) Ascertaining the ownership and control of the entity."

That list was prepared in 1975 and, while it is a valid representation of the needs
of investors, carries an undertone which implies that the investors have to do quite
a lot of the work themselves in making estimates of the prospects of the entity.
Today there is a stronger view that the management of a business should share more
of its thinking and planning with the investors. The list may therefore be expanded by
suggesting that it would be helpful for investors (and all external users) to know:

(a) the entity’s actual performance for the most recent accounting period and how
this compares with its previous plan for that period;

(b) management’s explanations of any significant variances between the two; and

(c) management’s financial plan for the current and forward accounting periods, and
explanations of the major assumptions used in preparing it."”

If you look through some annual reports of major listed companies you will see that
this is more a ‘wish list’ than a statement of current practice, but it is indicative of the
need for a more progressive approach. In the annual reports of large companies you
will find a section called the Operating and Financial Review (or Business Review).
This is where the more progressive companies will include forward-looking state-
ments which stop short of making a forecast but give help in understanding which of
the trends observed in the past are likely to continue into the future.

1.5.3 Lenders

Lenders are interested in information that enables them to determine whether their
loans, and the related interest, will be paid when due.®

Loan creditors provide finance on a longer-term basis. They will wish to assess the
economic stability and vulnerability of the borrower. They are particularly concerned
with the risk of default and its consequences. They may impose conditions (called
loan covenants) which require the business to keep its overall borrowing within
acceptable limits. The financial statements may provide evidence that the loan covenant
conditions are being met.

Some lenders will ask for special reports as well as the general financial statements.
Banks in particular will ask for cash flow projections showing how the business plans
to repay, with interest, the money borrowed.
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1.5.4

1.5.5

1.5.6

Suppliers and other trade creditors

Suppliers of goods and services (also called trade creditors) are interested in infor-
mation that enables them to decide whether to sell to the entity and to determine
whether amounts owing to them will be paid when due. The IASB mentions ‘other
lenders’ as users of financial statements."* Suppliers (trade creditors) are likely to be
interested in an entity over a shorter period than lenders unless they are dependent
upon the continuation of the entity as a major customer. The amount due to be paid to
the supplier is called a trade payable or an account payable.

Trade creditors supply goods and services to an entity and have very little protec-
tion if the entity fails because there are insufficient assets to meet all liabilities. They
are usually classed as unsecured creditors, which means they are a long way down
the queue for payment. So they have to exercise caution in finding out whether the
business is able to pay and how much risk of non-payment exists. This information
need not necessarily come from accounting statements; it could be obtained by read-
ing the local press and trade journals, joining the Chamber of Trade, and generally
listening in to the stories and gossip circulating in the geographic area or the industry.
However, the financial statements of an entity may confirm the stories gained from
other sources.

In recent years there has been a move for companies to work more closely with their
suppliers and to establish ‘partnership’ arrangements where the operational and
financial plans of both may be dovetailed by specifying the amount and the timing of
goods and services required. Such arrangements depend heavily on confidence, which
in turn may be derived partly from the strength of financial statements.

Employees

Employees and their representatives are interested in information about the stability
and profitability of their employers. They are also interested in information that
helps them to assess the ability of the entity to provide remuneration, retirement
benefits and employment opportunities. Employees continue to be interested in
their employer after they have retired from work because in many cases the employer
provides a pension fund.

The matters which are likely to be of interest to past, present and prospective em-
ployees include: the ability of the employer to meet wage agreements; management’s
intentions regarding employment levels, locations and working conditions; the pay,
conditions and terms of employment of various groups of employees; job security;
and the contribution made by employees in other divisions of the organisation. Much
of this is quite specialised and detailed information. It may be preferable to supply
this to employees by means of special purpose reports on a frequent basis rather than
waiting for the annual report, which is slow to arrive and more general in nature.
However, employees may look to financial statements to confirm information pro-
vided previously in other forms. The IASB regards employees as persons who might
find the general purpose financial statements useful. However, the IASB says that such
financial statements are not primarily directed to these groups."

Customers

Customers have an interest in information about the continuance of an entity, es-
pecially when they have a long-term involvement with, or are dependent upon, its pros-
perity. In particular, customers need information concerning the current and future
supply of goods and services offered, price and other product details, and conditions
of sale. Much of this information may be obtained from sales literature or from sales
staff of the enterprise, or from trade and consumer journals.



Chapter 1 Who needs accounting?

The financial statements provide useful confirmation of the reliability of the enter-
prise itself as a continuing source of supply, especially when the customer is making
payments in advance. They also confirm the capacity of the entity in terms of non-
current assets (also called fixed assets) and working capital and give some indication
of the strength of the entity to meet any obligations under guarantees or warranties.

1.5.7 Governments and their agencies

Governments and their agencies are interested in the allocation of resources and,
therefore, in the activities of entities. They also require information in order to regu-
late the activities of entities, assess taxation and provide a basis for national income
and economic statistics.

Acting on behalf of the UK government’s Treasury Department, HM Revenue and
Customs collects taxes from businesses based on profit calculated according to com-
mercial accounting practices (although there are some specific rules in the taxation
legislation which modify the normal accounting practices). HM Revenue and Customs
has the power to demand more information than appears in published financial state-
ments, but will take these as a starting point.

Other agencies include the regulators of the various utility companies. Examples
are Ofcom'® (the Office of Communications) and Ofgem" (the Office of Gas and Elec-
tricity Markets). They use accounting information as part of the package by which
they monitor the prices charged by these organisations to consumers of their services.
They also demand additional information designed especially to meet their needs.

1.5.8 Public interest

Enterprises affect members of the public in a variety of ways. For example, enterprises
may make a substantial contribution to the local economy by providing employment
and using local suppliers. Financial statements may assist the public by providing
information about the trends and recent developments in the prosperity of the entity
and the range of its activities.

A strong element of public interest has been aroused in recent years by environ-
mental issues and the impact of companies on the environment. There are costs
imposed on others when a company pollutes a river or discharges harmful gases into
the air. It may be perceived that a company is cutting corners to prune its own
reported costs at the expense of other people. Furthermore, there are activities of
companies today which will impose costs in the future. Where an oil company has
installed a drilling rig in the North Sea, it will be expected one day to remove and
destroy the rig safely. There is a question as to whether the company will be able
to meet that cost. These costs and future liabilities may be difficult to identify and
quantify, but that does not mean that companies should not attempt to do so. More
companies are now including descriptions of environmental policy in their annual
reports, but regular accounting procedures for including environmental costs and
obligations in the financial statements have not yet been developed.

Activity 1.7 Look back to the list of users of financial statements which you prepared earlier in this
chapter. How closely does your list compare with the users described in this section?
Did you have any in your list which are not included here? Have you used names which
differ from those used in the chapter? Are there users in the chapter which are not in
your list? If your list does not match the section, ask for help from your lecturer, tutor or
other expert in the subject so that you are satisfied that this book will continue to meet
your personal learning outcomes.
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1.6
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General purpose or specific purpose financial
statements?

Some experts who have analysed the needs of users in the manner set out in the
previous section have come to the conclusion that no single set of general purpose
financial statements could meet all these needs. It has been explained in the previous
section that some users already turn to special reports to meet specific needs. Other
experts hold that there could be a form of general purpose financial statements which
would meet all the needs of some user groups and some of the needs of others.

This book is written on the assumption that it is possible to prepare a set of general
purpose financial statements which will have some interest for all users. The existence
of such reports is particularly important for those who cannot prescribe the infor-
mation they would like to receive from an organisation. That is perhaps because they
have no bargaining power, or because they are many in number but not significant in
economic influence.

Preparers of general purpose financial statements tend to regard the owners and
long-term lenders as the primary users of the information provided. There is an expec-
tation or hope that the interests of these groups will overlap to some extent with the
interests of a wider user group and that any improvements in financial statements will
be sufficient that fewer needs will be left unmet."®

The primary focus of the Conceptual Framework is on general purpose financial state-
ments." It takes the view that many users have to rely on the financial statements as
their major source of financial information. Financial statements should be prepared
with their needs in mind. The Conceptual Framework assumes that if financial state-
ments meet the needs of investors, they will also meet the needs of most other users.”’

Stewards and agents

In an earlier section, the needs of investors as users were listed and the word ‘steward-
ship” appeared. In the days before an industrial society existed, stewards were the
people who looked after the manor house and lands while the lord of the manor
enjoyed the profits earned. Traditionally, accounting has been regarded as having a
particular role to play in confirming that those who manage a business on behalf of the
owner take good care of the resources entrusted to them and earn a satisfactory profit
for the owner by using those resources.

As the idea of a wider range of users emerged, this idea of the ‘stewardship” objec-
tive of accounting was mentioned less often (although its influence remains strong
in legislation governing accounting practice). In the academic literature it has been
reborn under a new heading — that of agency. Theories have been developed about
the relationship between the owner, as ‘principal’, and the manager, as ‘agent’. A con-
scientious manager, acting as an agent, will carry out their duties in the best interest
of the owners, and is required by the law of agency to do so. However, not all agents
will be perfect in carrying out this role and some principals will not trust the agent
entirely. The principal will incur costs in monitoring (enquiring into) the activities of
the agent and may lose some wealth if the interests of the agent and the interests of
the principal diverge. The view taken in agency theory is that there is an inherent
conflict between the two parties and so they spend time agreeing contracts which
will minimise that conflict. The contracts will include arrangements for the agent to
supply information on a regular basis to the principal.

While the study of agency theory in all its aspects could occupy a book in itself, the
idea of conflicts and the need for compromise in dealing with pressures of demand for,
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and supply of, accounting information may be helpful in later chapters in under-
standing why it takes so long to find answers to some accounting issues.

Who needs financial statements?

In order to keep the flavour of debate on accounting issues running through this
text, two people will give their comments from time to time. The first of these is
David Wilson, a fund manager of seven years’ experience working for an insurance
company. He manages a UK equity portfolio (a collection of company shares) and part
of his work requires him to be an equities analyst. At university he took a degree in
history and has subsequently passed examinations to qualify as a chartered financial
analyst (CFA).”!

The second is Leona Rees, an audit manager with a major accountancy firm. She has
five years’ experience as a qualified accountant and had previously spent three years
in training with the same firm. Her university degree is in accounting and economics
and she has passed the examinations to qualify for membership of one of the major
accountancy bodies.

David and Leona had been at school together but then went to different univer-
sities. More recently they have met again at workout sessions at a health club, relaxing
afterwards at a nearby bar. David is very enthusiastic about his work, which demands
long hours and a flexible attitude. He has absorbed a little of the general scepticism
of audit which is expressed by some of his fund manager colleagues.

Leona’s main role at present is in company audit and she is now sufficiently experi-
enced to be working on the audit of one listed company as well as several private
companies of varying size. For two years she worked in the corporate recovery depart-
ment of the accountancy firm, preparing information to help companies find sources
of finance to overcome difficult times. She feels that a great deal of accounting
work is carried out behind the scenes and the careful procedures are not always
appreciated by those who concentrate only on the relatively few well-publicised
problems.

We join them in the bar at the end of a hectic working week.

DAVID: This week I've made three visits to companies, attended four presentations of
preliminary announcements of results, received copies of the projector slides used for five
others that | couldn’t attend, and collected around 20 annual reports. | have a small mound
of brokers’ reports, all of which say much the same thing but in different ways. I've had to
read all those while preparing my monthly report to the head of Equities Section on the
performance of my fund and setting out my strategy for three months ahead consistent
with in-house policy. | think I’'m suffering from information overload and | have reservations
about the reliability of any single item of information | receive about a company.

LEONA: If | had to give scores for reliability to the information crossing your desk, | would
give top marks to the 20 annual reports. They have been through a very rigorous process
and they have been audited by reputable audit firms using established standards of
auditing practice.

DAVID: That’s all very well, but it takes so long for annual reports to arrive after the financial
year-end that they don’t contain any new information. | need to get information at the first
available opportunity if I'm to keep up the value of the share portfolio | manage. The meet-
ings that present the preliminary announcements are held less than two months after the
accounting year-end. It can take another six weeks before the printed annual report appears.
If | don’t manage to get to the meeting | take a careful look at what the company sends me
in the way of copies of projector slides used.
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Activity 1.8

1.9

LEONA: Where does accounting information fit in with the picture you want of a company?

DAVID: It has some importance, but accounting information is backward-looking and
I invest in the future. We visit every company in the portfolio once a year and I’m looking
for a confident management team, a cheerful-looking workforce and a general feeling that
things are moving ahead. I'll also ask questions about prospects: how is the order book;
which overseas markets are expanding; have prices been increased to match the increase
in raw materials?

LEONA: /sn’t that close to gaining insider information?

DAVID: No - | see it as clarification of information which is already published. Companies
are very careful not to give an advantage to one investor over another — they would be in
trouble with the Stock Exchange and perhaps with the Financial Services Authority if they
did give price-sensitive information. There are times of the year (running up to the year-end
and to the half-yearly results) when they declare a ‘close season’ and won’t even speak to
an investor.

LEONA: So are you telling me that | spend vast amounts of time auditing financial state-
ments which no one bothers to read?

DAVID: Some people would say that, but | wouldn't. It’s fairly clear that share prices are
unmoved by the issue of the annual report, probably because investors already have that
information from the preliminary announcement. Nevertheless, we like to know that there
is a regulated document behind the information we receive — it allows us to check that
we’re not being led astray. Also | find the annual report very useful when | want to find out
about a company | don’t know. For the companies | understand well, the annual report tells
me little that | don’t already know.

LEONA: /'ll take that as a very small vote of confidence for now. If your offer to help me
redecorate the flat still stands, | might try to persuade you over a few cans of emulsion that
you rely on audited accounts more than you realise.

As a final activity for this chapter, go back to the start of the chapter and make a note
of every word you have encountered for the first time. Look at the glossary at the end of
the book for the definition of each technical word. If the word is not in the glossary it is
probably in sufficiently general use to be found in a standard dictionary.

Summary

This chapter has explained that accounting is intended to provide information that is
useful to a wide range of interested parties (stakeholders).
Key points are:

@ Accounting is the process of identifying, measuring and communicating financial
information about an entity to permit informed judgements and decisions by users
of the information.

e A conceptual framework for accounting is a statement of principles which provides
generally accepted guidance for the development of new reporting practices and
for challenging and evaluating the existing practices.

® The Conceptual Framework of the IASB provides broad principles that guide account-
ing practice in many countries.
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o The Statement of Principles of the UK ASB has many similarities to the IASB’s
Conceptual Framework.

e Since January 2005, all listed companies in member states of the EU have been
required by an accounting regulation to use a system of international financial
reporting standards (IFRS) set by the IASB.

® Business entities in the UK are either sole traders, partnerships or limited liability
companies.

® Users of accounting information include management, owners, employees, lenders,
suppliers, customers, governments and their agencies and the public interest.

o Stakeholders are all those who might have a legitimate interest in receiving finan-
cial information about a business because they have a ‘stake” in it.

@ General purpose financial statements aim to meet the needs of a wide range of users.

@ The relationship between the owner, as ‘principal’, and the manager, as ‘agent’ is
described in the theory of agency relationships. Accounting information helps to
reduce the potential conflicts of interest between principal and agent.

Further reading

IASB (2010), The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, International Accounting
Standards Board.

ICAEW (2009), Developments in new reporting models. Information for better markets initiat-
ive. The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. www.icaew.co.uk.

The Questions section of each chapter has three types of question. ‘Test your understanding’
questions to help you review your reading are in the ‘A’ series of questions. You will find the
answers to these by reading and thinking about the material in the book. ‘Application’ questions
to test your ability to apply technical skills are in the ‘B’ series of questions. Questions requiring
you to show skills in problem solving and evaluation are in the ‘C’ series of questions. A letter
[S] indicates that there is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding

A1.1 Define ‘accounting’ and identify the separate questions raised by the definition. (Sec-
tion 1.1)

A1.2 The following technical terms appear for the first time in this chapter. Check that you
know the meaning of each. (If you can’t find them again in the text, there is a glossary
at the end of the book.)

® accountancy firm ® capital

® accountancy profession ® cash flow projections
@ accounting ® Companies Act

® agency ® conceptual framework
® agency theory ® creditors

® annual report ® default

® articles of association ® directors

® audit manager @ dividend

® business entity ® entity
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equities analyst

external reporting

financial accounting
financial information
financial reporting standards
financial statements

fixed assets

fund manager

general purpose financial statements
HM Revenue and Customs
institutional investors

non-current assets
partnership
partnership deed
partnership law
portfolio

private listed company
public listed company
Registrar of Companies
return

risk

share capital

internal reporting shareholders

investors shares

joint and several liability sole trader

limited liability specific purpose financial statements
limited liability company stakeholders

liquidity stewardship

listed companies
loan covenants

stock exchange
unlisted companies

management unsecured creditors
management accounting working capital
memorandum

E Application

B1.1

Brian and Jane are planning to work in partnership as software consultants. Write a note
(100200 words) to explain their responsibilities for running the business and producing
accounting information about the financial position and performance of the business.

B1.2

Jennifer has inherited some shares in a public company which has a share listing on the Stock
Exchange. She has asked you to explain how she can find out more about the financial position
and performance of the company. Write a note (100200 words) answering her question.

B1.3

Martin is planning to buy shares in the company that employs him. He knows that the directors
of the company are his employers but he wonders what relationship exists between the directors
and the shareholders of the company. Write a note (100-200 words) answering his question.

Problem solving and evaluation

C1.1

The following extracts are typical of the annual reports of large listed companies. Which of these
extracts satisfy the definition of ‘accounting’? What are the user needs that are most closely
met by each extract?

(@) Suggestions for improvements were made by many employees, alone or in teams. Annual
savings which have been achieved total £15m. The best suggestion for improvement will
save around £0.3m per year for the next five years.

(b) As of 31 December, 3,000 young people were learning a trade or profession with the com-
pany. This represents a studentship rate of 3.9%. During the reporting period we hired 1,300
young people into training places. This is more than we need to satisfy our employment
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needs in the longer term and so we are contributing to improvement of the quality of labour
supplied to the market generally.

(c) During the year to 31 December our turnover (sales) grew to £4,000 million compared to
£2,800 million last year. Our new subsidiary contributed £1,000 million to this increase.

(d) It is our target to pay our suppliers within 30 days. During the year we achieved an average
payment period of 33 days.

(e) The treasury focus during the year was on further refinancing of the group’s borrowings to
minimise interest payments and reduce risk.

(f) Our plants have emission rates that are 70% below the national average for sulphur dioxide
and 20% below the average for oxides of nitrogen. We will tighten emissions significantly
over the next ten years.

C1.2

Explain how you would class each of the following — as a sole trader, partnership or limited
company. List any further questions you might ask for clarification about the nature of the
business.

(@) Miss Jones works as an interior decorating adviser under the business name ‘U-decide’.
She rents an office and employs an administrative assistant to answer the phone, keep files
and make appointments.

(b) George and Jim work together as painters and decorators under the business name
‘Painting Partners Ltd’. They started the business ten years ago and work from a rented
business unit on a trading estate.

(c) Jenny and Chris own a hotel jointly. They operate under the business name ‘Antler Hotel
Company’ and both participate in the running of the business. They have agreed to share
profits equally.

Activities for study groups ( or 5 per group)

Obtain the annual report of a listed company. Each member of the group should choose a dif-
ferent company. Most large companies will provide a copy of the annual report at no charge in
response to a polite request — or you may know someone who is a shareholder and receives
a copy automatically. Many companies have websites with a section for ‘Investor Relations’
where you will find a document file containing the annual report.

1 Look at the contents page. What information does the company provide?

2 Find the financial highlights page. What are the items of accounting information which the
company wants you to note? Which users might be interested in this highlighted information,
and why?

Is there any information in the annual report which would be of interest to employees?
Is there any information in the annual report which would be of interest to customers?

Is there any information in the annual report which would be of interest to suppliers?

o a0 A~

Find the auditors’ report. To whom is it addressed? What does that tell you about the
intended readership of the annual report?

7 Note the pages to which the auditors’ report refers. These are the pages which are regulated
by company law, accounting standards and Stock Exchange rules. Compare these pages with
the other pages (those which are not regulated). Which do you find more interesting? Why?

8 Each member of the group should now make a five-minute presentation evaluating the
usefulness of the annual report examined. When the presentations are complete the group
should decide on five criteria for judging the reports and produce a score for each. Does the
final score match the initial impressions of the person reviewing it?

9 Finally, as a group, write a short note of guidance on what makes an annual report useful to
the reader.
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Supplement to Chapter 1

Introduction to the terminology of
business transactions

The following description explains the business terminology which will be encountered fre-
quently in describing transactions in this textbook. The relevant words are highlighted in bold
lettering. These technical accounting terms are explained in the Financial accounting terms
defined section at the end of the book.

Most businesses are established with the intention of earning a profit. Some do so by
selling goods at a price greater than that paid to buy or manufacture the goods. Others
make a profit by providing a service and charging a price greater than the cost to them
of providing the service. By selling the goods or services the business is said to earn
sales revenue.

Profit arising from transactions relating to the operation of the business is measured
by deducting from sales revenue the expenses of earning that revenue.

Revenue from sales (often abbreviated to ‘sales” and sometimes referred to as ‘turn-
over’) means the value of all goods or services provided to customers, whether for
cash or for credit. In a cash sale the customer pays immediately on receipt of goods or
services. In a credit sale the customer takes the goods or service and agrees to pay at a
future date. By agreeing to pay in the future the customer becomes a debtor of the
business. The amount due to be collected from the debtor is called a trade receivable
or an account receivable. The business will send a document called a sales invoice to
the credit customer, stating the goods or services provided by the business, the price
charged for these and the amount owing to the business.

Eventually the credit customer will pay cash to settle the amount shown on the
invoice. If they pay promptly the business may allow a deduction of discount for
prompt payment. This deduction is called discount allowed by the business. As an
example, if the customer owes £100 but is allowed a 5% discount by the business,
he will pay £95. The business will record cash received of £95 and discount allowed
of £5.

The business itself must buy goods in order to manufacture a product or provide a
service. When the business buys goods it purchases them and holds them as an inven-
tory of goods (also described as a ‘stock” of goods) until they are used or sold. The goods
will be purchased from a supplier, either for cash or for credit. In a credit purchase
the business takes the goods and agrees to pay at a future date. By allowing the busi-
ness time to pay, the supplier becomes a creditor of the business. The name creditor
is given to anyone who is owed money by the business. The amount due to be paid to
a creditor is called a trade payable or an account payable. The business will receive a
purchase invoice from the supplier describing the goods supplied, stating the price
of the goods and showing the amount owed by the business.

Eventually the business will pay cash to settle the amount shown on the purchase
invoice. If the business pays promptly the supplier may permit the business to deduct
a discount for prompt payment. This is called discount received by the business. As an
example, if the business owes an amount of £200 as a trade payable but is permitted
a 10% discount by the supplier, the business will pay £180 and record the remaining
£20 as discount received from the supplier.
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The purchase price of goods sold is one of the expenses of the business, to be
deducted from sales revenue in calculating profit. Other expenses might include wages,
salaries, rent, rates, insurance and cleaning. In each case there will be a document
providing evidence of the expense, such as a wages or salaries slip, a landlord’s bill for
rent, a local authority’s demand for rates, an insurance renewal note or a cleaner’s time
sheet. There will also be a record of the cash paid in each case.

Sometimes an expense is incurred but is not paid for until some time later. For
example, electricity is consumed during a quarter but the electricity bill does not
arrive until after the end of the quarter. An employee may have worked for a week
but not yet have received a cash payment for that work. The unpaid expense of the
business is called an accrued expense and must be recorded as part of the accounting
information relevant to the period of time in which the expense was incurred.

On other occasions an expense may be paid for in advance of being used by the
business. For example, a fire insurance premium covering the business premises is
paid annually in advance. Such expenditure of cash will benefit a future time period
and must be excluded from any profit calculation until that time. In the meantime it is
recorded as a prepaid expense or a prepayment.

Dissatisfaction may be expressed by a customer with the quantity or quality of
goods or service provided. If the business accepts that the complaint is justified it may
replace goods or give a cash refund. If the customer is a credit customer who has not
yet paid, then a cash refund is clearly inappropriate. Instead the customer would be
sent a credit note for sales returned, cancelling the customer’s debt to the business for
the amount in dispute. The credit note would record the quantity of goods or type of
service and the amount of the cancelled debt.

In a similar way the business would expect to receive a credit note from a supplier
for purchases returned where goods have been bought on credit terms and later
returned to the supplier because of some defect.

B Test your understanding

S1.1  The following technical terms appear in this supplement. Check that you know the
meaning of each.

® Profit ® Creditor
® Sales revenue ® Trade payable
® Cash sale ® Discount received
® Credit sale ® Expense
® Debtor ® Accrued expense
® Trade receivable ® Prepaid expense
® Discount allowed @ Credit note for sales returned
® Purchases ® Credit note for purchases returned
® Credit purchase ® Account receivable
@ Inventory ® Sales invoice
)

Account payable



A systematic approach to financial reporting:
the accounting equation

REAL WORLD CASE

BT Group plc
Summary group balance sheet
Year ended 31 March

2012 2011
£m £m
Property, plant and equipment 14,388 14,623
Other non-current assets 5,029 4,986
Current assets 4,531 3,931 ®
Current liabilities (9,255) (7,031) §
(]
©
14,693 16,509 <
£
Non-current liabilities 13,385 14,558 8
Parent shareholders’ equity 1,297 1,925 §
Non-controlling interests 11 26 1
[0
14,603 16,509 2

Who we are and what we do

@ We are one of the world’s leading communications services companies

We are the leading provider of consumer voice and broadband services in the UK

We are Europe’s largest telecoms services wholesaler by revenue

We provide networked IT services for some of the largest companies in the world

In the UK we are delivering one of the fastest privately funded roll-outs of fibre broadband in the world

Every day we touch the lives of millions of people, helping them communicate, do business and be
entertained and informed

Source: http://www.btplc.com/Sharesandperformance/Annualreportandreview/pdf/BT_SFS_NOM_2012.pdf, BT Group plc, pp. 4, 9,
with permission of British Telecommunications plc.

Discussion points
1 How does the summary statement of financial position (balance sheet) reflect the accounting equation?

2 To what extent is the statement of financial position reflected in ‘Who we are and what we do’?
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After studying this chapter you should be able to:
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Explain how the recognition of ownership interest depends on the recognition of

assets and liabilities.

@ Explain how users of financial statements can gain assurance about assets and

liabilities.

Additionally, for those who choose to study the supplement:
@ Explain how the rules of debit and credit recording are derived from the

accounting equation.

Use the accounting equation to show the effect of changes in the ownership interest.
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I. 2.1 Introduction

Chapter 1 considered the needs of a range of users of financial information and sum-
marised by suggesting that they would all have an interest in the resources available
to the business and the obligations of the business to those outside it. Many of these
users will also want to be reassured that the business has an adequate flow of cash to
support its continuation. The owners of the business have a claim to the resources of
the business after all other obligations have been satisfied. This is called the ownership
interest or the equity interest. They will be particularly interested in how that owner-
ship interest grows from one year to the next and whether the resources of the
business are being applied to the best advantage.

Accounting has traditionally applied the term assets to the resources available to
the business and has applied the term liabilities to the obligations of the business to
persons other than the owner. Assets and liabilities are reported in a financial state-
ment called a statement of financial position (also called a balance sheet). The state-
ment of the financial position of the entity represents a particular point in time. It may
be described by a very simple equation.

- 2.2 The accounting equation

The accounting equation as a statement of financial position may be expressed as:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest

The ownership interest is the residual claim after liabilities to third parties have
been satisfied. The equation expressed in this form emphasises that residual aspect.

Another way of thinking about an equation is to imagine a balance with a bucket
on each end. In one bucket are the assets (A) minus liabilities (L). In the other is the

ownership interest (OI).
A-L Ol

If anything happens to disturb the assets then the balance will tip unevenly unless
some matching disturbance is applied to the ownership interest. If anything happens
to disturb the liabilities then the balance will tip unevenly unless some matching
disturbance is applied to the ownership interest. If a disturbance applied to an asset
is applied equally to a liability, then the balance will remain level.

2.2.1 Form of the equation: international preferences

If you have studied simple equations in a maths course you will be aware that there
are other ways of expressing this equation. Those other ways cannot change the magni-
tudes of each item in the equation but can reflect a different emphasis being placed on
the various constituents. The form of the equation used in this chapter is the sequence
which has, for many years, been applied in most statements of financial position (balance
sheets) reported to external users of accounting information in the UK. The statements
of financial position that have been reported to external users in some Continental Euro-
pean countries and in the USA are better represented by another form of the equation:
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2.3.1

Assets equals Liabilities plus Ownership interest

The ‘balance” analogy remains applicable here but the contents of the buckets have

been rearranged.
A L + Ol

A disturbance on one side of the balance will require a corresponding disturbance
on the other side if the balance is to be maintained.

Flexibility

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has developed a set of account-
ing standards which together create an accounting system which in this book is
described as the IASB system. The IASB offers no indication as to which of the above
forms of the accounting equation is preferred. That is because of the different tra-
ditions in different countries. Consequently, for companies reporting under the IASB
system, the form of the equation used in any particular situation is a matter of prefer-
ence related to the choice of presentation of the statement of financial position (balance
sheet). That is a communication issue which will be discussed later. This chapter will
concentrate on the nature of the various elements of the equation, namely assets,
liabilities and ownership interest. You should be prepared to find different variations
of the accounting equation in different companies’ financial statements.

Make a simple balance from a ruler balanced on a pencil and put coins on each side.
Satisfy yourself that the ruler only remains in balance if any action on one side of the
balance is matched by an equivalent action on the other side of the balance. Note also
that rearranging the coins on one side will not disturb the balance. Some aspects of
accounting are concerned with taking actions on each side of the balance. Other
aspects are concerned with rearranging one side of the balance.

Defining assets

An asset is defined as: ‘a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from
which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity’.!
To understand this definition fully, each phrase must be considered separately.

Controlled by the entity

Control means the ability to obtain the economic benefits and to restrict the access
of others. The items which everyone enjoys, such as the benefit of a good motorway
giving access to the business or the presence of a highly skilled workforce in a nearby
town, provide benefits to the business which are not reported in financial statements
because there would be considerable problems in identifying the entity’s share of the
benefits. If there is no control, the item is omitted.

The condition of control is also included to prevent businesses from leaving out
of the statement of financial position (balance sheet) some items which ought to be
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in there. In past years, practices emerged of omitting an asset and a corresponding
liability from a statement of financial position on the grounds that there was no effec-
tive obligation remaining in respect of the liability. At the same time, the business
carefully retained effective control of the asset by suitable legal agreements. This prac-
tice of omitting items from the statement of financial position was felt to be unhelpful
to users because it was concealing some of the resources used by the business and
concealing the related obligations.

The strongest form of control over an asset is the right of ownership. Sometimes,
however, the entity does not have ownership but does have the right to use an item.
This right may be very similar to the right of ownership. So far as the user of account-
ing information is concerned, what really matters is the availability of the item to the
entity and how well the item is being used to earn profits for the business. Forms of
control may include an agreement to lease or rent a resource, and a licence allowing
exclusive use of a resource.

2.3.2 Past events

Accounting depends on finding some reasonably objective way of confirming that the
entity has gained control of the resource. The evidence provided by a past transaction
is an objective starting point. A transaction is an agreement between two parties which
usually involves exchanging goods or services for cash or a promise to pay cash. (The
supplement to Chapter 1 explains basic business transactions in more detail.) Some-
times there is no transaction but there is an event which is sufficient to give this objec-
tive evidence. The event could be the performance of a service which, once completed,
gives the right to demand payment.

2.3.3 Future economic benefits

Most businesses use resources in the expectation that they will eventually generate
cash. Some resources generate cash more quickly than others. If the business manu-
factures goods in order to sell them to customers, those goods carry a future economic
benefit in terms of the expectation of sale. That benefit comes to the entity relatively
quickly. The business may own a warehouse in which it stores the goods before they
are sold. There is a future economic benefit associated with the warehouse because it
helps create the cash flow from sale of the goods (by keeping them safe from damage
and theft) and also because at some time in the future the warehouse could itself be
sold for cash.

The example of the warehouse is relatively easy to understand, but in other cases
there may be some uncertainty about the amount of the future economic benefit. When
goods are sold to a customer who is allowed time to pay, the customer becomes a
debtor of the business (a person who owes money to the business) and the amount of
the trade receivable is regarded as an asset. There may be some uncertainty as to
whether the customer will eventually pay for the goods. That uncertainty does not
prevent the trade receivable being regarded as an asset but may require some caution
as to how the asset is measured in money terms.

Activity 2.2 Write down five items in your personal possession which you regard as assets. Use the
definition given in this section to explain why each item is an asset from your point of
view. Then read the next section and compare your list with the examples of business
assets. If you are having difficulty in understanding why any item is, or is not, an asset you
should consult your lecturer, tutor or other expert in the subject area for a discussion on
how to apply the definition in identifying assets.
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2.4 Examples of assets

The following items are commonly found in the assets section of the statement of
financial position (balance sheet) of a company:

land and buildings (property) owned by the company

buildings leased by the company on a 50-year lease

plant and equipment owned by the company

equipment leased (rented) by the company under a finance lease
vehicles

raw materials

goods for resale

finished goods

work in progress

trade receivables (amounts due from customers who have promised to pay for
goods sold on credit)

prepaid insurance and rentals

investments in shares of other companies

cash held in a bank account.

Do all these items meet the definition of an asset? Tables 2.1 and 2.2 test each item
against the aspects of the definition which have already been discussed. Two tables
have been used because it is conventional practice to separate assets into current
assets and non-current assets. Current assets are held with the intention of convert-
ing them into cash within the business cycle. Non-current assets, also called fixed
assets, are held for continuing use in the business. The business cycle is the period
(usually 12 months) during which the peaks and troughs of activity of a business form

Table 2.1

Analysis of some frequently occurring non-current assets (fixed assets)

Controlled by the
entity by means of

Past event

Future economic
benefits

company on a
50-year lease

tenant.

terms.

Land and Ownership. Signing the contract as | Used in continuing
buildings evidence of purchase operations of the
owned by the of land and buildings. business; potential
company for sale of the item.
Buildings leased | Contract for Signing a lease Used in continuing
(rented) by the exclusive use as a | agreeing the rental operations of the

business.

Plant and
equipment
owned by the
company

Ownership.

Purchase of plant and
equipment, evidenced
by receiving the goods

and a supplier’s invoice.

Used in continuing
operations of the
business.

Equipment used
under a finance
lease

Contract for
exclusive use.

Signing lease agreeing
rental terms.

Used in continuing
operations of the
business.

Vehicles owned
by the company

Ownership.

Purchase of vehicles,
evidenced by taking
delivery and receiving
a supplier’s invoice.

Used in continuing
operations of the
business.
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Table 2.2

Analysis of some frequently occurring current assets

Controlled by the
entity by means of

Past event

Future economic
benefits

(amounts due
from customers)

Raw materials Ownership. Receiving raw materials | Used to
into the company’s manufacture
store, evidenced by goods for sale.
goods received note.
Goods Ownership. Receiving goods from Expectation of sale.
purchased supplier into the
from supplier company’s store,
for resale evidenced by the
goods received note.
Finished goods | Ownership. Transfer from Expectation of sale.
(manufactured production line to
by the entity) finished goods store,
evidenced by internal
transfer form.
Work in Ownership. Evaluation of the state | Expectation of
progress of completion of the completion and
(partly finished work, evidenced by sale.
goods) work records.
Trade Contract for Delivery of goods to Expectation that
receivables payment. the customer, obliging | the customer will

customer to pay for
goods at a future date.

pay cash.

Prepaid
insurance
premiums

Contract for
continuing benefit
of insurance cover.

Paying insurance
premiums in advance,
evidenced by cheque
payment.

Expectation
of continuing
insurance cover.

bank account

Investments in Ownership. Buying the shares, Expectation of

shares of other evidenced by broker’s | dividend income

companies contract note. and growth in value
of investment, for
future sale.

Cash held in a Ownership. Depositing cash with Expectation of

the bank, evidenced
by bank statement or
certificate.

using the cash to
buy resources
which will create
further cash.

a pattern which is repeated on a regular basis. For a business selling swimwear,
production will take place all winter in preparation for a rush of sales in the summer.
Painters and decorators work indoors in the winter and carry out exterior work in the
summer. Because many businesses are affected by the seasons of the year, the business
cycle is normally 12 months. Some of the answers are fairly obvious but a few require
a little further comment here.

First, there are the items of buildings and equipment which are rented under a lease
agreement. The benefits of such leases are felt to be so similar to the benefits of owner-
ship that the items are included in the statement of financial position (balance sheet)
as assets. Suitable wording is used to describe the different nature of these items so
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that users, particularly creditors, are not misled into believing that the items belong to
the business.

Second, it is useful to note at this stage that partly finished items of output may be
recorded as assets. The term ‘work in progress’ is used to describe work of the busi-
ness which is not yet completed. Examples of such work in progress might be: partly
finished items in a manufacturing company; a partly completed motorway being built
by a construction company; or a continuing legal case being undertaken by a firm
of lawyers. Such items are included as assets because there has been an event in the
partial completion of the work and there is an expectation of completion and eventual
payment by a customer for the finished item.

Finally, it is clear that the relative future economic benefits of these assets have a
wide variation in potential risk. This risk is a matter of great interest to those who use
accounting information, but there are generally no accounting techniques for reporting
this risk directly in financial statements. Consequently, it is very important to have
adequate descriptions of assets. Accounting information is concerned with the words
used to describe items in financial statements, as well as the numbers attributed to them.
(The narrative description of business risks is explained in Chapter 14, Section 14.10.)

An asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from which
future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.?

A current asset is an asset that satisfies any of the following criteria:

(@) it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the entity’s
normal operating cycle;

(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

(c) it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period;

(d) it is cash or a cash equivalent.®

A non-current asset is any asset that does not meet the definition of a current asset.*
Non-current assets include tangible, intangible and financial assets of a long-term nature.
These are also described as fixed assets.®

2.5 Recognition of assets

Definition

2.5.1

When an item has passed the tests of definition of an asset, it has still not acquired the
right to a place in the statement of financial position (balance sheet). To do so it must
meet further tests of recognition. Recognition means reporting an item by means of
words and amounts within the main financial statements in such a way that the
item is included in the arithmetic totals. An item which is reported in the notes to
the accounts is said to be disclosed but not recognised.

The conditions for recognition have been expressed as in the following definition.

An asset is recognised in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) when:

it is probable that any future economic benefit associated with the asset will flow to the
entity and the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.®

Probability that economic benefits will flow

To establish probability needs evidence. What evidence is sufficient? Usually more
than one item of evidence is looked for. In the case of non-current assets (fixed assets)
which have a physical existence, looking at them to make sure they do exist is a use-
ful precaution which some auditors have in the past regretted not taking. Checking
on physical existence is not sufficient, however, because the enterprise may have no
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control over the future economic benefit associated with the item. Evidence of the ben-
efit from non-current assets may lie in: title deeds of property; registration documents
for vehicles plus the purchase invoice from the supplier; invoices from suppliers of
plant and equipment or office furniture; a written lease agreement for a computer or
other type of equipment; and also the enterprise’s internal forecasts of the profits it
will make by using these non-current assets. This is the kind of evidence which the
auditor seeks in forming an opinion on the financial statements.

For current assets the evidence of future benefit comes when the assets are used
within the trading cycle. A satisfactory sales record will suggest that the present
inventory (stock) of finished goods is also likely to sell. Analysis of the time that
credit customers have taken to pay will give some indication of whether the trade
receivables should be recognised as an asset. Cash can be counted, while amounts
deposited in banks may be confirmed by a bank statement or bank letter. Internal pro-
jections of profit and cash flow provide supporting evidence of the expected benefit
from using current assets in trading activities.

2.5.2 Reliability of measurement

Reliable measurement of assets can be quite a problem. For the most part, this book
will accept the well-tried practice of measuring an asset at the cost of acquiring it,
allowing for any reduction in value through use of the asset (depreciation) or through
it falling out of fashion (obsolescence). The suitability of this approach to measurement
will be discussed in Chapter 14 as one of the main unresolved problems of accounting.

2.5.3 Non-recognition

Consider some items which pass the definition test but do not appear in a statement
of financial position (balance sheet):

e the workforce of a business (a human resource)

the strength of the management team (another human resource)

the reputation established for the quality of the product

the quality of the regular customers

a tax refund which will be claimable against profits in two years’ time.

These items all meet the conditions of rights or other access, future economic ben-
efits, control and a past transaction or event. However, they all have associated with
them a high level of uncertainty and it could be embarrassing to include them in a
statement of financial position (balance sheet) of one year, only to remove them the
following year because something unexpected had happened.

All these items fail one of the recognition tests and some fail both. The workforce as
a whole may be reliable and predictable, but unexpected circumstances can come to
all and the illness or death of a member of the management team in particular can
have a serious impact on the perceived value of the business. A crucial member of the
workforce might give notice and leave. In relation to the product, a reputation for
quality may become well established and those who would like to include brand
names in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) argue for the permanence
of the reputation. Others illustrate the relative transience of such a reputation by
bringing out a list of well-known biscuits or sweets of 30 years ago and asking who
has heard of them today. Reliable customers of good quality are valuable to a business,
but they are also fickle and may change their allegiance at a moment’s notice. The tax
refund may be measurable in amount, but will there be taxable profits in two years’
time against which the refund may be claimed?

It could be argued that the assets which are not recognised in the financial state-
ments should be reported by way of a general description in a note to the accounts. In
practice, this rarely happens because accounting tries to avoid raising hopes which



m Part 1 A conceptual framework: setting the scene

2.6

2.6.1

2.6.2

might subsequently be dashed. This cautious approach is part of what is referred to
more generally as prudence in accounting practice.

Defining liabilities

A liability is defined as: ‘a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the
settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources
embodying economic benefits’.” This wording reads somewhat tortuously but has
been designed to mirror the definition of an asset.

The most familiar types of liabilities arise in those situations where specific amounts
of money are owed by an entity to specific persons called creditors. There is usually
no doubt about the amount of money owed and the date on which payment is due.
Such persons may be trade creditors, the general name for those suppliers who
have provided goods or services in return for a promise of payment later. Amounts
due to trade creditors are described as trade payables. Other types of creditors
include bankers or other lenders who have lent money to the entity.

There are also situations where an obligation is known to exist but the amount due
is uncertain. That might be the case where a court of law has found an entity negligent
in failing to meet some duty of care to a customer. The company will have to pay
compensation to the customer but the amount has yet to be determined.

Even more difficult is the case where an obligation might exist if some future
event happens. Neither the existence nor the amount of the obligation is known with
certainty at the date of the financial statements. An example would arise where one
company has guaranteed the overdraft borrowing of another in the event of that other
company defaulting on repayment. At the present time there is no reason to suppose
a default will occur, but it remains a possibility for the future.

The definition of a liability tries to encompass all these degrees of variation and
uncertainty. It has to be analysed for each separate word or phrase in order to under-
stand the full implications.

Present obligation

A legal obligation is evidence that a liability exists because there is another person or
entity having a legal claim to payment. Most liabilities arise because a legal obligation
exists, either by contract or by statute law.

However, a legal obligation is not a necessary condition. There may be a commer-
cial penalty faced by the business if it takes a certain action. For example, a decision to
close a line of business will lead to the knowledge of likely redundancy costs long
before the employees are actually made redundant and the legal obligation becomes
due. There may be an obligation imposed by custom and practice, such as a condition
of the trade that a penalty operates for those who pay bills late. There may be a future
obligation caused by actions and events of the current period where, for example, a
profit taken by a company now may lead to a taxation liability at a later date which
does not arise at this time because of the wording of the tax laws.

Past events

A decision to buy supplies or to acquire a new non-current asset is not sufficient to
create a liability. It could be argued that the decision is an event creating an obligation,
but it is such a difficult type of event to verify that accounting prefers not to rely too
much on the point at which a decision is made.

Most liabilities are related to a transaction. Normally the transaction involves
receiving goods or services, receiving delivery of new non-current assets such as
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vehicles and equipment, or borrowing money from a lender. In all these cases there is
documentary evidence that the transaction has taken place.

Where the existence of a liability is somewhat in doubt, subsequent events may help

to confirm its existence at the date of the financial statements. For example, when a
company offers to repair goods under a warranty arrangement, the liability exists from
the moment the warranty is offered. It may, however, be unclear as to the extent of the
liability until a pattern of customer complaints is established. Until that time there will
have to be an estimate of the liability. In accounting this estimate is called a provision.
Amounts referred to as provisions are included under the general heading of liabilities.

Outflow of economic benefits

The resource of cash is the economic benefit transferable in respect of most obligations.
The transfer of property in settlement of an obligation would also constitute a transfer
of economic benefits. More rarely, economic benefits could be transferred by offering

a

resource such as labour in settlement of an obligation.

Write down five items in your personal experience which you regard as liabilities. Use

the definition given in this section to explain why each item is a liability from your point
of view. Then read the next section and compare your list with the examples of business
liabilities. If you are having difficulty in understanding why any item is, or is not, a liability
you should consult your lecturer, tutor or other expert in the subject area for a discussion
on how to apply the definition in identifying liabilities.

Examples of liabilities

Here is a list of items commonly found in the liabilities section of the statements of
financial position (balance sheets) of companies:

bank loans and overdrafts

trade payables (amounts due to suppliers of goods and services on credit terms)
taxation payable

accruals (amounts owing, such as unpaid expenses)

provision for deferred taxation

long-term loans.

The first five items in this list would be classified as current liabilities because they

will become due for payment within one year of the date of the financial statements.
The last item would be classified as non-current liabilities because they will remain
due by the business for longer than one year.

A liability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settlement
of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying
economic benefits.?

A current liability is a liability which satisfies any of the following criteria:

(@) it is expected to be settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle;
(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
(c) it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period.®

A non-current liability is any liability that does not meet the definition of a current
liability.'® Non-current liabilities are also described as long-term liabilities.
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Definition

Recognition of liabilities

As with an asset, when an item has passed the tests of definition of a liability it may
still fail the test of recognition. In practice, because of the concern for prudence, it is
much more difficult for a liability to escape the statement of financial position (balance
sheet).

The condition for recognition of a liability uses wording which mirrors that used
for recognition of the asset. The only difference is that the economic benefits are
now expected to flow from the enterprise. The conditions for recognition have been
expressed in the following way:

A liability is recognised in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) when:

@ it is probable that any future economic benefit associated with the liability will flow
from the entity and
@ the amount of the liability can be measured reliably."

What kind of evidence is acceptable? For current liabilities there will be a payment
soon after the date of the financial statements and a past record of making such pay-
ments on time. For non-current liabilities (long-term liabilities) there will be a written
agreement stating the terms and dates of repayment required. The enterprise will pro-
duce internal forecasts of cash flows which will indicate whether the cash resources
will be adequate to allow that future benefit to flow from the enterprise.

Reliable measurement will normally be based on the amount owing to the claimant.
If goods or services have been supplied there will be an invoice from the supplier
stating the amount due. If money has been borrowed there will be a bank statement
or some other document of a similar type, showing the lender’s record of how much
the enterprise owes.

In cases which fail the recognition test, the documentary evidence is likely to be
lacking, probably because there is not sufficient evidence of the existence or the
measurable amount. Examples of liabilities which are not recognised in the statement
of financial position (balance sheet) are:

@ a commitment to purchase new machinery next year (but not a firm contract)

e aremote, but potential, liability for a defective product, where no court action has
yet commenced

@ a guarantee given to support the bank overdraft of another company, where there
is very little likelihood of being called upon to meet the guarantee.

Because of the prudent nature of accounting, the liabilities which are not recognised
in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) may well be reported in note form
under the heading contingent liabilities. This is referred to as disclosure by way of a
note to the accounts.

Looking more closely at the list of liabilities which are not recognised, we see that
the commitment to purchase is not legally binding and therefore the outflow of
resources may not occur. The claim based on a product defect appears to be uncertain
as to occurrence and as to amount. If there has been a court case or a settlement out of
court then there should be a provision for further claims of a similar nature. In the case
of the guarantee the facts as presented make it appear that an outflow of resources is
unlikely. However, such appearances have in the past been deceiving to all concerned
and there is often interesting reading in the note to the financial statements which
describes the contingent liabilities.

An analysis of some common types of liability is given in Table 2.3.
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Table 2.3
Analysis of some common types of liability
Type of liability Obligation Transfer of Past transaction
economic or event
benefits
Bank loans and The entity must repay Cash, Receiving the
overdrafts the loans on the due potentially borrowed funds.
(repayable on date or on demand. within a short
demand or in the space of
very short term) time.
Trade payables Suppliers must be paid Cash within a | Taking delivery
(amounts due to for the goods and short space of the goods or
suppliers of goods | services supplied, of time. service and receiving
and services) usually about one month the supplier’s
after the supplier’s invoice.
invoice is received.
Taxation payable Cash payable to HMRC. | Cash. Making profits in
(tax due on Penalties are charged if the accounting year
company profits tax is not paid on the and submitting an
after the financial | due date. assessment of tax
year-end date) payable.
Accruals (a term Any expense incurred Cash. Consuming
meaning ‘other must be reported as an electricity or gas,
amounts owing’, accrued liability (e.g. using employees’
such as unpaid electricity used, gas services, receiving
bills) used, unpaid wages), if it bills from suppliers
has not been paid at the (note that it is not
financial year-end date. necessary to receive
a gas bill in order to
know that you owe
money for gas used).
Provision for Legislation allows Cash Making profits or
deferred taxation companies to defer eventually, incurring expenditure
(tax due in respect | payment of tax in some but could be | now which meets
of present profits cases. The date of future | in the longer | conditions of
but having a payment may not be term. legislation allowing
delayed payment known as yet. deferral.
date allowed by
tax law)
Long-term loans Statement of financial Cash. Received borrowed
(sometimes called | position will show funds.
debenture loans) repayment dates of
long-term loans and any
repayment conditions
attached.

2.9 Defining the ownership interest

The ownership interest is defined in the Conceptual Framework as equity. Equity is the
residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities."
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Definitions

The term net assets is used as a shorter way of saying ‘total assets less total liabil-
ities’. Because the ownership interest is the residual item, it will be the owners of the
business who benefit from any increase in assets after liabilities have been met.
Conversely it will be the owners who bear the loss of any decrease in assets after
liabilities have been met. The ownership interest applies to the entire net assets. It is
sometimes described as the owners” wealth, although economists would take a view
that the owners” wealth extends beyond the items recorded in a statement of financial
position (balance sheet).

If there is only one owner, as in the sole trader’s business, then there is no problem
as to how the ownership interest is shared. In a partnership, the partnership agree-
ment will usually state the profit-sharing ratio, which may also be applied to the net
assets shown in the statement of financial position (balance sheet). If nothing is said in
the partnership agreement, the profit sharing must be based on equal shares for each
partner.

In a company the arrangements for sharing the net assets depend on the type
of ownership chosen. The owners may hold ordinary shares in the company, which
entitle them to a share of any dividend declared and a share in net assets on closing
down the business. The ownership interest is in direct proportion to the number of
shares held.

Some investors like to hold preference shares, which give them a preference
(although not an automatic right) to receive a dividend before any ordinary share
dividend is declared. The rights of preference shareholders are set out in the articles
of association of the company. Some will have the right to share in a surplus of net
assets on winding up, but others will only be entitled to the amount of capital origin-
ally contributed.

The ownership interest is called equity in the IASB Conceptual Framework.
Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities.

Net assets means the difference between the total assets and the total liabilities of the
business: it represents the amount of the ownership interest in the entity.

Recognition of the ownership interest

There can be no separate recognition criteria for the ownership interest because it is the
result of recognising assets and recognising liabilities. Having made those decisions
on assets and liabilities the enterprise has used up its freedom of choice.

Changes in the ownership interest

It has already been explained that the owner will become better off where the net
assets are increasing. The owner will become worse off where the net assets are
decreasing. To measure the increase or decrease in net assets, two accounting
equations are needed:

Attimet=0 Assets, — Liabilities, equals Ownership interest,

At timet=1 Assets, - Liabilities, equals Ownership interest,,
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Taking one equation away from the other may be expressed in words as:

Change in (assets - liabilities) equals Change in ownership interest

or, using the term ‘net assets’ instead of ‘assets — liabilities’:

Change in net assets equals Change in ownership interest

The change in the ownership interest between these two points in time is a measure
of how much better or worse off the owner has become, through the activities of the
business. The owner is better off when the ownership interest at time t = 1 is higher
than that at time t = 0. To calculate the ownership interest at each point in time requires
knowledge of all assets and all liabilities at each point in time. It is particularly inter-
esting to know about the changes in assets and liabilities which have arisen from the
day-to-day operations of the business.

The term revenue is given to any increase in the ownership interest arising from the
operations of the business and caused by an increase in an asset which is greater than
any decrease in another asset (or increase in a liability). The term expense is given to
any reduction in the ownership interest arising from the operations of the business
and caused by a reduction in an asset to the extent that it is not replaced by a cor-
responding increase in another asset (or reduction in a liability).

The owner or owners of the business may also change the amount of the ownership
interest by deciding to contribute more cash or other resources in order to finance the
business, or deciding to withdraw some of the cash and other resources previously
contributed or accumulated. The amount contributed to the business by the owner
is usually referred to as capital. Decisions about the level of capital to invest in the
business are financing decisions. These financing decisions are normally distinguished
separately from the results of operations.

So another equation may now be derived as a subdivision of the basic accounting
equation, showing analysis of the changes in the ownership interest.

Change in ownership
interest

Capital contributed/withdrawn by the

equals . :
a ownership plus Revenue minus Expenses

The difference between revenue and expenses is more familiarly known as profit.
So a further subdivision of the basic equation is:

Profit equals Revenue minus Expenses

Revenue and expense

Revenue is created by a transaction or event arising during the operations of the busi-
ness which causes an increase in the ownership interest. It could be due to an increase
in cash or trade receivables, received in exchange for goods or services. Depending
on the nature of the business, revenue may be described as sales, turnover, fees, com-
mission, royalties or rent.

An expense is caused by a transaction or event arising during the operations of
the business which causes a decrease in the ownership interest. It could be due to an
outflow or depletion of assets such as cash, inventory (stock) or non-current assets
(fixed assets). It could be due to a liability being incurred without a matching asset
being acquired.
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Definitions

2.11.2

B

Revenue is created by a transaction or event arising during the ordinary activities of the
entity which causes an increase in the ownership interest. It is referred to by a variety of
different names including sales, fees, interest, dividends, royalties and rent."®

An expense is caused by a transaction or event arising during the ordinary activities of
the business which causes a decrease in the ownership interest.™

Position after a change has occurred

At the end of the accounting period there will be a new level of assets and liabilities
recorded. These assets and liabilities will have resulted from the activities of the busi-
ness during the period, creating revenue and incurring expenses. The owner may also
have made voluntary contributions or withdrawals of capital as a financing decision.
The equation in the following form reflects that story:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest at the start of

at the end of the period the period plus Capital contributed/
withdrawn in the period plus Revenue of
the period minus Expenses of the period

Assurance for users of financial statements

The definitions of assets and liabilities refer to expected flows into or out of the busi-
ness. The recognition conditions refer to the evidence that the expected flows in or out
will occur. The directors of a company are responsible for ensuring that the financial
statements presented by them are a faithful representation of the assets and liabilities
of the business and of the transactions and events relating to those assets and liab-
ilities. Shareholders need reassurance that the directors, as their agents, have carried out
this responsibility with sufficient care. To give themselves this reassurance, the share-
holders appoint a firm of auditors to examine the records of the business and give an
opinion as to whether the financial statements correspond to the accounting records
and present a true and fair view. (Chapter 1 explained the position of directors as
agents of the shareholders. Chapter 4 explains the regulations relating to company
financial statements and the appointment of auditors.)

Meet David and Leona again as they continue their conversation on the work of the
auditor and its value to the shareholder as a user of accounting information provided
by a company.

DAVID: /’ve now coated your ceiling with apple green emulsion. In return you promised to
convince me that | rely on audited accounting information more than | realise. Here is your
chance to do that. | was looking today at the annual report of a company which is a
manufacturing business. There is a production centre in the UK but most of the production
work is carried out in Spain where the operating costs are lower. The distribution oper-
ation is carried out from Swindon, selling to retail stores all over the UK. There is an export
market, mainly in France, but the company has only scratched the surface of that market.
Let’s start with something easy — the inventories (stocks) of finished goods which are held
at the factory in Spain and the distribution depot in Swindon.

LEONA: You’ve shown right away how limited your understanding is, by choosing the asset
where you need the auditor’s help the most. Everything can go wrong with inventories
(stocks)! Think of the accounting equation:

Assets — Liabilities = Ownership interest
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If an asset is overstated, the ownership interest will be overstated. That means the profit
for the period, as reported, is higher than it should be. But you won’t know that because
everything will appear to be in order from the accounts. You have told me repeatedly that
you buy the future, not the past, but | know you look to the current profit and loss account
as an indicator of future trends of profit. And so do all your friends.

DAVID: How can the asset of finished goods inventories be overstated? It’s quite a solid item.

LEONA: There are two types of potential error — the physical counting of the inventory
and the valuation placed on it. There are two main causes of error, one being carelessness
and the other an intention to deceive. I've seen situations where the stocktakers count the
same stack of goods twice because they don’t have a marker pen to put a cross on the
items counted. I've also heard of situations where items are counted twice deliberately. We
always attend the end-of-year counting of the inventory and observe the process carefully.
| wish there weren’t so many companies with December year-ends. Counting inventory on
2 January is never a good start to the new year.

DAVID: | suppose | can believe that people lose count but how does the valuation go
wrong? All companies say that they value inventories at cost as the usual rule. How can
the cost of an item be open to doubt?

LEONA: Answering that question needs a textbook in itself. The subject comes under the
heading of ‘management accounting’. Take the goods that you know are manufactured in
Spain. There are costs of materials to make the goods, and labour to convert raw materials
into finished goods. There are also the running costs of the production unit, which are
called the overheads. There is an unbelievable variety of ways of bringing those costs
together into one item of product. How much does the company tell you about all that?
| know the answer — nothing.

DAVID: Well, | could always ask them at a briefing meeting. | usually ask about the profit
margin on the goods sold, rather than the value of the goods unsold. But | can see that
if the inventories figure is wrong then so is the profit margin. Do you have a systematic
procedure for checking each kind of asset?

LEONA: Our magic word is CEAVOP. That stands for:

Completeness of information presented.

Existence of the asset or liability at a given date.

Amount of the transaction is correctly recorded.

Valuation reported for assets and liabilities is appropriate.

Occurrence of the transaction or event took place in the period.

Presentation and disclosure is in accordance with regulations and accounting standards
or other comparable regulations.

Every aspect of that list has to be checked for each of the assets and liabilities you see
in the statement of financial position. We need good-quality evidence of each aspect
before we sign off the audit report.

DAVID: / probably believe that you do a great deal of work with your CEAVOP. But next time
| come round to paint your kitchen I'll bring a list of the situations where the auditors don’t
appear to have asked all the questions in that list.

2.13 Summary

This chapter has set out the accounting equation for a situation at any one point in time:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest
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Key points are:

An asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from
which future economic benefits are expected to flow.

A current asset is an asset that satisfies any of the following criteria:

(a) it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the
entity’s normal operating cycle;

(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

(c) it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the date of the financial
year-end;

(d) it is cash or a cash equivalent.”

A non-current asset is any asset that does not meet the definition of a current asset.

Non-current assets include tangible, intangible and financial assets of a long-term

nature. These are also described as fixed assets.

A liability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settle-
ment of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources
embodying economic benefits.

A current liability is a liability which satisfies any of the following criteria:

(a) it is expected to be settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle;
(b) it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
(c) it is due to be settled within 12 months after the date of the financial year-end.

A non-current liability is any liability that does not meet the definition of a current
liability. Non-current liabilities are also described as long-term liabilities.

e The ownership interest is called equity in the Conceptual Framework.

e Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its

liabilities.
Net assets means the difference between the total assets and the total liabilities of
the business: it represents the amount of the ownership interest in the entity.

Recognition means reporting an item in the financial statements, in words and in
amounts, so that the amounts are included in the arithmetic totals of the financial
statements. Any other form of reporting by way of note is called disclosure. The
conditions for recognition of assets and liabilities are similar in wording.

At the end of an accounting period the assets and liabilities are reported in a state-
ment of financial position (balance sheet). Changes in the assets and liabilities dur-
ing the period have caused changes in the ownership interest through revenue and
expenses of operations. The owner may also have voluntarily added or withdrawn
capital. The final position is explained on the left-hand side of the equation and the
movement to that position is explained on the right-hand side:

Assets minus Liabilities equals | Ownership interest at the start of

at the end of the period the period plus Capital contributed/
withdrawn in the period plus Revenue of
the period minus Expenses of the period

As with any equation, it is possible to make this version more complex by adding
further details. That is not necessary for the purpose of explaining the basic pro-
cesses, but the equation will be revisited later in the book when some of the prob-
lems of accounting are opened up. The helpful aspect of the accounting equation is
that it can always be used as a basis for arguing a feasible answer. The limitation is
that it cannot give an opinion on the most appropriate answer when more than one
option is feasible.



Chapter 2 A systematic approach to financial reporting: the accounting equation m

In Chapter 3 there is an explanation of how the information represented by the
accounting equation is displayed in a form which is useful to the user groups
identified in Chapter 1.

Further reading

IASB (2010), The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, “The Elements of Financial
Statements’ and ‘Recognition of the Elements of Financial Statements’, International
Accounting Standards Board.

The Questions section of each chapter has three types of question. ‘Test your understanding’
questions to help you review your reading are in the ‘A’ series of questions. You will find the
answers to these by reading and thinking about the material in the book. ‘Application’ questions
to test your ability to apply technical skills are in the ‘B’ series of questions. Questions requiring
you to show skills in problem solving and evaluation are in the ‘C’ series of questions. A letter
[S] indicates that there is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding

A2.1  Write out the basic form of the accounting equation. (Section 2.2)
A2.2 Define an asset and explain each part of the definition. (Section 2.3)
A2.3 Give five examples of items which are assets. (Section 2.4)

A2.4 Use the definition to explain why each of the items in your answer to A.2.3 is an asset.
(Section 2.4)

A2.5 Explain what ‘recognition’ means in accounting. (Section 2.5)
A2.6 State the conditions for recognition of an asset. (Section 2.5)

A2.7 Explain why an item may pass the definition test but fail the recognition test for an asset.
(Section 2.5)

A2.8 Give three examples of items which pass the definition test for an asset but fail the
recognition test. (Section 2.5)

A2.9 Some football clubs include the players in the statement of financial position (balance
sheet) as an asset. Others do not. Give the arguments to support each approach.
(Section 2.5)

A2.10 Define a liability and explain each part of the definition. (Section 2.6)
A2.11 Give five examples of items which are liabilities. (Section 2.7)

A2.12 Use the definition to explain why each of the items in your answer to A2.11 is a liability.
(Section 2.7)

A2.13 State the conditions for recognition of a liability. (Section 2.8)

A2.14 Explain why an item may pass the definition test but fail the recognition test for a liability.
(Section 2.8)

A2.15 Define the term ‘equity’. (Section 2.9)
A2.16 Explain what is meant by ‘net assets’. (Section 2.9)

A2.17 Set out the accounting equation for a change in the ownership interest. (Section 2.11)
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A2.18 Define ‘revenue’ and ‘expenses’. (Section 2.11.1)

A2.19 Set out the accounting equation which represents the position after a change has
occurred. (Section 2.11.2)

A2.20 Explain the auditor’s approach to giving assurance about assets and liabilities.
(Section 2.12)

n Application

B2.1 [S]
Classify each of the items in the following list as: asset; liability; neither an asset nor a liability.

(@) cash at bank

(b) loan from the bank

(c) letter from the bank promising an overdraft facility at any time in the next three months

(d) trade receivable (an amount due from a customer who has promised to pay later)

(e) trade receivable (an amount due from a customer who has promised to pay later but has
apparently disappeared without leaving a forwarding address)

(f) trade payable (an amount due to a supplier of goods who has not yet received payment
from the business)

g) inventory of finished goods (fashion clothing stored ahead of the spring sales)

h) inventory of finished goods (fashion clothing left over after the spring sales)

i) investment in shares of another company where the share price is rising

j) investment in shares of another company where the share price is falling

k) lender of five-year loan to the business

I) customer to whom the business has offered a 12-month warranty to repair goods free of
charge

m) a motor vehicle owned by the business

) a motor vehicle rented by the business for one year

o) an office building owned by the business

p) an office building rented by the business on a 99-year lease, with 60 years’ lease period
remaining.

B2.2 [S]

Explain whether each of the items from question B.2.1 above which you have identified as
assets and liabilities would also meet the conditions for recognition of the item in the statement
of financial position (balance sheet).

B2.3 [S]
Explain why each of the following items would not meet either the definition or the recognition
conditions of an asset of the business:

(@) a letter from the owner of the business, addressed to the bank manager, promising to
guarantee the bank overdraft of the business

(b) a list of the customers of the business

c) an order received from a customer

) the benefit of employing a development engineer with a high level of ‘know-how’ specifically
relevant to the business

) money spent on an advertising campaign to boost sales

structural repairs to a building.

BE
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Problem solving and evaluation

Cc2.1
The following information has been gathered from the accounting records of Pets Parlour:
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Assets and liabilities at 31 December Year 4

£
Cash at bank 500
Borrowings 6,000
Trade receivables (debtors) 5,000
Property, plant and equipment 29,000
Revenue and expenses for the year ended 31 December Year 4

£
Fees charged for work done 20,000
Interest paid on borrowings 1,000
Administration costs incurred 1,500
Salaries paid to employees 14,000

Required
Using the accounting equation, calculate:

(@) The amount of ownership interest at 31 December Year 4.
(b) The amount of net profit for the year.
(c) The amount of the ownership interest at 1 January Year 4.

Activities for study groups

Obtain the annual report of a listed company. From the statement of financial position (balance
sheet) list the items shown as assets and liabilities. (This will require you to look in detail at the
notes to the accounts using the references on the face of the statement of financial position
(balance sheet). Share out the list of assets and liabilities so that each person has four or five
assets and four or five liability items.

1 Separately, using the definitions and recognition criteria, prepare a short statement explaining
why each item on your list passes the tests of definition and recognition. State the evidence
you would expect to see, as auditor, to confirm the expected future inflow of economic ben-
efit from any asset and the expected future outflow of benefit from any liability.

2 Present your explanations to the group and together prepare a list of assets and a separate
list of liabilities in order of the uncertainty which attaches to the expected future benefit.

3 Read the ‘contingent liability’ note, if there is one, to find examples of liabilities which have
not been recognised but have been disclosed. Why will you not find a ‘contingent asset’
note?

Notes and references

. IASB (2010), Conceptual Framework, para. 4.4(a).
. Ibid.
. IAS 1 (2009), para. 66.
. Ibid.
IAS 1 para. 67 permits the use of alternative descriptions for non-current assets provided the
meaning is clear.
. IASB (2010), para. 4.38.
. IASB (2010), para. 4.4(b).
. Ibid.
9. IAS 1 (2012), para. 69.
10. Ibid.
11. IASB (2010), para. 4.38.
12. TASB (2010), para. 4.4(c).
13. IASB (2010), para. 4.29.
14. IASB (2010), para. 4.33.
15. TAS 1 (2012), para. 66.
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Supplement to Chapter 2

Debit and credit bookkeeping

You do not have to read this supplement to be able to progress through the rest of the textbook.
In the main body of each chapter the explanations are all given in terms of changes in elements
of the accounting equation. However, for those who would like to know how debits and credits
work, each chapter will have a supplement putting into debit and credit form the material
contained in the chapter.

Recording in ledger accounts

The double-entry system of bookkeeping records business transactions in ledger
accounts. It makes use of the fact that there are two aspects to every transaction when
analysed in terms of the accounting equation.

A ledger account accumulates the increases and reductions either in a category
of business activities such as sales or in dealings with individual customers and
suppliers.

Ledger accounts may be subdivided. Sales could be subdivided into home sales and
export sales. Separate ledger accounts might be kept for each type of non-current asset,
e.g. buildings and machinery. The ledger account for machinery might be subdivided
as office machinery and production machinery.

Ledger accounts for rent, business rates and property insurance might be kept
separately or the business might instead choose to keep one ledger account to record
transactions in all of these items, giving them the collective name administrative
expenses. The decision would depend on the number of transactions in an accounting
period and on whether it was useful to have separate records.

The managers of the business have discretion to combine or subdivide ledger
accounts to suit the information requirements of the business concerned.

Using the accounting equation

Before entries are made in ledger accounts, the double entry system of bookkeeping
assigns to each aspect of a business transaction a debit or a credit notation, based on
the analysis of the transaction using the accounting equation.

In its simplest form the accounting equation is stated as:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest

To derive the debit and credit rules it is preferable to rearrange the equation so that
there is no minus sign.

Assets equals Liabilities plus Ownership interest

There are three elements to the equation and each one of these elements may either
increase or decrease as a result of a transaction or event. The six possibilities are set out
in Table 2.4.
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Table 2.4
Combinations of increases and decreases of the main elements of transactions

Left-hand side of the equation

Assets Increase Decrease

Right-hand side of the equation

Liabilities Decrease Increase

Ownership interest Decrease Increase

The double-entry bookkeeping system uses this classification (which preserves
the symmetry of the equation) to distinguish debit and credit entries as shown in
Table 2.5.

Table 2.5
Rules of debit and credit for ledger entries, basic accounting equation
Debit entries in a Credit entries in a
ledger account ledger account
Left-hand side of the equation
Asset Increase Decrease
Right-hand side of the equation
Liability Decrease Increase
Ownership interest Decrease Increase

It was shown in the main body of the chapter that the ownership interest may be
increased by:

® earning revenue; and
® new capital contributed by the owner;

and that the ownership interest may be decreased by:

@ incurring expenses; and
e capital withdrawn by the owner.

So the ‘ownership interest” section of Table 2.5 may be expanded as shown in
Table 2.6.

That is all you ever have to know about the rules of bookkeeping. All the rest can
be reasoned from this table. For any transaction there will be two aspects. (If you find
there are more than two, the transaction needs breaking down into simpler steps.) For
each aspect there will be a ledger account. Taking each aspect in turn you ask yourself:
Is this an asset, a liability, or an aspect of the ownership interest? Then you ask yourself:
Is it an increase or a decrease? From Table 2.6 you then know immediately whether to
make a debit or a credit entry.

Examples of the application of the rules of debit and credit recording are given in
the supplement to Chapter 5 for a service business and in the supplement to Chapter 6
for a manufacturing business. They will also be used in later chapters to explain how
particular transactions are reported.
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Table 2.6

Rules of debit and credit for ledger entries, distinguishing different aspects of
ownership interest

Debit entries in a Credit entries in a
ledger account ledger account
Left-hand side of the equation
Asset Increase Decrease
Right-hand side of the equation
Liability Decrease Increase
Ownership interest Expense Revenue
Capital withdrawn Capital contributed

B Test your understanding

(The answer to each of the following questions is either debit or credit)
S$2.1 What is the bookkeeping entry for an increase in an asset?

S§2.2 What is the bookkeeping entry for a decrease in a liability?

S$2.3 What is the bookkeeping entry for an increase in an expense?
S2.4 What is the bookkeeping entry for a withdrawal of owner’s capital?

$2.5 What is the bookkeeping entry for an increase in revenue?



Financial statements from the
accounting equation

REAL WORLD CASE

J Sainsbury plc

Summary balance sheet

Shareholders’ funds as at 17 March
2012 were £5,629 million (19 March
2011: £5,424 million), an increase of £205
million. This is mainly attributable to the
continued profitable growth of the

underlying business, continued investment o
in space to support future growth, offset i )‘ . §
by an increase in the net retirement 7 T e «l""’-r,,,.- 5
benefit obligations and net debt. aalss e e — " = <

Property, plant and equipment assets have increased by £545 million, as a result of increased space

growth.
Summary balance sheet at 17 March 2012 2012 2011 Movement
£m £m £m
Land and buildings (freehold and long leasehold) 6,802 6,440 362
Land and buildings (short leasehold) 648 622 26
Fixtures and fittings 1,879 1,722 157
Property, plant and equipment 9,329 8,784 545
Other non-current assets 911 842 69
Inventories 938 812 126
Trade and other receivables 286 303 (17)
Cash and cash equivalents 739 501 238
Debt (2,719) (2,315) (404)
Trade and other payables and provisions (3,400) (3,262) (138)
Retirement benefit obligations, net of deferred tax (455) (241) (214)
Net assets 5,629 5,424 205

http://annualreport2012.j-sainsbury.co.uk/financial-review/summary-balance-sheet/, J Sainsbury plc, Reproduced by kind permission of
J Sainsbury plc.

Discussion points
1 Explain how the balance sheet satisfies the accounting equation.

2 How does the description in words help users to understand the financial statement?
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After studying this chapter you should be able to:
® Explain the benefits and problems of producing annual financial statements.

@ Explain the purpose and structure of the statement of financial position (balance
sheet).

® Explain the purpose and structure of the income statement (profit and loss
account).

@ Explain the purpose and structure of the statement of cash flows.
e Comment on the usefulness to users of the financial statements prepared.

Additionally for those who choose to study the supplement:

® Apply the debit and credit form of analysis to the transactions of a short period of
time, summarising them in a list which may be used for preparation of simple
financial statements.

Introduction

In the previous chapter the accounting equation was developed as a representation
of the relationships among key items of accounting information: assets, liabilities and
the ownership interest. An understanding of the accounting equation and the various
elements of the equation provides a systematic approach to analysing transactions
and events, but it gives no guidance as to how the results should be communicated in
a manner which will be helpful and meaningful to users. The accounting equation
is used in this chapter as a basis for explaining the structure of financial statements.
Ideas beyond the accounting equation are required as to what qualities are expected
of financial statements.

The various financial statements produced by enterprises for the owners and other
external users are derived from the accounting equation. The Conceptual Framework
identifies the purposes of financial reporting as producing information about the
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financial position, performance and financial adaptability of the enterprise. The three
most familiar primary financial statements, and their respective purposes, are:

Primary financial statement Purpose is to report
Statement of financial position (balance sheet) Financial position
Income statement (Profit and loss account) Financial performance
Statement of cash flows Financial adaptability

This chapter explains the general shape and content of each of these financial
statements.

- 3.2 Who is in charge of the accounting system?

Since 2005 two different accounting systems have existed for companies in the UK,
depending on the type of company. When you look at the name of a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, such as Vodaphone, BskyB, Burberry and Marks and Spencer,
you are really looking at a family group of companies all owned by one parent
company. One set of financial statements represents all the companies in the group.
Under the law of the European Union (EU), these group financial statements for listed
companies must apply the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) account-
ing system set out by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB system).
Other companies in the UK may choose to follow the IASB system of standards but
there is no requirement to do so. All companies in the UK that do not apply the IASB
system must apply the accounting system set out by the UK Accounting Standards
Board (ASB). Many public bodies in the UK, including central government and local
authorities, now use the IASB system of IFRS.

Fortunately for those studying the subject, the ASB and the IASB have been work-
ing closely together for many years and there are relatively few differences between
the two systems. However, there is a potential difference in the appearance and the
wording of financial statements. Companies applying the UK ASB’s accounting system
must use specifications of the sequence and content of items (called formats of financial
statements) set out in UK company law which is based on EU directives. Companies
applying the IASB’s system to their listed group reporting have a choice in how they
present their financial statements. As a consequence we are now seeing variety in
the content and sequence of financial statements published in the annual reports of
groups listed on the Stock Exchange. This chapter gives you a flavour of the formats
that you might see in financial statements. Where there are differences in words used,
this chapter gives the wording of the IASB system first, followed by the wording of
UK company law and ASB standards in brackets. As an example, the description:

income statement (profit and loss account)

means that the IASB system uses income statement in its illustrations of a profit
statement, while UK law and ASB standards use profit and loss account in their
illustrations of a profit statement.

I. 3.3 The accounting period

In the far-away days of traders sailing out of Italian ports on three-year voyages,
the accounting period was determined by the date of return of the ship, when the
accounts could be prepared for the whole voyage. That rather leisurely view of the
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scale of time would not be tolerated in an industrial and commercial society where
there is always someone demanding information. The convention is that businesses
should prepare financial statements at least once in every calendar year. That conven-
tion is a requirement of law expressed in the Companies Act 2006 in the case of
limited liability companies. Where companies have a Stock Exchange listing they are
required to produce an interim report six months into the accounting year. Some
companies voluntarily produce quarterly reports to shareholders, reflecting the prac-
tice of listed companies in the USA. For internal management accounting purposes, a
business may produce reports more frequently (e.g. on a monthly or a weekly basis).

Businesses may choose their accounting date as a time convenient to their activities.
Many companies choose 31 December for the year-end, but others (including many of
the utility companies which were formerly owned by the government) use 31 March.
Some prefer a September or October date after the peak of the summer sales has
passed. Whatever the choice, companies are expected to keep the same date from one
year to the next unless there is a strong reason for changing.

The use of a 12-month accounting period should not be too much of a problem where
the trading cycle fits neatly into a year. If the business is seasonal, there will be a peak
of production to match the seasonal peak of sales and the pattern will be repeated every
year. There could be a few technical problems of deciding exactly how to close the door
on 31 December and whether transactions towards the end of the year are to be included
in that year or carried to the next period. These problems can be dealt with by having
systematic ‘cut-off’ rules. There is a bigger problem for those companies whose trad-
ing cycle is much longer. It could take two years to build a section of a motorway or
three years to build a bridge over a wide river estuary. Such a company will have to
subdivide the work on the main contract so that some can be reported each year.

The use of the 12-month accounting period also causes problems for recognition
of assets and liabilities. Waiting for the ship to arrive was much safer evidence for the
Venetian traders than hoping it was still afloat or relying on reported sightings. For
today’s business the equivalent situation would be waiting for a property to be sold
or for a large customer to pay the amount due as a debt. However, in practice the
statement of financial position (balance sheet) cannot wait. Notes to the accounts give
additional explanations to help users of financial statements evaluate the risk, but it is
all quite tentative. Narrative descriptions of risk are explained further in Chapter 14,
section 14.10.

The statement of financial position (balance sheet)

The statement of financial position (balance sheet) reflects the accounting equation.
Both descriptions are used in this textbook because you will find both in use. The
International Accounting Standards Board prefers the term ‘statement of financial
position” while company law in the UK uses the term ‘balance sheet’. You saw in
Chapter 2 that there is more than one way to write the accounting equation. That
means there is more than one way to present a statement of financial position (balance
sheet). You will find throughout your study of accounting that there is often more than
one approach to dealing with an activity or solving a problem. This is the first time but
there will be more. It means that you need to be flexible in your approach to reading
and using financial statements.

Focus on the ownership interest

One form of the accounting equation focuses on the ownership interest as the result of
subtracting liabilities from assets. The equation is as follows:
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Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest

UK companies who apply this form of the equation will present the statement of
financial position (balance sheet) in a narrative form, reading down the page, as follows:

Assets

minus

Liabilities

equals

Ownership interest

The assets are subdivided into current assets and non-current assets (defined in
Chapter 2), while the liabilities are subdivided into current liabilities and non-current
liabilities (also defined in Chapter 2). The ownership interest may also be subdivided
to show separately the capital contributed or withdrawn and the profit of the period.
Because current assets and current liabilities are closely intertwined in the day-to-day
operations of the business, they are often grouped close to each other in the statement
of financial position (balance sheet) (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1
Structure of a statement of financial position (balance sheet)

Non-current assets

plus

Current assets

minus

Current liabilities

minus

Non-current liabilities

equals

Capital at start of year

plus/minus

Capital contributed or withdrawn

plus

Profit of the period

Table 3.1 represents a typical sequence used by UK public companies. Most com-
panies will try to confine the statement of financial position (balance sheet) to a single
side of A4 paper but there is not much space on one sheet of A4 paper to fit in all the
assets and liabilities of a company. Consequently a great deal of use is made of notes
to the accounts which explain the detail. The statement of financial position (balance
sheet) shows only the main categories of assets and liabilities.



m Part 1 A conceptual framework: setting the scene

3.4.2 Balancing assets and claims on assets

Another form of the accounting equation focuses on balancing the assets against the
claims on assets. The claims on assets come from the ownership interest and from
liabilities of all types. The equation is:

Assets equals Liabilities plus Ownership interest

UK companies who apply this form of the equation will present the statement of
financial position (balance sheet) vertically on one sheet of paper but the sequence
will be different:

Assets

equals

Liabilities

plus

Ownership interest

In some countries there is a preference for lining up the statement of financial pos-
ition (balance sheet) horizontally to match the accounting equation even more closely.

Liabilities

Assets plus

Ownership interest

Activity 3.1 Before reading further, make sure that you can explain why each item in the accounting
records is an asset or a liability, as shown in the foregoing list. If you have any doubts,
read Chapter 2 again before proceeding with this chapter.

3.4.3 Example of presentation

The following list of assets and liabilities of P. Mason’s legal practice was prepared
from the accounting records of transactions summarised at 30 September Year 5:

£
Land and buildings 250,000
Office furniture 30,000
Receivables (debtors) for fees 1,200
Prepayment of insurance premium 540
Cash at bank 15,280
Total assets (A) 297,020
Trade payables (creditors) 2,800
Long-term loan 150,000
Total liabilities (L) 152,800
Ownership interest (A — L) 144,220
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Table 3.2 shows how this would appear in a statement of financial position (balance
sheet) based on the ‘ownership interest’ form of the equation. Table 3.3 shows how the
same information would appear in a statement of financial position (balance sheet)
based on the ‘claims on assets’” form of the equation.

The statement of financial position (balance sheet) in Table 3.2 is more informative
than the list of assets and liabilities from which it was prepared because it has been
arranged in a helpful format. The first helpful feature is the use of headings (shown
in Table 3.2 in bold) for similar items grouped together, such as non-current assets,
current assets, current liabilities and non-current liabilities. The second helpful feature
is the use of subtotals (identified in Table 3.2 by descriptions in italics and shaded) for
similar items grouped together. The subtotals used in this example are those for: total
non-current assets; total current assets; total assets; and total liabilities. There are no
standard rules on use of subtotals. They should be chosen in a manner most appro-
priate to the situation. Brackets round figures show the ‘minus’ in the accounting
equation.

A person using this statement of financial position (balance sheet) can see at a
glance that there is no problem for the business in meeting its current liabilities from
its resources of current assets. The financing of the business is split almost equally
between the non-current liabilities and the ownership interest, a split which would not
be regarded as excessively risky by those who lend to businesses. The non-current
assets used as a basis for generating profits from one year to the next are collected
together as a group, although the statement of financial position (balance sheet) alone
cannot show how effectively those assets are being used. For that, an income state-
ment (profit and loss account) is needed.

The statement of financial position (balance sheet) in Table 3.3 is again more
informative than the list of assets and liabilities from which it was prepared because it
has been arranged in a helpful format. It offers a helpful feature in the use of headings
(in bold) for similar items grouped together. It is also helpful in providing subtotals

Table 3.2
Statement of financial position (balance sheet): Assets minus liabilities equals
ownership interest

P. Mason’s legal practice Statement of financial position (balance sheet)
at 30 September Year 5
£

Non-current assets

Land and buildings 250,000

Office furniture 30,000
Total non-current assets 280,000
Current assets

Receivables (debtors) for fees 1,200

Prepayment of insurance premium 540

Cash at bank 15,280
Total current assets 17,020
Total assets 297,020
Current liabilities

Trade payables (creditors) (2,800)
Non-current liabilities

Long-term loan (150,000)
Total liabilities (152,800)
Net assets 144,220
Ownership interest 144,220
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Table 3.3
Statement of financial position (balance sheet): Assets equal liabilities plus
ownership interest

P. Mason'’s legal practice Statement of financial position (balance sheet)
at 30 September Year 5

£

Non-current assets

Land and buildings 250,000

Office furniture 30,000
Total non-current assets 280,000
Current assets

Receivables for fees 1,200

Prepayment of insurance premium 540

Cash at bank 15,280
Total current assets 17,020
Total assets 297,020
Current liabilities

Trade payables 2,800
Non-current liabilities

Long-term loan 150,000
Total liabilities 152,800
Ownership interest 144,220
Total liabilities plus ownership interest 297,020

(identified by descriptions in italics and shaded) for similar items grouped together.
The subtotals used in this example are those for: total non-current assets and total
current assets. Some financial statements include a subtotal for the current assets less
current liabilities (not current assets). There are no standard rules on use of subtotals.
They should be chosen in a manner most appropriate to the situation.

A person using this statement of financial position (balance sheet) can again see at
a glance that there is no problem for the business in meeting its current liabilities from
its resources of current assets. The financing of the business is split almost equally
between the non-current liabilities and the ownership interest, a split which would not
be regarded as excessively risky by those who lend to businesses. The non-current
assets used as a basis for generating profits from one year to the next are collected
together as a group, although the statement of financial position (balance sheet) alone
cannot show how effectively those assets are being used.

The income statement (profit and loss account)

For many years in the UK, profit and loss account was the only title used for the finan-
cial statement reporting profit of the period. From 2005 many of those listed groups
following the IASB’s system have chosen to follow an example given by the IASB
which uses the heading income statement, found more commonly in US company
reports. It is not compulsory for listed group companies to use ‘income statement” and
some retain the ‘profit and loss account’ heading. The income statement (profit and
loss account) reflects that part of the accounting equation which defines profit:

Profit equals Revenue minus Expenses
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The expenses of a period are matched against the revenue earned in that period.
This is described as the application of the matching concept in accounting.

As with the statement of financial position (balance sheet), it is presented in a
vertical form so that it can be read down the page as a narrative (Table 3.4).

Table 3.4
Structure of an income statement
(profit and loss account)

Revenue

minus

Expenses

equals

Profit

3.5.1 Example of presentation

The accounting records of P. Mason’s legal practice at 30 September Year 5 showed
that the ownership interest could be explained as follows (using brackets to show
negative items):

£
Increases in ownership interest
Capital contributed at start of month 140,000
Fees 8,820
Decreases in ownership interest
Computer rental and online searches (1,500)
Gas (100)
Electricity (200)
Telephone/fax (1,000)
Salary of assistant (1,800)
Ownership interest at end of month 144,220

The statement of profit is quite simple, as shown in Table 3.5.

Table 3.5
Financial statement of profit, in a useful format
P. Mason’s legal practice
Income statement (profit and loss account) for the month of September
£ £
Revenues
Fees 8,820
Expenses
Computer rental and online searches (1,500)
Gas (100)
Electricity (200)
Telephone/fax (1,000)
Salary of assistant (1,800)
Total expenses (4,600)
Net profit of the month 4,220
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3.5.2 Comment

The income statement (profit and loss account) improves on the mere list of con-
stituent items by providing headings (shown in bold) for each main category. As this
is a very simple example, only two headings and one subtotal are required. Headings
and subtotals are most useful where there are groups of items of a similar nature. The
resulting net profit shows how the revenues and expenses have contributed overall to
increasing the ownership interest during the month.

Activity 3.2 Taking each item of the income statement (profit and loss account) in turn, explain to
an imaginary friend why each item of revenue and expense is regarded as increasing or
decreasing the ownership interest. If necessary, look back to the definitions of revenue
and expense in Chapter 2. Make sure that you feel confident about the income statement
(profit and loss account) before you move on.

- 3.6 The statement of cash flows

It was shown in Chapter 1 that liquidity is of interest to more than one user group, but
of particular interest to creditors of the business.

Liquidity is measured by the cash and near-cash assets and the change in those
assets, so a financial statement which explains cash flows should be of general interest
to user groups:

Cash inflows to the enterprise minus

Cash flow equals Cash outflows from the enterprise

The statement of cash flows will appear in a vertical form:

Cash inflows

minus

Cash outflows

equals

Change in cash assets

In a business there will be different factors causing the inflows and outflows of
cash. The enterprise will try to make clear what the different causes are. Subdiv-
isions are commonly used for operating activities, investing activities and financing
activities:

® Operating activities are the actions of buying and selling goods, or manufacturing
goods for resale, or providing a service to customers.

® Investing activities are the actions of buying and selling non-current assets for long-
term purposes.

® Financing activities are the actions of raising and repaying the long-term finance of
the business.

Table 3.6 sets out the basic structure of a basic statement of cash flows.
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Table 3.6
Structure of a statement of cash flows

Operating activities
Cash inflows
minus

Cash outflows

plus

Investing activities
Cash inflows
minus
Cash outflows

plus

Financing activities
Cash inflows
minus
Cash outflows

equals

Change in cash assets

3.6.1 Example of presentation

The cash transactions of P. Mason’s legal practice for the month of September were
recorded as follows:

Accounting records

Year 5 £
Cash received
Sept. 1 Capital contributed by P. Mason 140,000
Sept. 1 Loan from bank 150,000
Sept. 19 Fees received from clients 7,620
Total cash received 297,620
Cash paid
Sept. 1 Land and buildings 250,000
Sept. 5 Prepayment of insurance premium 540
Sept. 26 Supplier for office furniture 30,000
Sept. 30 Salaries 1,800
Total cash paid 282,340
Cash remaining at 30 September 15,280

The statement of cash flows would be presented as shown in Table 3.7.

3.6.2 Comment

The cash flows, listed at the start of section 3.6.1 in the accounting records for the legal
practice, relate to three different types of activity which are brought out more clearly
in the statement of cash flows by the use of headings and subtotals. The headings are
shown in bold and the subtotals are highlighted by italics and shading. The story
emerging from the statement of cash flows is that the owner put in £140,000 and the
bank lent £150,000, providing a total of £290,000 in start-up finance. Of this amount,
£280,000 was used during the month to pay for non-current assets. That left £10,000
which, when added to the positive cash flow from operations, explains why the cash
resources increased by £15,280 over the month.
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Table 3.7
Financial statement showing cash flows of an enterprise

P. Mason’s legal practice
Statement of cash flows for the month of September Year 5

Operating activities £
Inflow from fees 7,620
Outflow to insurance premium (540)
Outflows to salaries (1,800)
Net inflow from operations 5,280
Investing activities

Payment for land and building (250,000)
Payment for office furniture (30,000)
Net outflow for investing activities (280,000)
Financing activities

Capital contributed by owner 140,000
Five-year loan from bank 150,000
Net inflow from financing activities 290,000
Increase in cash at bank over period 15,280

Table 3.8
Comparison of profit and operating cash flow for the month of September
P. Mason’s legal practice
Operating
Profit cash flow
£ £
Revenues
Fees/cash received 8,820 7,620
Expenses
Computer rental and online searches (1,500) nil
Gas (100) nil
Electricity (200) nil
Telephone/fax (1,000) nil
Salary of assistant (1,800) (1,800)
Payment for insurance premium _nil (540)
Total expenses/total cash paid 4,600 (2,340)
Net profit of the month 4,220
Increase in cash in the month o 5,280

It is quite common to compare the increase in ownership claim caused by making
a profit with the increase in the cash resources of a business caused by operations. In
this case the profit is £4,220 (Table 3.5) but the operations have added £15,280 to the
cash assets of the business.

To make the comparison, Table 3.8 takes the income statement (profit and loss
account) of Table 3.5 and sets alongside it the cash flows relating to operations.

Table 3.8 shows that the cash flow from fees was £1,200 less than the fee revenue
earned because some customers had not paid at the month end. This is the amount
shown in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) (Table 3.2) as receivables
for fees. Table 3.8 also shows that expenses of rental, gas, electricity and telephone
amounting to £2,800 in total had not been paid at the month end. These are shown as
trade payables in the statement of financial position (balance sheet). The cash flow
from operations is reduced by the payment for the insurance premium which does not
affect the income statement (profit and loss account) for the month.
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Users of financial statements regard both the profit and the cash flow as interesting
items of information. The profit shows the overall increase in ownership claim which
contributes to the overall wealth of the business. The cash flow shows the ability of the
business to survive financially through planning the timing and amount of inflows
and outflows of cash.

- 3.7 Usefulness of financial statements

Here are Leona and David, still working on Leona’s flat, discussing the usefulness of
financial statements.

Q LEONA: Which financial statement is the most important for you?

DAVID: /t has to be the income statement (profit and loss account). Profit creates wealth.
Future profit creates future wealth. | have to make a forecast of each company’s profit as
part of my planning to meet our overall investment strategy. Maybe | should qualify that by
adding that cash flow is also important, especially where there is high uncertainty about
future prospects. We talk about ‘quality of profits’ and regard some types of profit as of
higher quality than others. Cash flow support is one aspect of that quality. We have doubts
about some accounting amounts which don’t have a close relationship to cash. A business
cannot survive if it can’t pay its way.

LEONA: Where does that leave the statement of financial position?

DAVID: I’'m not sure. It is a list of resources and claims on those resources. We are share-
holders and so we have a claim on those resources but we don’t think about it to any great
extent because we are concentrating on the going concern aspects of the business, rather
than closing down and selling the assets. The numbers in the statement of financial pos-
ition don’t mean very much because they are out of date.

LEONA: We studied research at university which suggested that cash flow is the answer
and income statements (profit and loss accounts) are too difficult to understand. It was
suggested that the statement of financial position (balance sheet) should show what the
assets could be sold for. | don’t think the ideas had caught on in practice, but they seemed
to have some merits.

DAVID: / like to know the dynamics of the business. | like to see the movements of different
aspects and the interactions. | think | would feel that cash flow alone is concentrating on
only one aspect of the wealth of the business. | suppose the statement of financial position
is a useful check on the position which has been reached as a result of making profits
for the period. One thing we do look at in the statement of financial position is how much
has been borrowed for use in the business. We don'’t like to see that become too high in
comparison with the ownership interest.

LEONA: At least you are admitting to seeing something in the financial statements. | still
have to persuade you that the auditors are important in giving you the reassurance you
obviously obtain.

Activity 3.3 Analyse your own view of wealth and changes in wealth. Which items would you include
in your personal statement of financial position (balance sheet) today? Which items would
you include in your personal ‘profit or loss’ calculation for the past year? Which items
would you include in your personal statement of cash flows? Has your view of ‘wealth’
been modified as a result of reading these first three chapters? If so, how have your views
changed?
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3.8 Summary

This chapter has explained the structure of the main financial statements produced by
business and non-business entities.

Key points are:

@ An accounting period of 12 months is common for financial reporting.

e The primary financial statements produced by a wide range of entities are the state-

ment of financial position (balance sheet), the income statement (profit and loss
account) and the statement of cash flows.

A statement of financial position (balance sheet) presents financial position at a
point in time. The format of the statement of financial position (balance sheet) will
vary depending on which version of the accounting equation is preferred by the
entity preparing the statement.

An income statement (profit and loss account) presents the performance over a
period of time. The income statement (profit and loss account) presents financial
performance by matching revenue and expenses to arrive at a profit of the period.

A statement of cash flows presents the financial adaptability over a period of time.
It explains changes in the cash position over a period caused by operating cash
flows, investing cash flows and financing cash flows.

Since 2005 two different accounting systems (consisting of accounting standards
and legislation) have existed for companies in the UK, depending on the type of
company. The IASB system applies to the group financial statements of listed com-
panies. Other companies may choose voluntarily to follow the IASB system. The
UK ASB system, based on UK law and the standards of the UK ASB, applies to all
companies that do not follow the IASB system.

The accounting standards of the UK ASB are very similar to those of the IASB.

The Questions section of each chapter has three types of question. ‘Test your understanding’
questions to help you review your reading are in the ‘A’ series of questions. You will find the
answers to these by reading and thinking about the material in the book. ‘Application’ questions
to test your ability to apply technical skills are in the ‘B’ series of questions. Questions requiring
you to show skills in problem solving and evaluation are in the ‘C’ series of questions. A letter
[S] indicates that there is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding

A3.1 Explain why an accounting period of 12 months is used as the basis for reporting to

external users of financial statements. (Section 3.3)

A3.2 Explain how the structure of the statement of financial position (balance sheet) cor-

responds to the accounting equation. (Section 3.4)

A3.3 Explain how the structure of the income statement (profit and loss account) represents

a subsection of the accounting equation. (Section 3.5)

A3.4 Explain how the structure of the statement of cash flows represents another subsection

of the accounting equation. (Section 3.6)
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A3.5 List three features of a statement of financial position (balance sheet) which are
particularly useful in making the format helpful to readers. (Section 3.4.3)

A3.6 List three features of an income statement (profit and loss account) format which are
particularly useful in making the format helpful to readers. (Section 3.5.1)

A3.7 List three features of a statement of cash flows which are particularly useful in making
the format helpful to readers. (Section 3.6.1)

n Application

B3.1 [S]

John Timms is the sole owner of Sunshine Wholesale Traders, a company which buys fruit from
farmers and sells it to supermarkets. All goods are collected from farms and delivered to super-
markets on the same day, so no inventories (stocks) of fruit are held. The accounting records
of Sunshine Traders at 30 June Year 2, relating to the year then ended, have been summarised
by John Timms as follows:

£
Fleet of delivery vehicles, after deducting depreciation 35,880
Furniture and fittings, after deducting depreciation 18,800
Trade receivables 34,000
Bank deposit 19,000
Trade payables (creditors) 8,300
Sales 294,500
Cost of goods sold 188,520
Wages and salaries 46,000
Transport costs 14,200
Administration costs 1,300
Depreciation of vehicles, furniture and fittings 1,100

Required

(@) ldentify each item in the accounting records as either an asset, a liability, or ownership
interest (identifying separately the expenses and revenues which contribute to the change
in the ownership interest).

(b) Prepare a statement of financial position (balance sheet) at 30 June Year 2.

(c) Prepare an income statement (profit and loss statement) for the year ended 30 June Year 2.

B3.2 [S]
Prepare a statement of financial position (balance sheet) from the following list of assets and
liabilities, regarding the ownership interest as the missing item.

£
Trade payables (creditors) 43,000
Cash at bank 9,000
Inventories (stocks) of goods for resale 35,000
Land and buildings 95,000
Wages due to employees but not paid 2,000
Vehicles 8,000
Five-year loan from a bank 20,000

Explain how the statement of financial position (balance sheet) will change for each of the
following transactions:

(@ The wages due to the employees are paid at £2,000.

(b) One-quarter of the inventory (stock) of goods held for resale is destroyed by fire and there
is no insurance to cover the loss.

(c) Goods for resale are bought on credit at a cost of £5,000.

There are no questions in the C series for this chapter.
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Activities for study groups

Return to the annual reports your group obtained for the exercise in Chapter 1. Find the
statement of financial position (balance sheet), income statement (profit and loss account) and
statement of cash flows. Use the outline formats contained in this chapter to identify the main
areas of each of the published statements. Work together in preparing a list of features which
make the formats useful to the reader. Note also any aspects of the presentation which you
find unhelpful at this stage. (It may be useful to look back on this note at the end of the course
as a collective check on whether your understanding and awareness of annual report items
has improved.)



Supplement to Chapter 3

Using the accounting equation to
analyse transactions

In the main body of the chapter the transactions of P. Mason’s legal practice are set out in
summary form and are then presented in financial statements. This supplement goes back one
stage and looks at the transactions and events for the month of September which resulted in the
summary and financial statements shown in the chapter.

The list of transactions and events is as follows:

Sept. 1 P. Mason deposits £140,000 in a bank account to commence the busi-
ness under the name P. Mason’s legal practice.
Sept. 1 P. Mason’s legal practice borrows £150,000 from a finance business to

help with the intended purchase of a property for use as an office. The
loan is to be repaid in five years’ time.

Sept. 1 A property is purchased at a cost of £75,000 for the land and £175,000
for the buildings. The full price is paid from the bank account.

Sept. 3 Office furniture is purchased from Stylecraft at a cost of £30,000. The
full price is to be paid within 90 days.

Sept. 5 An insurance premium of £540 is paid in advance. The insurance cover
will commence on 1 October.

Sept. 8 An applicant is interviewed for a post of legal assistant. She agrees to
start work on 10 September for a salary of £24,000 per annum.

Sept. 11 Invoices are sent to some clients for work done in preparing contracts

for them. The total of the invoiced amounts is £8,820. Clients are
allowed up to 30 days to pay.

Sept. 19 Cheques received from clients in payment of invoices amount to
£7,620.

Sept. 26 Payment is made to Stylecraft for the amount due for office furniture,
£30,000.

Sept. 28 Bills are received as follows: for computer rental and online searches,
£1,500; gas, £100; electricity, £200; and telephone/fax, £1,000.

Sept. 30 Legal assistant is paid salary of £1,800 for period to end of month.

In the supplement to Chapter 2 a table was prepared, based on the account-
ing equation, showing the classification used for debit and credit bookkeeping
entries. As a reminder, the form of the equation used to derive the debit and credit
rules is:

Assets equals Liabilities plus Ownership interest

As a further reminder, the rules are set out again in Table 3.9. Each of the trans-
actions of P. Mason'’s legal practice for the month of September is now analysed in
terms of the effect on the accounting equation and the resulting debit and credit
entries which would be made in the accounting records.
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Table 3.9
Rules for debit and credit recording

Debit entries in a ledger | Credit entries in a ledger
account account

Left-hand side of the equation

Asset Increase Decrease

Right-hand side of the equation

Liability Decrease Increase

Ownership interest Expense Revenue
Capital withdrawn Capital contributed

Analysis of each transaction

Sept. 1 P. Mason deposits £140,000 in a bank account to commence the business
under the name P. Mason’s legal practice.

The business acquires an asset (cash in the bank) and an ownership interest is
created through contribution of capital.

Transaction number: 1 Debit Credit
Asset Bank £140,000
Ownership interest Capital contributed
£140,000
Sept. 1 P. Mason’s legal practice borrows £150,000 from a finance business to

help with the intended purchase of a property for use as an office. The
loan is to be repaid in five years’ time.

The business acquires an asset of cash and a long-term liability is created.

Transaction number: 2 Debit Credit
Asset Bank £150,000
Liability Long-term loan £150,000

Sept. 1 A property is purchased at a cost of £75,000 for the land and £175,000 for
the buildings. The full price is paid from the bank account.

The business acquires an asset of land and buildings (£250,000 in total) and the asset
of cash in the bank is reduced.

Transaction number: 3 Debit Credit
Asset Land and buildings Bank £250,000
£250,000

Sept. 3 Office furniture is purchased from Stylecraft at a cost of £30,000. The full
price is to be paid within 90 days.
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The business acquires an asset of furniture and also acquires a liability to pay the
supplier, Stylecraft. The liability is called a trade payable (creditor).

Transaction number: 4 Debit Credit
Asset Furniture £30,000
Liability Trade payable (Stylecraft)
£30,000
Sept. 5 An insurance premium of £540 is paid in advance. The insurance cover

will commence on 1 October.

The business acquires an asset of prepaid insurance (the benefit of cover exists in
the future) and the asset of cash at bank is reduced.

Transaction number: 5 Debit Credit

Asset Prepayment £540 Bank £540

Sept. 8  An applicant is interviewed for a post of legal assistant. She agrees to
start work on 10 September for a salary of £24,000 per annum.

The successful outcome of the interview is an event and there is an expected future
benefit from employing the new legal assistant. The employee will be controlled by
the organisation through a contract of employment. The organisation has a commit-
ment to pay her the agreed salary. It could be argued that the offer of employment,
and acceptance of that offer, create an asset of the human resource and a liability
equal to the future salary. That does not happen because the recognition conditions
are applied and it is felt too risky to recognise an asset when there is insufficient
evidence of the future benefit. Commercial prudence dictates that it is preferable
to wait until the employee has done some work and pay her at the end of the month
for work done during the month. The accounting process is similarly prudent and
no accounting recognition takes place until the payment has occurred. Even then it is
the expense of the past which is recognised, rather than the asset of benefit for the
future.

Sept. 11 Invoices are sent to some clients showing fees due for work done in
preparing contracts for them. The total of the invoiced amounts is
£8,820. Clients are allowed up to 30 days to pay.

Earning fees is the main activity of the legal practice. Earning fees makes the owner
better off and is an example of the more general activity of increasing the ownership
interest by creating revenue. The clients have not yet paid and therefore the business
has an asset called a trade receivable (debtor).

Transaction number: 6 Debit Credit
Asset Trade receivables £8,820
Ownership interest Fees for work done £8,820
(revenue)
Sept. 19 Cheques received from clients in payment of invoices amount to

£7,620.
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When the customers pay, the amount due to the business from debtors will be
decreased. So the asset of trade receivables decreases and the asset of cash in the bank

increases.
Transaction number: 7 Debit Credit
Asset Bank £7,620 Trade receivables £7,620
Sept. 26 Payment is made to Stylecraft for the amount due for office furniture,

£30,000.

The asset of cash in the bank decreases and the liability to Stylecraft decreases to nil.

Transaction number: 8 Debit Credit
Asset Bank £30,000
Liability Trade payable (Stylecraft)
£30,000
Sept. 28 Bills are received as follows: for computer rental and online searches,
£1,500; gas, £100; electricity, £200; and telephone/fax £1,000 (total
£2,800).

The computer rental, online searches, gas, electricity and telephone have been used
up during the period and are all expenses which reduce the ownership interest. They
are unpaid and, therefore, a liability is recorded.

Transaction number: 9 Debit Credit
Liability Trade payables £2,800
Ownership interest Expenses £2,800

Sept. 30 Legal assistant is paid salary of £1,800 for period to end of month.

The asset of cash at bank decreases and the salary paid to the legal assistant is an
expense of the month.

Transaction number: 10 Debit Credit
Asset Bank £1,800
Ownership interest Expense £1,800

Summarising the debit and credit entries

The formal system of bringing together debit and credit entries is based on ledger
accounts. These are explained in the supplement to Chapter 5. For the present it will
be sufficient to use a spreadsheet (Table 3.10) to show how the separate debit and
credit entries analysed in this supplement lead to the list of items used in the main part
of the chapter as the basis for the financial statements presented there.

In the spreadsheet there are dates which correspond to the dates of the foregoing
ten separate analyses of transactions. The debit and credit entries are shown with
Dr or Cr alongside to distinguish them. For each column all the debit entries are totalled
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Activity 3.4

and all the credit entries are totalled separately. The surplus of debits over credits (or
credits over debits) is calculated and shown in the final line. This allows a summarised
list to be prepared as shown in Table 3.11.

A spreadsheet is useful where there are not too many entries, but ledger accounts
become essential when the volume of information increases.

Table 3.11
Summary of debit and credit entries for each category of asset, liability and
ownership interest

Debit Credit
£ £

Assets
Land and buildings 250,000
Office furniture 30,000
Trade receivables (debtors) 1,200
Prepayment 540
Cash at bank 15,280
Liabilities
Trade payables (creditors) 2,800
Long-term loan 150,000
Ownership interest
Revenue 8,820
Expenses 4,600
Capital contributed 140,000
Totals 301,620 301,620

Note: The totals of each column have no particular meaning, but they should always
be equal because of the symmetry of the debit and credit records, and so are useful as
an arithmetic check that no item has been omitted or recorded incorrectly.

Turning the spreadsheet back to a vertical listing, using the debit column for items
where the debits exceed the credits, and using the credit column for items where
the credits exceed the debits, the list becomes as in Table 3.11. You will see that
this list is the basis of the information provided about P. Mason’s legal practice in
the main body of the chapter, except that the debit and credit notation was not used
there.

The most serious problem faced by most students, once they have understood the basic
approach, is that of making errors. Look back through this Supplement and think about
the errors which might have been made. What type of error would be detected by finding
totals in Table 3.11 which were not in agreement? What type of error would not be
detected in this way because the totals would be in agreement despite the error? Types
of error will be dealt with in the supplement to Chapter 5.
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B Test your understanding

S3.1 [S] Analyse the debit and credit aspect of each transaction listed at (a), (b) and (c) of
question B3.2.

S3.2 Prepare a spreadsheet similar to that presented in Table 3.10, setting out on the first
line the items contained in the list of assets and liabilities of question B3.2 and then on
lines 2, 3 and 4 adding in the transactions (a), (b) and (c). Calculate the totals of each
column of the spreadsheet and show that the accounting equation remains equal on
both sides.
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Ensuring the quality of financial statements

REAL WORLD CASE

Main reasons accounts are rejected by
Companies House

The extracts provided in this case indicate
different ways in which the quality of financial
statements is ensured.

Common errors

The main reasons given for rejection of accounts
by Companies House are:

Shutterstock.com/John Kwan

® incorrect or missing statements, i.e. wrongly
stating that the accounts have been prepared
according to the relevant legislation;

@ audit exemption statements missing or incorrect;

e duplicate made up date i.e., accounts show same date as previously filed accounts;
@ signatory name missing off balance sheet or balance sheet signature omitted; and
@ accounting reference date/made up date absent or incorrect.

Source: Extract from Rejected Accounts: Common reasons for accounts being rejected by Companies House & how to avoid them.
Financial Reporting Faculty, Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW 2010). Financial Reporting Faculty 2010.

Going concern

In June 2012 the Sharman Panel of Inquiry published its final report and recommendations on Going
concern and liquidity risks; lessons for companies and auditors. Its recommendations include the
reporting of going concern status:

Recommendation 4

The Panel recommends that, in taking forward its work on reporting under the ECS [Engaging
Company Stewardship initiative], the FRC should move away from a model where disclosures
about going concern risks are only highlighted when there are significant doubts about the entity’s
survival, to one which integrates going concern reporting with the ECS proposals through seeking
to ensure that:

a) the discussion of strategy and principal risks always includes, in the context of that discussion,
the directors’ going concern statement and how they arrived at it; and

b) the audit committee report illustrates the effectiveness of the process undertaken by the
directors to evaluate going concern by:
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i. confirming that a robust risk assessment has been made; and
ii. commenting on or cross-referring to information on the material risks to going concern which
have been considered and, where applicable, how they have been addressed;

and recommends that the FRC should amend the standards and guidance for directors and auditors
accordingly when the ECS proposals have been finalised.

Source: Extract from The Sharman Inquiry Group. Going concern and liquidity risks: lessons for companies and auditors. Final report
(Sharman 2012) Financial Reporting Council, ‘© Financial Reporting Council (FRC). Adapted and Reproduced with the kind permission
of the Financial Reporting Council. All rights reserved. For further information please visit www.frc.org.uk or call +44(0)207 492 2300.

Discussion points
1 Which regulatory bodies and processes are mentioned in these extracts?

2 Would you expect to be assured about the going concern status of any company accounts that are
accepted for filing at Companies House?
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Learning

outcomes

4.1

4.2

After studying this chapter you should be able to:

e List and explain the qualitative characteristics desirable in financial statements.
® Explain the approach to measurement used in financial statements.

@ Explain why there is more than one view on the role of prudence in accounting.
°

Understand and explain how and why financial reporting is regulated or
influenced by external authorities.

® Be aware of the process by which financial statements are reviewed by an
investor.

Introduction

The previous chapter used the accounting equation as a basis for explaining the struc-
ture of financial statements. It showed that design of formats for financial statements
is an important first step in creating an understandable story from a list of accounting
data.

The IASB'’s stated objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide
financial information about the reporting entity that is useful to existing and potential
investors, lenders and other creditors in making decisions about providing resources
to the entity. Those decisions involve buying, selling or holding equity and debt
instruments, and providing or settling loans and other forms of credit. Critics of this
objective argue for information being useful to a wide range of users in making
economic decisions. The IASB’s response is that meeting the needs of investors and
lenders is likely to meet the needs of other users also.'

Information about financial position is provided in a statement of financial pos-
ition (balance sheet). Information about performance is provided in an income state-
ment (profit and loss account).” Information about changes in the cash position is
provided in a statement of cash flows. These three statements were explained in
outline in Chapter 3. Information about changes in equity is also provided in a separate
statement, described in Chapter 12. Notes to the financial statements provide additional
information relevant to the needs of users. These notes may include information about
risks and uncertainties relating to assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.’

Qualitative characteristics of financial statements

The IASB Conceptual Framework sets out qualitative characteristics that make the infor-
mation provided in financial statements useful to users. The two fundamental quali-
tative characteristics are:

® relevance
e faithful representation.

The fundamental qualitative characteristics of relevance and faithful representation
have further component characteristics:

® relevance
— predictive value
— confirmatory value
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o faithful representation
— neutrality
- freedom from error
— completeness.

A general quality of materiality applies across these fundamental characteristics.
There are four further characteristics which are described as ‘enhancing qualitative
characteristics’. These are:

comparability
verifiability
timeliness
understandability.

Each of these characteristics is now described.

421 Relevance®

Financial information is relevant if it is capable of making a difference in the decisions
made by users. Even when users already know the information, or they receive the
information but choose not to use it, it is still capable of making a difference. Preparers
do not have to show that the information actually did make a difference. The infor-
mation is capable of making a difference if it has predictive value, or confirmatory
value, or both.

Predictive value®

Financial information has predictive value if it can be used as an input to processes
employed by users to predict future outcomes. The information could be a forecast
provided by the user. Alternatively it could be information that others, such as
investors or financial analysts, use as input data for their own predictions.

Confirmatory value’

Financial information has confirmatory value if it provides feedback about (confirms
or changes) previous evaluations.

Example

A company provides information about revenue (sales) in its income statement.
Investors use this information to predict future trends of revenue for that company.
Based on these predictions the investors buy shares in the company. In subsequent
years the company provides further information about revenue. The investors are able
to confirm the predictions they made previously. Information about revenue (sales) is
therefore relevant information.

4.2.2 Faithful representation®

To be useful, financial information must faithfully represent the economic phenomena
that it purports to represent. The use of the words ‘economic phenomena’ sounds
scary — a single phenomenon is worrying enough but several pheonomena together
sound worse. The easiest way to think of this is to substitute for ‘economic phenomena’
the wording ‘economic events that can be observed’. An economic event could be a
transaction, such as where an asset is purchased for cash. An economic event could be
a change in value, such as where a plot of land falls in value through contamination
being discovered. Financial information can be used to report both of those economic
events.
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4.2.3

424

Faithful representation ideally requires the financial information to have three
characteristics. It will be complete, neutral and free from error. The IASB acknowl-
edges that perfection is seldom, if ever, achievable.

Complete®

A complete depiction includes all information necessary for a user to understand what
is being reported. This includes the words used to describe the item, and any notes of
explanation that help the reader to understand. We will see in later chapters that words
and numbers in financial statements are often supported by explanations and notes.

Neutral™

Financial information that is neutral has no bias in the selection or presentation of
that information. The Conceptual Framework says that a neutral depiction of financial
information is not slanted, weighted, emphasised, de-emphasised or otherwise manipu-
lated to increase the probability that such formation will be received favourably or
unfavourably by users. It uses the word ‘depiction” to cover words as well as numbers
and also the location and prominence of information. Preparers who want to give a
favourable information might consistently choose the upper end of range of estimated
values. Even if there was no bias in the valuation, preparers might use confusing
words, or different sized fonts, or different colours, to distract users away from bad
news information. Actions of these kinds could lead to bias and non-neutral depiction.

Free from error’

‘Free from error’ means there are no errors or omissions in the description of the phenom-
enon, and the process used to produce the reported information has been selected
and applied with no errors in the process. It does not mean the financial statements are
totally accurate. Preparers should make their best efforts but they will not have cer-
tainty about all economic events. There may be a list of accounts receivable (customers
given credit who have not yet paid). It is likely that some of the accounts receivable
will not be received but all the preparer can do is make an estimate for non-recovery.
Equipment depreciates in value but the preparer can only estimate depreciation. It
cannot be measured with total accuracy.

Materiality'?

Information is material if omitting it or misstating it could influence decisions that
users make on the basis of financial formation about a specific reporting entity. The
measure of materiality is specific to the entity and is linked to relevance. The IASB
does not specify a quantitative threshold for materiality and does not provide any
specific guidance. It is for preparers of financial information to decide what is material
when they prepare that information.

For example, it might be the case that in the statement of financial position (balance
sheet) a company gives separate headings for inventory of raw materials and inven-
tory of work-in-progress. This is because the company knows that investors and
lenders are interested in the materially different types of risk attached to these two
types of inventory. However the inventory of finished goods is given as a single item
with no separation into the types of finished goods. That is because the company
knows that investors see no material differences of risk in the types of finished goods;
it is the overall amount that is of material interest.

Enhancing qualitative characteristics

The enhancing qualitative characteristics are: comparability; verifiability; timeliness;
and understandability.
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Comparability'

Comparability enables users to identify and understand similarities in, and differences
among, items. Consistency refers to the use of the same methods for the same items,
either from period to period within a reporting entity or in a single period across en-
tities. Comparability is the goal; consistency helps to achieve that goal. Does this mean
that everything has to be treated in exactly the same way? The Conceptual Framework
notes that comparability is not uniformity. For information to be comparable, like
things must look alike and different things must look different. Comparability is not
enhanced by making unlike things look alike any more than it is enhanced by making
like things look different.

To test this idea, find statements of financial position for two companies. Com-
pare the way in which non-current assets are reported. Can you see similarities?
Can you see differences? Do you think the financial statements meet the test of
comparability?

Verifiability'

Verifiability means that different knowledgeable and independent observers could
reach consensus (broad agreement), although not necessarily complete agreement,
that a particular depiction is a faithful representation. Direct verification is usually
carried out by auditors on behalf of investors. Auditors have access to information
underlying the financial statements. Other users might verify information by reference
to other external sources or by comparisons. Preparers can help users by disclosing the
assumptions on which financial information is based.

Timeliness'®

Timeliness means having information available to decision-makers in time to be cap-
able of influencing their decisions. Generally, the older the information is the less
useful it is. However, some information may continue to be timely long after the end
of a reporting period because, for example, some users may need to identify and
assess trends. You will see in company annual reports that there are tables of 5-year
trends as well as the most recent financial information. National regulators know that
timeliness is important and often impose time deadlines for reporting, particularly
where companies have a stock market listing.

Understandability '

Financial information is understandable if it is presented clearly and concisely, using
recognisable classification and descriptions. That seems obvious but the Conceptual
Framework makes it explicit. There is also a warning that complex transactions may be
difficult to understand because they are complex. Financial information cannot take
away that type of complexity. All it can do is try to make the complexity understandable
by clear descriptions. One very significant assumption in the Conceptual Framework is
that users have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and will
review and analyse the information diligently. Even then such persons may some-
times need to take advice on complex matters.

4.2.5 Cost constraint on useful financial reporting'’

Reporting financial information imposes costs, and it is important that those costs
are justified by the benefits of reporting that information. The cost to preparers is
eventually born by investors in reduced profits. The benefits are seen in more efficient
operation of the capital markets. The standard setter has to balance such costs and
benefits in developing accounting standards.
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4.2.6

Other characteristics of financial information

When the IASB revised its Conceptual Framework in 2010 it omitted some character-
istics that appeared in the original 1989 version. However you may still find these
terms used in discussion of accounting. In particular you may hear about prudence,
reliability and substance over form. In all three cases, during the discussion stage
leading to the 2010 Conceptual Framework there were some strong objections to the
omission. The reasons given for omission are explained in the following sections.

Prudence'

The preparers of financial statements have to contend with uncertainty surrounding
many events and circumstances. The existence of uncertainties is recognised by the
disclosure of their nature and extent and by the exercise of prudence in the preparation
of the financial statements. Prudence is the inclusion of a degree of caution in the
exercise of the judgements needed in making the estimates required under conditions
of uncertainty, such that gains and assets are not overstated and losses and liabilities
are not understated.

This guidance was provided in the 1989 version of the IASB Framework. It has been
removed from the 2010 version because the standard setters concluded that describ-
ing prudence or conservatism as a qualitative characteristic or a desirable response to
uncertainty would conflict with the quality of neutrality. They felt that encouraging
preparers to be prudent was likely to lead to a bias in the reported financial position
and financial performance. Introducing biased understatement of assets (or overstate-
ment of liabilities) in one period frequently leads to overstating financial performance
in later periods — a result that cannot be described as prudent.”

Reliability*
In the IASB Framework (1989) reliability was defined as:

Information has the quality of reliability when it is free from material error and bias and can
be depended upon by users to represent faithfully that which it either purports to represent
or could reasonably be expected to represent.

This characteristic sat alongside reliability as a principal characteristic. It has been
replaced in the 2010 version by ‘faithful representation’. The standard setters explained
that when they consulted on the changes they found different respondents had dif-
ferent interpretations of ‘reliability’. Some thought it meant freedom from error,
others thought it meant verifiability. The standard setters tried to clarify the meaning
of reliability but eventually concluded that ‘faithful representation’ gave the clearest
understanding of what reliability is intended to mean.”

Substance over form?

The IASB Framework (1989) made clear that if information is to meet the test of faithful
representation, then the method of accounting must reflect the substance of the econ-
omic reality of the transaction and not merely its legal form.

For example, a company has sold its buildings to a bank to raise cash and then pays
rent for the same buildings for the purpose of continued occupation. The company
carries all the risks and problems (such as repairs and insurance) that an owner would
carry. One view is that the commercial substance of that sequence of transactions is
comparable to retaining ownership. Another view is that the legal form of the trans-
action is a sale. The characteristic of substance over form requires that the information
in the financial statements should show the commercial substance of the situation.

This characteristic is omitted in the 2010 Conceptual Framework because the standard
setters think that any attempt to represent legal form in a way that differs from the
economic substance of the underlying economic phenomenon could not result in a
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faithful representation. Accordingly, it is not necessary to be explicit. To state that sub-
stance over form is a component of faithful representation would be like repeating the
same idea.”

4.3 Measurement in financial statements

You have seen in Chapter 2, sections 2.5 and 2.8, that the recognition of assets and
liability requires reliability of measurement. You have seen in Chapter 3 the methods
of presentation of accounting information containing numbers that represent measure-
ment. We now need to know more about the accounting measurement principles
that establish reliability and about the disclosure of information that allows users of
financial statements to understand the measurement process.

The accounting measurement principles that are most widely known in the UK are
found within the Companies Act 2006:**

going concern
accruals
consistency
prudence.

The IASB Conceptual Framework refers to the accrual basis as a means of reflecting
financial performance and to going concern as an ‘underlying assumption’ in the
preparation of financial statements. Prudence is not discussed. Consistency is an
aspect of comparability.

4.3.1 Going concern

Definition  The financial statements are normally prepared on the assumption that an entity is a going
concern and will continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Hence, it is assumed
that the entity has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the
scale of its operations; if such an intention or need exists the financial statements may
have to be prepared on a different basis and, if so, the basis used is disclosed.?®

The UK Companies Act statement on going concern is rather like a crossword clue,
in being short and enigmatic. It states: “The company shall be presumed to be carrying
on business as a going concern.’

The Financial Reporting Council provides a practical guide for directors in Going
Concern and Liquidity Risk: Guidance for Directors of UK Companies 2009, published in
October 2009. It took effect for accounting periods ending on or after 31 December
2009. The guidance is based on three principles covering: the process which directors
should follow when assessing going concern; the period covered by the assessment;
and the disclosures on going concern and liquidity risk. The guidance applies to all
companies and in particular addresses the statement about going concern that must be
made by directors of listed companies in their annual report and accounts.

Directors should plan their assessment of going concern as early as practicable
including deciding on the processes, procedures, information, analyses and board
papers that will be needed. These plans should also address the evidence to be
obtained, including identifying any potential remedial actions that may need to be
addressed, to support their conclusion prior to their approval of the annual or half-
yearly financial statements.

The practical effect will usually be that directors of UK companies will adopt
a review period of not less than 12 months from the date of approval of annual and
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4.3.2

Definition

4.3.3

half-yearly financial statements but, in rare cases, when they do not they should
explain why.

Directors of listed companies incorporated in the UK are required by the Listing
Rules to include in their annual financial report a statement that the business is a going
concern, together with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary, that has
been prepared in accordance with the Guidance.

The auditor is required to consider the disclosures about going concern and liquidity
risk made in the financial statements. If the auditor concludes that the disclosures
are not adequate to meet the requirements of accounting standards and CA 2006,
including the need for financial statements to give a true and fair view, the auditor is
required to qualify its opinion and to provide its reasons for doing so.

A major inquiry into going concern issues produced its final report in 2012 (the
Sharman Report). It recommends greater prominence of discussions of business risk
considered in the going concern evaluation.

Accruals (also called ‘matching’)

Accrual accounting depicts the effects of transactions and other events and
circumstances on a reporting entity’s economic resources and claims in the periods
in which those effects occur, even if the resulting cash receipts and payments occur
in a different period. This is important because information about a reporting entity’s
economic resources and claims and changes in its economic resources and claims
during a period provides a better basis for assessing the entity’s past and future
performance than information solely about cash receipts and payments during that
period.?®

Financial statements prepared on the accruals basis are useful for stewardship pur-
poses because they report past transactions and events but are also helpful to users for
forward-looking information because they show obligations to pay cash in the future
and resources that represent cash to be received in the future.

The UK Companies Act explains the accruals concept as a requirement that all
income and charges (i.e. expenses) relating to the financial year shall be taken into
account, without regard to the date of receipt or payment.

The word “accrue’ means ‘to fall due” or ‘to come as a natural result’. If, during a
year, a company sells £100m of goods but collects only £80m from customers, it
records sales as £100m in the profit and loss account. The cash yet to be collected from
customers is reported as an asset called ‘debtor” in the statement of financial position
(balance sheet). If, during the year, it uses electricity costing £50m but has only paid
£40m so far, it records the expense of £50m in the profit and loss account. The unpaid
electricity bill is reported as a liability called ‘accruals’” in the statement of financial
position (balance sheet).

The idea of matching is also used in applying the idea of accruals. Matching has two
forms, matching losses or gains against time and matching expenses against revenue.
Time matching occurs when a gain or loss is spread over the relevant period of time,
such as receiving interest on a loan or paying rent on a property. Matching of revenues
and expenses occurs when costs such as labour are matched against the revenue
earned from providing goods or services.

Consistency

Consistency is described in the IASB Conceptual Framework as an aspect of compar-
ability (see section 4.2.4). The UK Companies Act requires that accounting policies shall
be applied consistently within the same accounts and from one period to the next.



Chapter 4 Ensuring the quality of financial statements m

4.3.4 Prudence

The Companies Act does not define prudence but uses the word prudent in relation
to measurement. It requires that the amount of any item shall be determined on a
prudent basis, and in particular:

(a) only profits realised at the date of the financial year-end shall be included in the
profit and loss account; and

(b) all liabilities and losses which have arisen or are likely to arise in respect of the
financial year shall be taken into account, including those which only become
apparent between the date of the financial year-end and the date on which it is
signed by the board of directors.

The UK ASB has said that decisions about recognition of income or assets and of
expenses or liabilities require evidence of existence and reliability of measurement.
Stronger evidence and greater reliability of measurement are required for assets and
gains than for liabilities and losses.”

4.3.5 Realisation

There is no clear statement of the conditions that will make a profit realised. It is not
specifically defined in the IASB system. It is an example of an idea that is so widely
used that it appears to be almost impossible to explain. If you turn to a dictionary you
will find ‘realise’ equated to ‘convert into cash’. The accounting standard FRS 18%
confirms that it is the general view that profits shall be treated as realised when
evidenced in the form of cash or other assets whose cash realisation is reasonably
certain. However, the standard avoids linking realisation to ‘prudence’, explaining
that a focus on cash does not reflect more recent developments in financial markets.
Evidence of ‘reasonable certainty” in such markets does not necessarily require cash. It
is based on confidence in the reliable operation of the market.

Activity 4.1 Take a piece of paper having two wide columns. Head the left-hand column ‘My thoughts
on measurement in accounting’ and head the right-hand column ‘What the book tells me
about measurement’. Fill in both columns and then exchange your paper with a fellow
student. Discuss with each other any similarities and differences in the left-hand column
and relate these to your personal views and prior experience. Discuss with each other
any similarities and differences in the right-hand column and evaluate the extent to which
different people see books differently. Finally, discuss with each other the extent to which
reading this section has changed your views on measurement as a subject in accounting.

- 4.4 Views on prudence

The Companies Act 2006 makes an explicit link between prudence and realisation
that reflects UK accounting practice when the previous Companies Act 1985 was
written. The IASB’s Conceptual Framework avoids mentioning realisation. From the UK
ASB, the standard FRS 18 acknowledges the meaning of realisation but breaks the link
between realisation and prudence.” It appears that FRS 18 has not changed the
entrenched conservatism of accounting practice which tends towards understatement
on grounds of caution. Where does that leave the student of accounting who wants to
understand the meaning of prudence?

The most important message for students of accounting (and for many practitioners)
has been expressed as follows:
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Activity 4.2

the exercise of prudence does not allow . . . the deliberate understatement of assets or income,
or the deliberate overstatement of liabilities or expenses, because the financial statements
would not be neutral and, therefore, not have the quality of reliability.*

Why are there different views on understatement and overstatement, depending on
the item being reported? Here is your first chance to use the accounting equation to
solve a problem:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Capital contributed/withdrawn plus Profit

Profit equals Revenue minus Expenses

Ask yourself what will happen to profit in the accounting equation if the amount of an
asset is increased while the liabilities and the capital contributed remain the same. Then
ask yourself what will happen to profit in the accounting equation if the amount of a
liability is decreased while the assets and the capital contributed remain the same. Next
ask yourself what will happen to profit if revenue is overstated. Finally ask yourself what
will happen to profit if expenses are understated.

Assuming that capital contributed /withdrawn remains constant, overstating assets
will overstate profit. Understating liabilities will overstate profit. Overstating revenue
will overstate profit. Understating expenses will overstate profit.

Examples

A market trader buys £100 of stock on credit, promising to pay the supplier at the end
of the day. The trader sells three-quarters of the stock at a price of £90 and takes the
rest home to keep for next week’s market. At the end of the day the trader has £90 in
cash, one-quarter of the stock which cost £25, and owes £100 to the supplier. How
much profit has the trader made? The answer is that the profit is £15 (£90 received for
the sale of stock less the cost of the items sold, £75, being three-quarters of the stock
purchased). The accounting equation is:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest at the start of the
at the end of the period period plus Capital contributed/
withdrawn plus Revenue of the period
minus Expenses of the period

stock £25 + cash £90 — equals nil + nil + revenue £90 — expenses £75
liability £100

£15 equals £15

1 Supposing the trader ‘forgets’ part of the liability and thinks it is only £84 owing,
rather than £100. The assets remain at stock £25 + cash £90, which equals £115.
The liability is now thought to be £84 and therefore the equation becomes:

£25 + £90 — £84 equals nil + nil + revenue £90 — expenses £75
+ [?] £16 [?]

£31 equals £31

For the equation to be satisfied there must be a total of £31 on both sides. The total
of £31 is therefore written in. The recorded profit is still only £15, calculated as
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revenue £90 minus expenses £75, so there is a ‘hole” amounting to £16 on the right-
hand side of the equation. The accounting equation has to balance so the extra £16
is written in, surrounded by question marks, on the right-hand side. It is assumed
on the right-hand side that the trader has either forgotten to record revenue of £16
or has recorded too much expense, so that the amount appears to represent an
unexplained profit. Thus understating a liability will overstate profit. That favourable
news might mislead a competitor or investor. It might be bad news when HMRC
demands tax on profit of £31. Also there is the unpaid supplier who may not be
entirely patient when offered £84 rather than £100.

2 Supposing instead that the trader ‘forgets’ there is some unsold inventory left. The
only recorded asset would be the cash at £90 and there would be a liability of £100.
This gives negative net assets of (£10) and, because the accounting equation has to
balance, suggests that there is a ‘forgotten’ expense of £25 on the right-hand side.
The equation then becomes:

£90 — £100 equals nil + nil + £90 — £75 — [?] £25 [?]
(£10) equals (£10)

This would cause HMRC to ask a lot of questions as to why there was no record
of stock remaining, because they know that omitting inventory from the record is a
well-tried means of fraudulently reducing profits and therefore reducing tax bills.
Understating an asset will understate profit.

These two examples have illustrated the meaning of the warning that deliberate
understatement or overstatement is not acceptable. The general message of prudence
is: avoid overstating profit. In down-to-earth terms, don’t raise the readers’ hopes too
high, only to have to tell them later that it was all in the imagination.

Regulation of financial reporting

Because the external users of accounting information do not have day-to-day access to
the records of the business, they rely on the integrity and judgement of management
to provide suitable information of a high quality. But will the management be honest,
conscientious and careful in providing information? In an ideal world there should be
no problem for investors in a company because, as shareholders, they appoint the
directors and may dismiss them if dissatisfied with the service provided. However,
the world is not ideal. Some companies are very large and they have many share-
holders whose identity changes as shares are bought and sold. Over the years it has
been found that regulation is needed, particularly for financial reporting by com-
panies. The general regulation of companies in the UK is provided by parliamentary
legislation, through the Companies Act 2006.

However, since 2005 the regulation of financial reporting by UK companies has
taken two separate routes depending on the type of company.

The group financial statements of listed companies must comply with the IAS
Regulation set by the European Commission. The IAS Regulation takes precedence
over the relevant sections of the Companies Act. The IAS Regulation was issued
in 2002, requiring listed group financial statements from 2005 to apply approved
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) (previously called International
Accounting Standards, IAS). The UK government subsequently permitted individual
companies and non-listed groups to choose to apply IFRS. Any companies not taking
up this choice must continue to apply the relevant sections of the Companies Act and
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4.5.1

4.5.2

follow the accounting standards set by the UK Accounting Council (previously called
the Accounting Standards Board (ASB)). Other organisations that are not companies
(such as sole traders, partnership, public sector bodies) have to look to the regulations
that govern their operations to decide which accounting guidance to follow.

So how can we tell which accounting system has been applied in any situation?
Look first for the audit report, if there is one. That will include a paragraph starting
‘In our opinion’. In that paragraph the auditors will specify the accounting system
on which their opinion is based. If there is no auditors’ report, look for the Note on
Accounting Policies. There will usually be a paragraph stating the accounting system
that has been applied.

The IAS Regulation

In 2002 the European Commission issued the IAS Regulation which took effect from
1 January 2005. Its purpose is to harmonise the financial information presented
by public listed companies in order to ensure a high degree of transparency and
comparability of financial statements. The Regulation is relatively short but has been
extended and clarified by a trail of subsequent documents. The European Commission
publishes all documents on its website™ in the languages of all member states but that
is more detail than is necessary for a first-year course.

A Regulation is directly applicable in member states. It has a higher status than a
Directive, which is an instruction to member states on the content of their national
laws. Before the Regulation was issued, the company law of member states was
harmonised by following the Fourth and Seventh Directives on company law. Com-
panies in member states did not need to know the Directives because the national
company law applied the Directives. Now that the IAS Regulation is directly applicable,
member states must ensure that they do not seek to apply to a company any additional
elements of national law that are contrary to, conflict with or restrict a company’s
compliance with IASs.

The Commission decides on the applicability of IFRS within the Community. It is
assisted by an Accounting Regulatory Committee and is advised by a technical group
called the European Financial Reporting and Accounting Group (EFRAG).” The tests
for adoption of IFRS are that the standards:

(a) do not contradict specific principles of the Fourth and Seventh Directive,

(b) are conducive to the European public good, and

(c) meet the criteria of understandability, relevance, reliability and comparability
required of financial information needed for making economic decisions and
assessing the stewardship of management.

A standard that is adopted is said to be endorsed. If a standard is awaiting endorse-
ment, or is rejected, it may be used as guidance if it is not inconsistent with endorsed
standards. If a rejected standard is in conflict with adopted standards, it may not be
used. When the European Commission first announced the endorsement process there
were fears expressed that this would be used to create ‘European IFRS’ by selecting
some IFRS and rejecting others. The Commission’s reply was that the EU cannot give its
powers to a body (the IASB) that is not subject to EU jurisdiction, and it is necessary
for the EU to endorse standards as part of its duty in setting laws for member states.

UK company law

Companies Act 2006

The Companies Act 2006 sets many rules to protect those investing in companies and
to guide those operating companies. Parts of the Act cover the information presented
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in financial statements. For companies and other organisations that do not follow the
IAS Regulation, the Companies Act 2006, by means of Statutory Instruments, pre-
scribes formats of presentation of the statement of financial position (balance sheet)
and profit and loss account. Companies must select one of the permitted formats.
It also prescribes methods of valuation of the assets and liabilities contained in the
statement of financial position (balance sheet), broadly expecting that normally these
items will be recorded at their cost at the date of acquisition, subject to diminutions in
value since that date. Some other approaches to valuation are permitted, but these are
carefully regulated and are subject to requirements for prudence, consistency and an
expectation that the business is a going concern (i.e. will continue for some time into
the future). The UK legislation places strong emphasis on the requirement to present
a true and fair view in financial statements.

Since the early 1980s company law on financial reporting has been harmonised with
that of other Member States in the EU through the Fourth and Seventh Directives of
the EU (see Chapter 7).

The directors are responsible for the preparation of company accounts. Exhibit 4.1
(see p. 90) sets out the statement made by directors of one major public company
regarding their responsibilities in these matters. This type of statement will be found
in the annual reports of most of the large listed companies. It is regarded as an import-
ant aspect of giving reassurance to investors and others that there is a strong system
of corporate governance within the company. It is also intended to clarify any mis-
understandings the shareholders may have about the work of directors as distinct
from the work of the auditors (see below).

The Companies (Audit, Investigations and Community Enterprise) Act, 2004 made
changes intended to improve the reliability of financial reporting, the independ-
ence of auditors and disclosure to auditors. In particular it required a statement to
be inserted in the directors’ report confirming that there is no relevant infor-
mation that has not been disclosed to the auditors. The role of the Financial Reporting
Review Panel was strengthened by giving it new powers to require documents. HM
Revenue and Customs was authorised to pass information about companies to the
FRRP.

4.5.3 The Financial Reporting Council*®

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) describes itself as the UK’s independent regu-
lator responsible for promoting high quality corporate governance and reporting to
foster investment. It is recognised in its regulatory role by the UK government’s
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills. The government effectively delegates
responsibility to an independent body but maintains close interest in the strategy and
operations of the FRC.

There was a major restructuring of the FRC in July 2012. This section describes the
new structure but also refers to the previous structure to explain terms that you may
still encounter.

The FRC carries out a range of roles. Most relevant to this textbook is that it moni-
tors and enforces accounting and auditing standards. It promotes high standards of
corporate governance through the UK Corporate Governance Code. It sets standards
for corporate reporting and actuarial practice. It also oversees the regulatory activities
of the professional accountancy bodies and the actuarial profession and operates inde-
pendent disciplinary arrangements for public interest cases involving accountants and
actuaries.

The FRC is an independent body governed by a Board whose members are drawn
from a wide range of business expertise.

The structure is summarised in Figure 4.1. Aspects of the FRC’s work relevant to
financial reporting are then described in this section.
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Codes and S.tandards Executive Committee Conduct Committee
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Figure 4.1
Structure of the Financial Reporting Council

Source: http://frc.org.uk/About the FRC/FRC Structure.aspx ‘© Financial Reporting Council (FRC)’. Adapted and reproduced
with the kind permission of the Financial Reporting Council. All rights reserved. For further information, please visit frc.org.uk
or call +44(0)207 492 2300.

Accounting role

One role of the FRC is to issue UK accounting standards. UK Accounting standards
apply to all companies, and other entities that prepare accounts that are intended to
provide a true and fair view, unless International Financial Reporting standards apply.
IFRS apply to companies listed on a Stock Exchange.

The FRC took over this standard-setting role in July 2012. Until then it was carried
out by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) as a subsidiary of the FRC. The ASB had
previously taken over the task of setting accounting standards from the Accounting
Standards Committee (ASC) in 1990. Accounting standards formerly developed by the
Accounting Standards Board are contained in ‘Financial Reporting Standards’ (FRSs).
The ASB adopted the standards issued by the ASC, which are designated ‘Statements
of Standard Accounting Practice’ (SSAPs). Whilst some of the SSAPs have been super-
seded by FRSs, some remain in force.

The FRC also collaborates with accounting standard-setters from other countries
and with the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). In this way the FRC
seeks to influence the development of international standards and to ensure that its
own standards are developed with due regard to international developments.

Codes and Standards Committee

The Codes and Standards Committee is responsible for advising the FRC Board on
maintaining an effective framework of UK codes and standards for Corporate Govern-
ance, Stewardship, Accounting, Auditing and Assurance, and Actuarial technical
standards. For this textbook the most important functions of this committee relate to
accounting standards and audit and assurance standards.

Accounting Council

As explained above, in July 2012, the Accounting Council replaced the UK’s Accounting
Standards Board, which had been in place since 1990. It does not have the standard-
setting power of the previous ASB but instead takes on more of an advisory role. The
detailed remit uses ‘consult and advise’ or ‘consult and comment’ to describe the
activities of the Accounting Council. It could be argued that the standard-setting
role of the previous ASB has now largely been taken on by the IASB. Consequently a
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Council which provides strategic input and thought leadership, within widespread
consultation and research, is more valuable in maintaining UK influence on the inter-
national standard setting process.

The Council consists of up to twelve members, at least half of which are practising
members of the relevant profession and the remainder will be other stakeholders.
Members of the Councils are appointed through an open process overseen by the
Chair of the Codes and Standards Committee (CSC) subject to the overall guidance of
the Nominations Committee of the FRC.

Audit and Assurance Council

The Audit and Assurance Council has remit of similar type to that of the Accounting
Council. The words are ‘considers and comments’ or ‘considers and advises’. The
FRC’s Codes and Standards Committee develops and maintains standards and guid-
ance for Audit and Assurance engagements that are performed in the public interest
within the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland. It also seeks to influence the
development of international auditing and assurance standards and policy, issues that
are relevant to its remit.

Conduct Committee

The Conduct Committee operates as a Conduct Division which encompasses the
FRC’s monitoring, oversight, investigative and disciplinary functions. It covers audit
quality review, corporate reporting review, professional discipline and professional
oversight, and supervisory enquiries.

Of particular relevance to this chapter, the work of the Conduct Division includes
direct monitoring of financial reports and audits of public interest entities.

Under the Companies Act 2006 (‘the Act’) the Conduct Committee has been author-
ised and appointed by the Secretary of State for the Department of Business, Innovation
and Skills (BIS) to exercise functions with a view to ensuring that accounts and financial
and other reports, including annual reports, and directors’ reports (Reports) of com-
panies and other entities comply with the law and relevant reporting requirements.

The Conduct Committee’s policy is to select Reports for review (a) by methods which
take into account the Conduct Committee’s assessment of the risk of non-compliance
and the consequence of non-compliance, and (b) as a result of complaints.

The Conduct Committee maintains a Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP)
comprising individuals who have the appropriate qualifications and experience to sit
on a Review Group including the Chairman and Deputy Chairman or Chairmen who
are also members of the Conduct Committee and the Monitoring Committee. Review
Groups will be appointed from the FRRP by the Monitoring Committee.

The legal powers and duties described above for the Conduct Committee were,
prior to July 2011, allocated to the FRRP. Consequently this type of monitoring work
has been in place for many years and previous reports will be found under the author-
ship of the Financial Reporting Review Panel.

The Conduct Committee can ask directors to explain apparent departures from the
requirements. If it is not satisfied by the directors” explanations it aims to persuade
them to adopt a more appropriate accounting treatment. The directors may then
voluntarily withdraw their accounts and replace them with revised accounts that
correct the matters in error. Depending on the circumstances, the Conduct Committee
may accept another form of remedial action — for example, correction of the compara-
tive figures in the next set of annual financial statements. Failing voluntary correction,
the Conduct Committee can exercise its powers to secure the necessary revision of the
original accounts through a court order. The FRC maintains a legal costs fund of £2m
for this purpose. The Conduct Committee’s predecessor, the FRRP, enjoyed a long and
successful record in resolving all cases brought to its attention without having to apply
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Exhibit 4.1
Statement of directors’ responsibilities as expressed in the annual report of a public limited company

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Group and the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and the Parent Company financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under Company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

@ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

@ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable UK Accounting Standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Group and Parent
Company financial statements respectively; and

e prepare the Group and Parent Company financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s and Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on pages nn and nn, confirms that, to the
best of their knowledge:

e the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and

@ the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the
position of the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Group website www.xxxname.com.
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

By order of the Board

(signed) Chief Executive, Finance Director
(date)

for a court order. The Conduct Committee does not offer advice on the application of
accounting standards or on the accounting requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

4.54 Corporate governance®

UK listed companies are required by the Stock Exchange to apply the Corporate
Governance Code. Institutional investors are encouraged to recognise their responsi-
bilities by adhering to the Stewardship Code. Both are explained in this section.

Corporate governance code

Corporate governance is a term applied to the way in which a company is managed
by its directors to show a high level of responsibility to shareholders and the wider
capital market. The UK has a tradition of codes of corporate governance dating from
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1992. Initially the codes were written by committees and given the names of the chairs
of the committees. Thus during the 1990s we saw in succession the Cadbury Code, the
Greenbury Code and the Hampel Code (explained further in Chapter 14 section 14.7.1).
These were consolidated as the UK Corporate Governance Code. Responsibility for main-
taining the UK Corporate Governance Code now rests with the Financial Reporting
Council.

The Code sets out good practice covering issues such as board composition and
effectiveness, the role of board committees, risk management, remuneration and
relations with shareholders. It operates on the principle of ‘comply or explain’. If com-
panies comply with the recommendations of the Code they do not need to describe
compliance at great length. If they do not comply with any specific aspect, they must
provide an explanation in the annual report.

The main recommendations of the Code include:

separate Chairman and Chief Executive;

a balance of executive and independent non-executive directors;

strong, independent audit and remuneration committees;

annual evaluation by the board of its performance;

transparency on appointments and remuneration;

effective rights for shareholders, who are encouraged to engage with the companies
in which they invest.

Stewardship code

Experience with the Corporate Governance Code, particularly in the period of finan-
cial crisis around 2007 and 2008, indicated that something more was needed to
enhance the quality of engagement between institutional investors and companies.
The Stewardship Code was introduced to meet this need and to complement the
Corporate Governance Code. It is written with the aim of helping to improve long-
term returns to shareholders and the efficient exercise of governance responsibilities.

The word ‘engagement’ is used to emphasise the idea of all parties meeting and
talking to each other. It expects purposeful dialogue on strategy, performance and the
management of risk, as well as on issues that are the immediate subject of votes at
general meetings.

Institutional shareholders are free to choose whether or not to engage as recom-
mended by the Code but once the institution has agreed, their employees and agents
are expected to follow the agreed procedures.

The main principles are that institutional investors should:

® publicly disclose their policy on how they will discharge their stewardship
responsibilities;

® have a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest in relation to stewardship and
this policy should be publicly disclosed;

@ monitor their investee companies;

® establish clear guidelines on when and how they will escalate their activities as a
method of protecting and enhancing shareholder value;

@ be willing to act collectively with other investors where appropriate;

® have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity;

e report periodically on their stewardship and voting activities.

4.5.5 Stock Exchange regulation

Under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, the Financial Services Authority
(FSA) was established as a single regulator with responsibility across a wide range of
financial market activity. In particular the FSA has, for more than 10 years, regulated
listing of companies” shares on the UK Stock Exchange. The work has been carried out
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4.5.6

Exhibit 4.2
Sample audit report

by a division called the UK Listing Authority (UKLA). When a company first has its
shares listed, it must produce a prospectus, which is normally much more detailed
than the annual report. The regulations covering the content of a prospectus have been
set by the UKLA. Once a company has achieved a listing, it must keep up with on-
going obligations under the Listing Rules. This ongoing obligation includes providing
accounting information to the market in the annual report and making press releases.
Details of the Listing Rules are not necessary for first-level study but you should be
aware that these have an influence on the content of a company’s annual report. There
are also Disclosure and Transparency rules which affect the content and timing of
annual reports published by companies.

Following the financial crisis of 2007 and 2008 it became apparent that the loss of
confidence in financial markets and financial systems required a new form of regu-
lation in the UK. From 2013 the FSA splits into a Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA)
and a Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). The Listing Rules become part of the remit
of the FCA. The FCA regulates compliance of issuers (listed companies) and major
shareholders with the disclosures required under the Disclosure and Transparency
and Listing Rules.

There are three kinds of listing on the UK Stock Exchange: Premium (previously
called Primary); Standard (previously called Secondary); and AIM (The Alternative
Investment Market). Different levels of regulation and disclosure apply to each. A
Premium Listing means the company is expected to meet the UK’s highest standards
of regulation and corporate governance —and as a consequence may enjoy a lower cost
of capital through greater transparency and through building investor confidence.
Issuers with a Premium Listing are required to meet the UK’s ‘super-equivalent” rules
which are higher than the EU minimum requirement. Such companies are eligible for
inclusion in the FTSE indices. A Standard Listing is more commonly used by overseas
companies, as it allows issuers to access the main market by meeting EU harmonised
standards only rather than the UK ‘super-equivalent’ requirements. AIM companies
are usually newer and smaller companies making their initial entry to market trading
for their shares. AIM listed companies are regulated but not as strongly as the
Premium listed companies. Consequently the annual reports of AIM listed companies
are less detailed.

Auditors

The shareholders of companies do not have a right of access to the records of the day-
to-day running of the business, and so they need someone to act on their behalf to
ensure that the directors are presenting a true and fair view of the company’s position
at a point in time and of the profits generated during a period of time. To achieve
this reassurance, the shareholders appoint a firm of auditors to investigate the com-
pany’s financial records and give an opinion on the truth and fairness of the financial
information presented. Exhibit 4.2 sets out the wording of a typical audit report to the

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of XYZ plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of XYZ plc for the year ended 31 December 2011 which
comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group Balance
Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group Statement of Changes in Equity, Reconciliation of net
cash flow to movement in net debt and the related notes to the Group financial statements. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.




Chapter 4 Ensuring the quality of financial statements m

Exhibit 4.2 continued

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities (set out on page nn), the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Group financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person
to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate

to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation

of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the

Annual Report and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements.

If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications
for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the Group financial statements:

@ give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its profit and
cash flows for the year then ended;

@ have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

® have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Group
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the Group financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
@ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

o the Directors’ statement (set out on page 90), in relation to going concern;

e the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review; and

@ certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of XYZ plc for the year ended
31 December 2011 and on the information in the Remuneration Report that is described as having been
audited.

A B Name (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of DEF LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

Date
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4.5.7

4.5.8

shareholders of a public company. You will see that there are separate opinions on the
financial statements and on other aspects of the accounting information recorded or
provided by the company.

You will note that the auditors do not look at all the pages of the annual report. The
earlier part of the annual report is important to the companies in setting the scene and
explaining their businesses. These earlier pages are reviewed by the auditors to ensure
that anything said there is consistent with the information presented in the audited
financial statements. You will also note that the auditors have their own code of prac-
tice, referred to as International Standards for Auditing (ISAs). The ISAs are prepared
by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) which oper-
ates under a body called the International Financial Accounting Committee (IFAC).
The standards are then adopted by national standard-setters. In the UK the national
standard-setter is the Financial Reporting Council.

What surprises some readers is the phrase ‘reasonable assurance that the accounts
are free from material misstatement’. The auditors are not expected to be totally cer-
tain in their opinion and they are only looking for errors or fraud which is material.
The meaning of the word ‘material” has proved difficult to define and it tends to be a
matter left to the judgement of the auditor. The best guidance available is that an item
is material if its misstatement or omission would cause the reader of the annual report
(shareholder or creditor) to take a different decision or view based on the financial
statements.

The tax system

Businesses pay tax to HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) (as the tax-collecting agent
of the government) based on the profits they make. Sole traders and partnerships
pay income tax on their profits while companies pay corporation tax. There are
differences in detail of the law governing these two types of taxes but broadly they
both require as a starting point a calculation of profit using commercial accounting
practices. The law governing taxation is quite separate from the law and regu-
lations governing financial reporting, so in principle the preparation of financial
statements is not affected by tax matters. That is very different from some other
countries in the EU where the tax law stipulates that an item must be in the finan-
cial accounting statements if it is to be considered for tax purposes. Those countries
have an approach to financial reporting which is more closely driven by taxation
matters.

In the UK the distinction may be blurred in practice in the case of sole traders
because HMRC is the main user of the financial statements of the sole trader. Similarly,
tax factors may influence partnership accounts, although here the fairness of sharing
among the partners is also important. The very smallest companies, where the owners
also run the business, may in practice have the same attitude to tax matters as does the
sole trader or partnership. For larger companies with a wider spread of ownership, the
needs of shareholders will take priority.

Is regulation necessary?

There are those who would argue that all this regulatory mechanism is unnecessary.
They take the view that in a market-based economy, competitive forces will ensure that
those providing information will meet the needs of users. It is argued that investors
will not entrust their funds to a business which provides inadequate information.
Banks will not lend money unless they are provided with sufficient information
to answer their questions about the likelihood of receiving interest and eventual
repayment of the loan. Employee morale may be lowered if a business appears
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non-communicative regarding its present position and past record of performance.
Suppliers may not wish to give credit to a business which appears secretive or has
a reputation for producing poor-quality information. Customers may be similarly
doubtful.

Against that quite attractive argument for the abolition of all regulations stand
some well-documented financial scandals where businesses have failed. Employees
have lost their jobs, with little prospect of finding comparable employment elsewhere;
suppliers have not been paid and have found themselves in financial difficulties as
a result. Customers have lost a source of supply and have been unable to meet the
requirements of their own customers until a new source is found. Those who have
provided long-term finance for the business, as lenders and investors, have lost their
investment. Investigation shows that the signs and warnings had existed for those
who were sufficiently experienced to see them, but these signs and warnings did not
emerge in the published accounting information for external use.

Such financial scandals may be few in number but the large-scale examples cause
widespread misery and lead to calls for action. Governments experience pressure from
the electorate and lobby groups; professional bodies and business interest groups
decide they ought to be seen to react; and new regulations are developed which ensure
that the particular problem cannot recur. All parties are then reasonably satisfied that
they have done their best to protect those who need protection against the imbalance
of business life, and the new practices are used until the next scandal occurs and the
process starts over again.

There is no clear answer to the question ‘Is regulation necessary?’ Researchers have
not found any strong evidence that the forces of supply and demand in the market
fail to work and have suggested that the need for regulation must be justified by show-
ing that the benefits exceed the costs. That is quite a difficult challenge but is worth
keeping in mind as you explore some of the more intricate aspects of accounting
regulation.

Activity 4.3 Look back through this section and, for each subheading, make a note of whether you
were previously aware that such regulation existed. In each case, irrespective of your
previous state of knowledge, do you now feel a greater or a lesser sense of confidence
in accounting information? How strong is your confidence in published accounting
information? If not 100%, what further reassurance would you require?

- 4.6 Reviewing published financial statements

If you look at the annual report of any large listed company you will find that it has
two main sections. The first part contains a variety of diagrams and photographs,
a statement by the chairman, a report by the chief executive and, in many cases, a
Business Review or an Operating and Financial Review which may extend to a con-
siderable number of pages. Other aspects of the business, such as its corporate govern-
ance and environmental policy, may also be explained. This first part is a mixture of
unregulated and broadly regulated material. There are many sources of influence on
its contents, some of which will be explained in later chapters of this book.

The second part contains the financial statements, which are heavily regulated. As
if to emphasise this change of status, the second part of the annual report will often
have a different appearance, perhaps being printed on a different colour or grade
of paper, or possibly having a smaller print size. Appendix I to this book contains
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4.6.1

extracts from the financial statements of a fictitious company, Safe and Sure plc, which
will be used for illustration in this and subsequent chapters.

Relaxing after a hard workout at the health club, David Wilson took the oppor-
tunity to buy Leona a drink and tell her something about Safe and Sure prior to a visit
to the company’s headquarters to meet the finance director.

DAVID: This is a major listed company, registered in the UK but operating around the
world selling its services in disposal and recycling, cleaning and security. Its name is
well known and its services command high prices because of the company’s repu-
tation gained over many years. Basically it is a very simple business to understand. It sells
services by making contracts with customers and collects cash when the service is
performed.

In preparation for my visit | looked first at the performance of the period. This com-
pany promises to deliver growth of at least 20% in revenue and in profit before tax so
first of all | checked that the promise had been delivered. Sure enough, at the front of
the annual report under ‘Highlights of the year’ there was a table showing revenue had
increased by 22.4% and profit before tax had increased by 20.4%. | knew | would
need to look through the profit and loss account in more detail to find out how the
increases had come about, but first of all | read the operating review (written by the chief
executive) and the financial review (written by the finance director). The chief executive
gave more details on which areas had the greatest increase in revenue and operating
profit and which areas had been disappointing. That all helps me in making my forecast of
profit for next year.

The chief executive made reference to acquisitions during the year, so | knew | would
also need to think whether the increase in revenue and profits was due to an improvement
in sales and marketing as compared with last year or whether it reflected the inclusion of
new business for the first time.

In the financial review, the finance director explained that the business tries to use as
little working capital as possible (that means they try to keep down the current assets and
match them as far as possible with current liabilities). | guessed | would need to look at the
statement of financial position to confirm that, so | headed next for the financial statements
at the back of the annual report, pausing to glance at the auditors’ report to make sure
there was nothing highlighted by them as being amiss.

The financial statements are quite detailed and | wanted a broad picture so | noted down
the main items from each in a summary format which leaves out some of the detail but
which I find quite useful.

Income statement (profit and loss account)

Safe and Sure plc
Summary income statement (profit and loss account) with comparative figures

Notes Year 7 Year 6
£m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 714.6 589.3
Cost of sales (491.0) (406.3)
Gross profit 223.6 183.0
Expenses and interest (26.1) (26.0)
Profit before tax 197.5 157.0
Tax on profit (62.2) (52.4)
Profit for the period from continuing operations 135.3 104.6
Discontinued operations
Loss for the period from discontinued operations (20.5) (10.0)

Profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders 114.8 94.6
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Q DAVID: It is part of my job to make forecasts of what the next reported profit of the
company is likely to be (i.e. the profit of Year 8). This is March Year 8 now so there are
plenty of current signs | can pick up, but | also want to think about how far Year 7 will be
repeated or improve during Year 8. A few years ago | would have made a rough guess and
then phoned the finance director for some guidance on whether | was in the right area.
That’s no longer allowed because the Financial Services Authority tightened up the rules
on companies giving information to some investors which is not available to others,
especially where that information could affect the share price.
One easy way out is for me to collect the reports which come in from our stockbrokers.
Their analysts have specialist knowledge of the industry and can sometimes work out what
is happening in a business faster than some of the management. However, | like to form
my own opinion using other sources, such as trade journals, and | read the annual report
to give me the background structure for my forecast. The company has helpfully separ-
ated out the effect of continuing and discontinued operations, which helps me in making
a forecast.
When | meet the finance director next week I’ll have with me a spreadsheet analysing
revenue and profit before tax — so far as | can find the data — by product line and for each
of the countries in which the company trades. I’ll also ask the following questions:

1 Although the revenue has increased, the ratio of gross profit to revenue on continuing
operations has increased only very slightly, from 31.1% in Year 6 to 31.3% in Year 7.
That suggests that the company has increased revenue by holding price rises at a level
matching the increase in operating costs. | would like to see the company pushing
ahead with price rises but does the company expect to see a fall in demand when its
prices eventually rise?

2 The tax charge on continuing operations has decreased from approximately 33% to
31.5%, slightly higher than the rate which would be expected of UK companies. | know
that this company is trading overseas. You say in your financial review that the tax
charge is 30% in the UK and rates on overseas profits will reduce, so am | safe in
assuming that 30% is a good working guide for the future in respect of this company?

3 With all this overseas business there must be an element of foreign exchange risk.
You say in your financial review that all material foreign currency transactions are
matched back into the currency of the group company undertaking the transaction.
You don’t hedge the translation of overseas profits back into sterling. You also say that
using Year 6 exchange rates the Year 7 profit, including the effect of the discontinued
operations, would have been £180.5m rather than the £177.0m reported. That seems
a fairly minimal effect but are these amounts hiding any swings in major currencies
where large downward movements are offset by correspondingly large upward
movements?

4 Your increase in revenue, comparing £714.6m to £589.9m, is 21.1% which is meeting
the 20% target you set yourself. However, elsewhere in the financial statements | see
that the acquisitions in Year 7 contributed £13.5m to revenue. If | strip that amount out
of the total revenue I’m left with an increase in respect of activities continuing from Year
6 which is only 19%. When the scope for acquisitions is exhausted, will you be able to
sustain the 20% target by organic growth alone?

4.6.2 Statement of financial position (balance sheet)

Q DAVID: Looking at the statement of financial position, this is a fairly simple type of busi-
ness. It is financed almost entirely by equity capital (shareholders’ funds), so there are
none of the risks associated with high levels of borrowings which might be found in other
companies.
Again, | have summarised and left out some of the details which aren’t significant in
financial terms.
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Safe and Sure plc
Summarised statement of financial position (balance sheet)
(with comparative amounts)

Notes Year 7 Year 6
£m £m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 137.5 121.9
Intangible assets 260.3 237.6
Investments 2.8 2.0
Taxation recoverable 5.9 4.9
Total non-current assets 406.5 366.4
Current assets
Inventories (stocks) 26.6 24.3
Amounts receivable (debtors) 146.9 134.7
Six-month deposits 2.0 -
Cash and cash equivalents 105.3 90.5
Total current assets 280.8 249.5
Total assets 687.3 615.9
Current liabilities
Amounts payable (creditors) (159.8) (157.5)
Bank overdraft (40.1) (62.6)
Total current liabilities (199.9) (220.1)
Non-current liabilities
Amounts payable (creditors) 9 (2.7) (2.6)
Bank and other borrowings 10 0.2) 0.6)
Provisions 11 (20.2) (22.2)
Total non-current liabilities (23.1) (25.4)
Total liabilities (223.0) (245.5)
Net assets 464.3 370.4
Capital and reserves
Shareholders’ funds 464.3 370.4

Q DAVID: By far the largest non-current (fixed) asset is the intangible asset of goodwill arising

on acquisition. It reflects the fact that the group has had to pay a price for the future
prospects of companies it has acquired. Although the company reports this in the group’s
statement of financial position, and | like to see whether the asset is holding its value from
the group’s point of view, | have some reservations about the quality of the asset because
I know it would vanish overnight if the group found itself in difficulties.

The other non-current assets are mainly equipment for carrying out the cleaning oper-
ations and vehicles in which to transport the equipment. I've checked in the notes to the
accounts that vehicles are being depreciated over four to five years and plant and equip-
ment over five to ten years, all of which sounds about right. Also, they haven’t changed
the depreciation period, or the method of calculation, since last year so the amounts
are comparable. Estimated useful lives for depreciation are something | watch closely.
There is a great temptation for companies which have underperformed to cut back on the
depreciation by deciding the useful life has extended. (Depreciation is explained more
fully in Chapter 8.)

| think | might ask a few questions about working capital (the current assets minus the
current liabilities of the business). Normally I like to see current assets somewhat greater
than current liabilities — a ratio of 1.5 to 1 could be about right — as a cushion to ensure the
liabilities are met as they fall due. However, in this company the finance director makes a
point of saying that they like to utilise as little working capital as possible, so I’'m wonder-
ing why it increased from £29.4m in Year 6 to more than £80m in Year 7. There appear to
be two effects working together: current assets went up and current liabilities went down.
Amounts receivable (trade debtors) increased in Year 7 in absolute terms but that isn’t as
bad as it looks when allowance is made for the increase in revenue. Amounts receivable in
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Year 7 are 20.6% of continuing revenue, which shows some control has been achieved
when it is compared with the Year 6 amount at 22.8% of revenue. My questions will be:

1 Mostly, the increase in the working capital (net current assets) appears to be due to the
decrease in bank borrowing. Was this a voluntary action by the company or did the bank
insist?

2 The second major cause of the increase in the working capital is the increase in the
balance held in the bank account. Is that being held for a planned purpose and, if so,
what?

3 The ratio of current assets to current liabilities has increased from last year. What target
ratio are you aiming for?

| always shudder when | see ‘provisions’ in a statement of financial position. The notes to
the financial statements show that these are broadly:

£m
For treating a contaminated site 12.0
For restructuring part of the business 4.2
For tax payable some way into the future 4.0
Total 20.2

| shall want to ask whether the estimated liability in relation to the contaminated site is
adequate in the light of any changes in legislation. | know the auditors will have asked
this question in relation to existing legislation but | want to think also about forthcoming
legislation.

| am always wary of provisions for restructuring. | shall be asking more about why the
restructuring is necessary and when it will take place. | want to know that the provision is
sufficient to cover the problem, but not excessive.

The provision for tax payable some way into the future is an aspect of prudence in
accounting. | don’t pay much attention unless the amount is very large or suddenly changes
dramatically. (An explanation of deferred taxation is contained in Chapter 10.)

4.6.3 Statement of cash flows

Q DAVID: Cash is an important factor for any business. It is only one of the resources avail-
able but it is the key to survival. I've summarised the totals of the various main sections of
the cash flow statement. ‘Net cash’ means the cash less the bank borrowings.

Safe and Sure plc
Summary statement of cash flows (with comparative amounts)
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 December

Notes Year 7 Year 6

£m £m

Net cash from operating activities 143.0 116.3
Net cash used in investing activities (98.3) (85.3)
Net cash used in financing activities (10.2) (46.4)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents*® _34.5 (15.4)

What I'm basically looking for in the cash flow statement is how well the company is
balancing various sources of finance. It generated £143m from operating activities and
that was more than sufficient to cover its investing activities in new fixed assets and
acquisitions. There was also enough to cover the dividend of £29.5m, which is a financing
activity but that was partly covered by raising new loan finance. This is why the cash used
in financing activities is only £10.2m. | come back to my earlier question of why they are
holding so much cash.
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Activity 4.4

Read David’s explanation again and compare it carefully with the financial statements. It is
quite likely that you will not understand everything immediately because the purpose of
this book as a whole is to help you understand published financial statements and we are,
as yet, only at the end of Chapter 4. Make a note of the items you don’t fully understand
and keep that note safe in a file. As you progress through the rest of the book, look back
to that note and tick off the points which subsequently become clear. The aim is to have
a page full of ticks by the end of the book.

- 4.7 Summary

The IASB’s stated objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide finan-
cial information about the reporting entity that is useful to existing and potential
investors, lenders and other creditors in making decisions about providing resources
to the entity. Those decisions involve buying, selling or holding equity and debt
instruments, and providing or settling loans and other forms of credit.

The two fundamental qualitative characteristics are:

® relevance
e faithful representation.

Each of these has further contributing characteristics. Relevance consists of either pre-
dictive value or confirmatory value, or both. Faithful representation consists of
neutrality, freedom from error, and completeness. There are four further enhancing
qualitative characteristics. These are:

® comparability

e verifiability

e timeliness

e understandability.

The accounting measurement principles that are most widely known in the UK are
found within the Companies Act 2006:

® going concern
e accruals

® consistency
e prudence.

Regulation of financial reporting in the UK comes from several sources:

e The IAS Regulation requires all listed groups of companies to prepare financial
statements using the system of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB
system). Other companies may choose to follow the IASB system.

e Companies that do not follow the IASB system must comply with UK company
law.

@ The Financial Reporting Council regulates accounting and auditing matters under
the authority of UK company law. It sets UK accounting standards and auditing
standards. It also takes action against companies whose annual reports do not
comply with the relevant accounting system (IASB or UK company law).

® There are Stock Exchange Listing Rules which influence annual reports of listed
companies.

e The UK tax system charges corporation tax on company profits. Her Majesty’s
Revenue and Customs (HMRC) starts with the accounting profit in calculating
the amount of tax payable but there are some special rules of accounting for tax
purposes.
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e Auditors give an opinion on whether financial statements present a true and fair
view of the profit or loss of the period and the state of affairs at the end of the
period. They are professionally qualified accountants with auditing experience who
are members of a recognised professional body.

Further reading

FRC (2010), The UK Corporate Governance Code, Financial Reporting Council.
FRC (2010), The UK Stewardship Code, Financial Reporting Council.

FRC (2011), The Impact and Implementation of the UK Corporate Governance and Stewardship
Codes. Financial Reporting Council.

IASB (2010), The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. International Accounting
Standards Board.

ICAEW (2010), Rejected Accounts: Common reasons for accounts being rejected by Companies
House & how to avoid them. Financial Reporting Faculty, Institute of Chartered Account-
ants in England and Wales.

Sharman (2012), The Sharman Inquiry. Going concern and liquidity risks: lessons for companies
and auditors. Final report. Financial Reporting Council.

The Questions section of each chapter has three types of question. ‘Test your understanding’
questions to help you review your reading are in the ‘A’ series of questions. You will find the
answers to these by reading and thinking about the material in the book. ‘Application’ questions
to test your ability to apply technical skills are in the ‘B’ series of questions. Questions requiring
you to show skills in problem solving and evaluation are in the ‘C’ series of questions. A letter
[S] indicates that there is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding

A4.1 Explain what is meant by each of the following: (Section 4.2)

(@) relevance;

(b) faithful representation;
(c) freedom from error
(d) neutrality;

(e) predictive value;

(f) completeness;

(9) comparability;

(h) understandability; and
() materiality.

A4.2 Explain the accounting measurement principles of each of the following: (Section 4.3)

(@) going concern;

(b) accruals;

(c) consistency;

(d) the concept of prudence.

A4.3 Explain why companies should avoid overstatement of assets or understatement of
liabilities. (Section 4.4)

A4.4 Explain the responsibilities of directors of a company towards shareholders in relation
to the financial statements of a company. (Section 4.5.2)
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A4.5 Explain the impact on financial statements of each of the following: (Section 4.5)

(@) company law;
(b) the International Accounting Standards Board; and
(c) the UK tax law.

A4.6 Explain how the monitoring of financial statements is carried out by each of the

following: (Section 4.5)

(@) the auditors; and
(b) the Conduct Committee of the FRC (previously FRRP).

E Application

B4.1 [S]
Explain each of the following:

(@) The IAS Regulation
(b) The Financial Reporting Council
(c) Stock Exchange Listing Rules

B4.2 [S]
Explain any two accounting measurement principles, explaining how each affects current
accounting practice.

B4.3 [S]
Discuss the extent to which the regulatory bodies explained in this chapter have, or ought to
have, a particular concern for the needs of the following groups of users of financial statements:

(
(
(
(

a) shareholders;
b) employees;

c) customers; and
d) suppliers.

Problem solving and evaluation

C4.1
Choose one or more characteristics from the following list that you could use to discuss the
accounting aspects of each of the statements 1 to 5 and explain your ideas:

(]
( ]
1

Relevance ® understandability ® completeness
verifiability ® materiality ® predictive value
comparability ® neutrality @ faithful representation

Director: ‘We do not need to tell shareholders about a loss of £2,000 on damaged stock
when our operating profit for the year is £60m.’

Shareholder: ‘I would prefer the statement of financial position (balance sheet) to tell me the
current market value of land is £20m than to tell me that the historical cost is £5m, although
| know that market values fluctuate.’

Analyst: ‘If the company changes its stock valuation from average cost to FIFO, | want to
hear a good reason and | want to know what last year’s profit would have been on the same
basis.’

Regulator: ‘If the company reports that it has paid “commission on overseas sales”, | don’t
expect to discover later that it really meant bribes to local officials.’

Director: ‘We have made a profit on our drinks sales but a loss on food sales. In the Notes
to the Accounts on segmental results | suggest we combine them as “food and drink”. It will
mean the annual report is less detailed for our shareholders but it will keep competitors in
the dark for a while.’
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C4.2
Choose one or more accounting measurement principles from the following list that you could
use to discuss the accounting aspects of each of the problems 1-5 and explain your ideas.

@ going concern ® accruals @ consistency ® prudence.

1 Director: ‘The fixed assets of the business are reported at depreciated historical cost because
we expect the company to continue in existence for the foreseeable future. The market value
is much higher but that is not relevant because we don’t intend to sell them.’

2 Auditor: ‘We are insisting that the company raises the provision for doubtful debts from 2%
to 2.5% of debtor amount. There has been recession among the customer base and the
financial statements should reflect that.’

3 Analyst: ‘| have great problems in tracking the depreciation policy of this company. It owns
several airports. Over the past three years the expected useful life of runways has risen from
30 years to 50 years and now it is 100 years. | find it hard to believe that the technology of
tarmacadam has improved so much in three years.’

4 Auditor: ‘We have serious doubts about the ability of this company to renew its bank over-
draft at next month’s review meeting with the bank. The company ought to put shareholders
on warning about the implications for the financial statements.’

5 Shareholder: ‘I don’t understand why the company gives a profit and loss account and a
cash flow statement in the annual report. Is there any difference between profit and cash
flow?’

Activities for study groups

Continuing to use the annual reports of a company that you obtained for Chapter 1, look for
the evidence in each report of the existence of the directors, the auditors and the various
regulatory bodies.

In your group, draw up a list of the evidence presented by companies to show that the annual
report has been the subject of regulation. Discuss whether the annual report gives sufficient
reassurance of its relevance and faithful representation to the non-expert reader.

Notes and references

. IASB (2010), Conceptual Framework, para. OB 2.

. IAS 1 (2011), para. 10.

. IAS 1 (2011), paras 10-12.

. IASB (2010), Conceptual Framework, para. QC 5.

. Ibid., para. QC 6.

. Ibid., para. QC 8.

. Ibid., para. QC 9.

. Ibid., para. QC 12.

. Ibid., para. QC 13.

. Ibid., para. QC 14.

. Ibid., para. QC 15.

. Ibid., para. QC 11.

. Ibid., paras QC 20-25.

. Ibid., paras QC 26-28.

. Ibid., para. QC 29.

. Ibid., paras QC 30-32.

. Ibid., paras QC 35-39.

. IASB Framework (1989), para. 37.

. IASB (2008), Exposure Draft on Conceptual Framework, para. BC 2.21.

. IASB Framework (1989), para. 31.

. IASB (2008), Exposure Draft on Conceptual Framework, para. BC 2.15.

. IASB Framework (1989), para. 35.

. IASB (2008), Exposure Draft on Conceptual Framework, para. BC 2.19.

. Under the Companies Act 2006, detailed accounting requirements are contained in Statutory
Instruments. The accounting principles are specified in paras 11-15 of Schedule 1 of SI 2008/410

OO Ul s W

NN RN NRKN R s e e e e e
B WON—PL, OOV U R WN = OO



m Part 1 A conceptual framework: setting the scene

25.
26.
27.
28.

29.
30.
31.
2,
BES
34.

The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. Listed
groups in the UK follow the International Financial Reporting Standards, where the same account-
ing measurement principles apply. www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2008/410/contents/made.
IASB (2010), Conceptual Framework, para. 4.1.

Ibid., para. OB 17.

ASB (1999), Statement of Principles, Appendix III, paras 21-3.

ASB (2000), Financial Reporting Standard 18 (FRS 18) Accounting Policies, Accounting Standards
Board, para. 28.

ASB (2000), Appendix IV, paras 12 to 20.

IASB (1989), Framework, para. 27.

http: //europa.eu.int/comm/internal _market/accounting/index_en.htm.

www.efrag.org/.

www.frc.org.uk/.

FRC (2010), The UK Approach to corporate governance.



Reporting the transactions
of a business

5 Accounting information for service businesses
6 Accounting information for trading businesses



REAL WORLD CASE

Croda International plc is a global leader in speciality chemicals,
sold to a wide range of markets - from personal care to health
care; from crop care to coatings and polymers. In its annual
report it describes its investment in employees:

Employees

1. Recruitment & retention

Like all successful businesses, we recognise that our future depends
on our ability to attract and retain individuals who are passionate
about personal and business growth and want to make a significant
contribution to the future of our business. Recruiting individuals that
fit this description and the culture of the business is always hard, but
within the chemical industry it is increasingly a problem with a high
level of competition for a decreasing number of graduates. As our
business is focused on innovation and growth in emerging markets
and developing countries, this challenge increases further.

2. Compensation & benefits

In a competitive recruitment marketplace we are conscious that we
should not lose critical staff because of issues relating to pay or additional benefits. We realise that the
remuneration package we offer plays a key part in attracting and retaining employees.

Alamy Irriages/Stock Connection

3. HR policies & systems

Information and knowledge sharing are at the heart of making better business decisions. Streamlined systems and
policies not only provide the data and trends on which to base decisions, but will in turn drive employee engagement.
We believe that well defined policies and procedures allow our employees to operate without constant
management intervention. It is this autonomy and freedom to act that has made our business what it is today.

4. Talent management and employee development

The key to the future success of any business lies in the skills and abilities of its workforce. It is only through the
continual development of our workforce that we will be able to meet the future demands of our customers in
relation to enhanced creativity, innovation and customer service. Being a business dependent upon a large
number of specialists including engineers and scientists as well as finance, IT, HR, marketing, purchasing, sales,
regulatory and legal professionals we have to place great focus on continuous development.

5. Performance management

A strong, efficient performance management culture is not only important to employees’ professional development,
but also to meet the Company’s objectives and so ultimately contributing to its bottom line. In addition, a clear,
robust process will lead to enhanced communications and an opportunity to address performance problems
effectively, thus delivering improvements in employee morale.

Source: Annual report 2011, Croda International plc, p. 14. http://www.croda.com.

Discussion points

1 The ‘people’ asset does not appear in the balance sheet of a company. What are the costs to the company of
maintaining the ‘people’ asset?

2 What are the risks to a service business of strong reliance on a ‘people’ asset?
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Learning After studying this chapter you should be able to:
outcomes e Explain how the accounting equation is applied to transactions of a service
business.

@ Analyse the transactions of a service business during a specific period of time,
using the accounting equation.

e Prepare a spreadsheet analysing the transactions and show that the results of the
spreadsheet are consistent with the financial statements provided by the
organisation.

e Explain the main aspects of the statement of cash flows, income statement (profit
and loss account) and statement of financial position (balance sheet) of a service
business.

Additionally, for those who read the supplement:

@ Analyse the transactions of a service business using the rules of debit and credit
bookkeeping.

e Prepare, from a list of transactions of an organisation, ledger accounts and a trial
balance which could be used to prepare the financial statements provided by the
organisation.

- 5.1 Introduction

A person who starts a service business intends to offer a service based on personal
skills for which other people will be willing to pay a fee. The most important asset of
the service business is the person or people providing the service. Despite that, the
workforce as an asset never appears in an accounting statement of financial position
(balance sheet). That is because, although it satisfies all the conditions of the definition,
it is too difficult to measure objectively and so does not meet the conditions for recog-
nition. (See Chapter 2 for the definition of an asset and the conditions for recognition
of an asset.)

The service business will have other assets which accounting is able to record: for
example, the taxi driver may own a taxi; the electrician will have electrical tools; the
joiner will have a workbench and joinery tools; the car mechanic will have a repair
garage and equipment; the lawyer will have an office and a word-processor. The
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service business will also buy materials for use in any particular job and the customer will
be asked to pay for these materials as well as for the labour time involved. Moreover,
it will have liabilities to suppliers of goods and services used by the business itself.

There will be an owner or owners having an ownership interest in the business. The
service business will make profits for the owner (and thus increase the ownership
interest) by charging a price for services which is greater than the cost of labour and
materials used in providing the service.

All these aspects of the service business may be analysed and recorded on the
basis of the accounting equation as specified in Chapter 2. This chapter will discuss the
analysis of transactions using the accounting equation and will then apply that analysis
to the transactions of a doctor providing a service of medical health screening for
managerial and secretarial staff.

Choose a service business and write down the main activity of that business. Then write
down the types of expense you would expect to find in the income statement (profit and
loss account) of such a business. Write down the types of asset you would expect to find
in the statement of financial position (balance sheet). Exchange your list with a fellow
student. What are the similarities and what are the differences? Keep your list safe and
when you have finished the chapter compare your list with the example in the chapter.
Ask yourself, at that point, whether you would be able to apply what you have learned

to the business you have chosen.

Analysing transactions using the accounting equation

Three main categories of accounting elements in the accounting equation have been
defined in Chapter 2: asset, liability and ownership interest. Any one of these elements
may increase or decrease during a period of time but the ownership interest may con-
veniently be subdivided. There will be increases and decreases caused by the decision
of the owner(s) to make further contributions of capital or to withdraw capital. There
will be increases and decreases due to the activity of the business, with revenues
increasing the ownership claim and expenses decreasing it.

Decrease in ownership interest Increase in ownership interest
Withdrawals of capital by the owner Contributions of capital by the owner
Expenses Revenues

Consequently there are several aspects to consider when transactions are analysed
according to the accounting equation.
The accounting equation will be used in this chapter in the form:

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest

When one item in the equation increases, an upward arrow will be used and when
one item decreases a downward arrow will be used:

Assets | denotes a decrease in an asset.

Liabilities T denotes an increase in a liability.
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For further emphasis, bold highlighting will be used for the elements of the
equation which are changed as a result of the transaction or event.

Each business transaction has two aspects in terms of the accounting equation.
These aspects must be considered from the viewpoint of the business. Table 5.1 sets out
a list of some common types of transaction encountered in a service business. Each
transaction is then analysed using the accounting equation.

Table 5.1
List of transactions for a service business

Transaction

Receive cash from the owner.

Buy a vehicle for cash.

Receive a bill for gas consumed.

Pay the gas bill in cash.

Buy materials for cash.

Buy materials on credit terms.

Sell services for cash.

Sell services on credit terms.

Pay wages to an employee.

Pay cash to the owner for personal use.

OOWONOOOA~WN =

—

Transaction 1: receive cash from the owner

In this transaction the business acquires an asset (cash) and must note the ownership
interest created by this contribution of capital from the owner:

Assets T — Liabilities equals Ownership interest T

The equation remains in balance because an increase to the left-hand side is exactly
matched by an increase to the right-hand side.

Transaction 2: buy a vehicle for cash

In this transaction the business acquires a new asset (the vehicle) but gives up another
asset (cash):

Assets T| — Liabilities equals Ownership interest

Transaction 3: receive a bill for gas consumed

The business becomes aware that it has a liability to pay for gas consumed and also
knows that the ownership interest has been reduced by the expense of using up gas in
earning revenue for the business:

Assets — Liabilities T equals Ownership interest | (expense)

Transaction 4: pay the gas bill in cash

The asset of cash is reduced and the liability to the gas supplier is reduced:

Assets | — Liabilities | equals Ownership interest




Part 2 Reporting the transactions of a business

Transaction 5: buy materials for cash

When the materials are acquired they will create an asset of inventory (stock), for
future use. The asset of inventory (stock) will therefore increase and the asset of cash
will decrease:

Assets T — Liabilities Equals Ownership interest

Transaction 6: buy materials on credit terms

Again, materials are acquired which cause an increase in the asset of inventory (stock).
Obtaining goods on credit means that there is a liability created for amounts owing to
the supplier:

Assets T - Liabilities T equals Ownership interest

Transaction 7: sell services for cash

The cash received from the customer causes an increase in the asset of cash, while the
act of selling services increases the ownership interest through earning revenue:

Assets T — Liabilities equals Ownership interest T (revenue)

Transaction 8: sell services on credit terms

The sale of services creates an increase in the ownership interest through earning
revenue, but also creates an increase in the asset of trade receivables (debtors):

Assets T — Liabilities equals Ownership interest T (revenue)

Transaction 9: pay wages to an employee

The asset of cash decreases when the wage is paid and there is a decrease in the
ownership interest because the business has used up the service provided by the
employee (an expense has been incurred):

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)

This is a transaction which often causes problems to those new to accounting. They
would like to argue that paying wages creates an asset, rather than an expense, because
there is an expected future benefit to be gained from the services of the employee. The
answer to that argument is that, while there is no disputing the expected future benefit
from the services of most employees, the wages paid are for work already done and so
there can be no future expectations about that particular week’s or month’s work. The
question of whether the workforce as a whole should be recognised as an asset of the
business is one of the unresolved problems of accounting.

Transaction 10: pay cash to the owner for personal use

The asset of cash decreases and the ownership interest decreases because the owner has
made a voluntary withdrawal of capital:

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (voluntary withdrawal)
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Activity 5.2 Write down the transactions of Table 5.1 in a different order and put the piece of paper
away for two days. Then take it out and practise the analysis of each transaction without
looking at the answers in the book. If your answers are all correct, is it the result of
memory or of genuine understanding? If your answers are not entirely correct, can you
decide where the problem lies? It is very important that you can analyse transactions
correctly using the accounting equation. It is also important that you use your powers of
reasoning and not your powers of memory. You cannot possibly memorise the accounting
treatment of every transaction you will meet.

- 5.3 lllustration of accounting for a service business

We now move on to an example which considers the private medical practice of
Dr Lee. At the start of October Dr Lee commenced a new medical practice offering a
general health screening service to managerial and secretarial staff at a standard fee of
£500 per examination. Where patients make personal arrangements they will be asked
to pay cash on the day of the examination. If the patient’s employer has agreed to pay
for the screening, Dr Lee will send an invoice to the employer, requiring payment
within 30 days.

In Table 5.2 there is a list of transactions for Dr Lee’s medical practice during
the month of October. Try to work out the effect on the accounting equation of each
transaction listed. Do this before you read the rest of this section. Then compare your
answers and your reasoning with that in the rest of this section. Being able to reason
correctly at this stage will reduce the likelihood of error later.

Oct.1  When Dr Lee provides the practice with cash in a bank account to allow the
business to start, the business acquires an asset of cash at bank and the trans-
action creates an ownership interest by Dr Lee in the assets of the business.
This means that the business now has the use of £50,000, but, if the business
ceases immediately, that £50,000 must be returned to Dr Lee. The accounting
equation is satisfied because an increase in an asset is matched by an increase
in the ownership interest:

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest |

Oct. 2 The medical practice now becomes the business entity so far as accounting
is concerned (although it is fairly clear that Dr Lee is making all the decisions
as the manager of the business as well as being the owner). The entity
acquires an asset of medical equipment in exchange for an equal decrease in
the amount of an asset of cash. The accounting equation is satisfied because
the increase in one asset is exactly equal to the decrease in another.

Assets Tl — Liabilities equals Ownership interest

Oct.2  The medical practice pays one month’s rent in advance. At the moment of
paying the rent, an asset is acquired representing the benefit to be gained
from the use of the consulting rooms for the month ahead. However, this
benefit only lasts for a short time and will have expired at the end of the
accounting period (which has been chosen as one month for the purpose
of this example). Once the benefit of an asset has expired, the business
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becomes worse off and the ownership interest decreases. That decrease is
called an expense of the business. To save the time and trouble of recording
such transactions as assets and then re-naming them as expenses at the end
of the accounting period, the short-cut is taken of calling them expenses from
the outset. There needs to be a check on such items at the end of the account-
ing period to ensure that there is no part of the benefit remaining which
could still be an asset.

Table 5.2
Transactions of Dr Lee’s medical practice for the month of October

Date Business transactions of the entity (nature of the entity: Amount

medical practice)
£

Oct. 1 Dr Lee provides the practice with cash to allow business to start. | 50,000

Oct. 2 The entity acquires medical equipment for cash. 30,000

Oct. 2 One month’s rent is paid in advance for consulting rooms. 1,900

Oct. 2 Office furniture is purchased on two months’ credit from 6,500
Office Supplies Company.

Oct. 7 The practice purchases medical supplies on credit from P. Jones 1,200
and receives an invoice.

Oct. 8 Dr Lee pays the medical receptionist for one week’s work, 2 to 300
8 October.

Oct. 10 | Four patients are examined, each paying £500 cash. 2,000

Oct. 11 | The business pays P. Jones in cash for the goods it acquired 1,200
on credit.

Oct. 14 | The business pays an electricity bill in cash. 100

Oct. 15 | Dr Lee pays the medical receptionist for one week’s work, 9 to 300
15 October.

Oct. 17 | Three patients are examined, their employer (Mrs West) being 1,500
sent an invoice requesting payment of £500 for each.

Oct. 22 | Dr Lee pays the medical receptionist for one week’s work, 16 to 300
22 October.

Oct. 23 | The employer (Mrs West) pays in cash for the examination of 1,500
three patients.

Oct. 24 | Four patients are examined, their employer (Mr East) being sent 2,000
an invoice requesting payment of £500 for each.

Oct. 28 | Dr Lee draws cash from the business for personal use. 1,000

Oct. 29 | Dr Lee pays the medical receptionist for one week’s work, 23 to 300
29 October.

Oct. 31 | The medical equipment and office furniture is estimated by 250
Dr Lee to have fallen in value over the month.

Oct. 31 | Dr Lee checks the inventory (stock) of medical supplies and finds 350
that items costing £350 have been used during the month.
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In terms of the accounting equation there is a decrease in the ownership
interest due to an expense of the business. There is a corresponding decrease
in the asset of cash.

Assets T — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)

Oct. 2 The entity acquires an asset of office furniture. It does not pay cash on this
occasion, having been given two months to pay. Looking over the rest of the
transactions for October it is clear that there has been no payment by the end
of the month. At the moment of taking delivery of the asset, the business
incurs a liability to the supplier, Office Supplies Company. The accounting
equation is satisfied because the increase in an asset is exactly equal to the
increase in a liability.

Assets T - Liabilities T | equals Ownership interest

Oct.7  The practice purchases medical supplies on credit from P. Jones and receives
an invoice. This is very similar to the previous transaction. An asset is
acquired and a liability to a supplier is created. The liability is recognised when
the practice accepts delivery of the goods because that is the moment of
accepting legal liability. For convenience, accounting procedures normally
use the arrival of the invoice as the occasion for recording the liability but,
even if the invoice failed to arrive, the liability must be recognised in relation
to accepting the goods.

Assets T — Liabilities T | equals Ownership interest

Oct. 8  The medical receptionist has worked for one week and is paid for the work
done. The amount paid in wages is an expense of the business which
decreases the ownership interest because the benefit of that work has been
used up in providing support for the medical practice. There is a decrease in
the asset of cash.

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)

Oct. 10 The medical practice now begins to carry out the activities which increase the
wealth of the owner by earning revenue. The patients pay cash, so there is an
increase in the asset of cash, and the owner becomes better off so there is an
increase in the ownership interest.

Assets T — Liabilities equals Ownership interest T (revenue)

Oct. 11 The business pays P. Jones in cash for the goods it acquired on credit.
Payment of cash decreases the asset of cash and decreases the liability to the
supplier. Because the supplier is paid in full, the liability is extinguished.

Assets | — Liabilities | | equals Ownership interest
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Oct. 14

Oct. 15

Oct. 17

Oct. 22

Oct. 23

Oct. 24

Oct. 28

Oct. 29

The business pays an electricity bill in full. The business has enjoyed the use
of the electricity but there is no benefit remaining. This is an expense of the
business which causes a decrease in the ownership interest. There is a decrease
in the asset of cash.

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)

The payment to the medical receptionist is similar in effect to the payment
made on 8 October, causing a further expense which decreases the ownership
interest and causes a decrease in the asset of cash.

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)

There is an increase in the ownership interest which arises from the oper-
ations of the business and so is termed revenue. On this occasion the business
acquires an asset of a trade receivable (debtor), showing that an amount of
money is owed by the employer of these patients.

Assets T — Liabilities equals Ownership interest T (revenue)

The payment to the medical receptionist causes a further expense and a
decrease in the asset of cash.

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)

The cash received from the employer of the three patients examined on
17 October causes an increase in the asset of cash and a decrease in the asset
of the trade receivable (debtor). Because the amount is paid in full, the asset
of the trade receivable (debtor) is reduced to nil.

Assets T| — Liabilities equals Ownership interest

Again the business carries out the activities intended to make the owner
better off. The accounting effect is similar to that of 17 October, with an increase
in the ownership interest and an increase in the asset of cash.

Assets T — Liabilities equals Ownership interest T (revenue)

The owner of a sole trader business does not take a salary or wage as an
employee would, but nevertheless needs cash for personal purposes. Taking
cash for personal use is called taking ‘drawings” and is recorded in terms of
the accounting equation as a decrease in the ownership interest and a decrease
in the asset of cash.

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (drawings)

Paying wages causes an expense and a decrease in the asset of cash.

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)
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Oct. 31 The medical equipment and the office furniture are non-current (fixed) assets
of the business. They are expected to have some years’ useful life in the
business but they will eventually be used up. In accounting, the term ‘depre-
ciation’ is applied to this gradual using up and there are various ways of
deciding how much of the fixed asset has been ‘used up’ in any period.
(Chapter 8 gives more information on depreciation.) For this example the
owner’s estimate of depreciation is sufficient. There is a decrease in the non-
current (fixed) assets which is not matched by an increase in any other asset
and so there is a decrease in the ownership interest due to the operations of
the business. Depreciation is an expense of the business.

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)

Oct. 31 Dr Lee checks the inventory (stock) of medical supplies and finds that items
costing £350 have been used during the month. When these medical supplies
were received on 7 October, they were all treated as an asset of the business.
It appears now that the asset has been reduced from £1,200 to £850 and that
the items used up have caused a decrease of £350 in the ownership interest.
This decrease is the expense of medical supplies which will appear in the
income statement (profit and loss account) of the month. The two aspects of
this event are therefore a decrease in the ownership interest and a decrease in
the asset of inventory (stock) of medical supplies.

Assets | — Liabilities equals Ownership interest | (expense)

This analysis has been set out in some detail to show that each transaction must first
of all be considered, in order to establish the nature of the two aspects of the trans-
action, before any attempt is made to deal with the monetary amounts. The next section
uses the analysis based on the accounting equation to produce a spreadsheet which
can be totalled to give a summary picture of the transactions of the month in terms of
the accounting equation.

5.4 A process for summarising the transactions:
a spreadsheet

In Table 5.3 the transactions are repeated in the left-hand column but the relevant
money amounts are shown in columns which correspond to the assets, liabilities and
ownership interest, using brackets to show a negative amount. (It would be equally
acceptable to use a minus sign but minus signs tend to disappear or be confused with
unintentional blobs on the paper, so brackets are frequently used in accounting in
order to ensure clarity.)

Taking the first line as an example, the analysis of the transaction showed that
there was an increase in the asset of cash and an increase in the ownership interest.
Thus the amount of £50,000 is written in the spreadsheet column for cash and again
in the spreadsheet column for ownership interest. In the second line, the asset of
cash decreases by £30,000 and the asset of medical equipment increases by £30,000.
A similar pattern follows down the spreadsheet for each transaction.

It may be seen that where there are more than a few transactions during the month,
a spreadsheet of the type shown in Table 5.3 would need to be much larger and use
more columns.
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At the foot of the spreadsheet in Table 5.3 there is a total for each column. Those
totals from Table 5.3 are used in Table 5.4, which represents the accounting equation, to
show the state of the accounting equation at the end of the month. It may be used to
explain to Dr Lee how the ownership interest has changed over the month. The owner
contributed £50,000 at the start of the month and has a claim of £50,700 at the end of
the month. The ownership interest was increased by earning revenue of £5,500 but
reduced by incurring expenses of £3,800 and withdrawing £1,000 for personal use.

Table 5.4
Summary of transactions analysed into the elements of the accounting equation
Assets  minus Liabilities = Ownership plus Capital plus Revenue minus Expenses
interest at contributed/
start of period withdrawn
£57,200 - £6,500 nil +  £49,000 +  £5,500 - £3,800
——— £50,700 J L £50,700 J
- 5.5 Financial statements as a means of communication

This chapter has established the approach taken in accounting towards analysing and
classifying transactions in such a way that Dr Lee as the owner of a business knows how
much better or worse off she has become during a period. There is sufficient infor-
mation contained in Table 5.3 and it is possible to write an interpretation based on
Table 5.4. However, this presentation is not particularly informative or easy on the eye.

The process of communication requires some attention to a clear style of presentation.
Accounting practice has evolved the statement of cash flows, the income statement
(profit and loss account) and the statement of financial position (balance sheet) to give
the owner a more informative presentation of the information contained in Tables 5.3
and 5.4.

Chapter 3 set out the structure of the financial statements of a business. These ideas
are now applied to Dr Lee’s medical practice. Don’t worry too much about how the
information is transferred from Table 5.3 to these financial statements, but look back to
the table and satisfy yourself that you can find the corresponding pieces of information.

5.5.1 Statement of cash flows

Medical Practice of Dr Lee
Statement of cash flows for the month of October Year 20xx

Operating activities £
Inflow from fees 3,500
Outflow: rent paid (1,900)
payment to supplier (P. Jones) (1,200)
wages (1,200)
electricity (100)
Net outflow from operations (900)
Investing activities
Payment for equipment (30,000)
Net outflow for investing activities (30,000)
Financing activities £
Capital contributed by owner 50,000
Capital withdrawn as drawings (1,000)
Net inflow from financing activities 49,000
Increase in cash at bank over period 18,100
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5.5.2

Activity 5.3

Comment. All the amounts for this statement are taken from the ‘Cash at bank’ column
of Table 5.3 but are regrouped for the three headings of operating activities, investing
activities and financing activities. The statement shows that the business had a net
outflow of cash of £900 due to operations and an outflow of cash amounting to £30,000
due to purchase of medical equipment. The owner contributed £50,000 at the start of
the month but took drawings of £1,000 at the end, resulting in a net inflow of £49,000
from financing. The overall effect was an increase in cash over the period amounting
to £18,100.

Income statement (profit and loss account)

Medical Practice of Dr Lee
Income statement (profit and loss account)
for the month of October Year 20xx

£ £

Fees charged 5,500
Medical supplies used (350)
Wages (1,200)
Rent (1,900)
Electricity (100)
Depreciation (250)

(3,800)

Profit 1,700

Comment. The total fees charged constitute the total revenue of the period as may be
seen in the column in Table 5.3 headed ‘revenue’. The expenses of the period amount
to £3,800 and are taken from the final column of Table 5.3. The difference between
revenue and expenses is the profit of £1,700. This is the amount by which the owner-
ship interest has increased to make the owner of the business better off.

Some students ask at this point why the owner’s drawings are not included in the
income statement (profit and loss account). The answer is that making drawings of
cash has nothing to do with the operations of the business. It is a voluntary action
taken by the owner, who is also the manager, balancing the owner’s personal need for
cash against the needs of the business for cash to ensure continued smooth running.
Where the owner is the only person working in the business, the owner may regard
the drawings as being closer to wages. The amount taken may represent wages in
economic terms. However, accounting ignores this economic reality and reports all
amounts withdrawn by the owner as drawings.

The medical practice of Dr Lee has made a profit of £1,700 over the month but the cash
flow caused by operations is an outflow of £900. How can a business make a profit and
yet see an outflow of cash caused by operations? This question is asked all too often in
reality. You can provide the answer by comparing the cash flow due to operating activities
and the calculation of net profit. If you are not sure how to make the comparison, look
back to Chapter 3 where the financial statements of P. Mason’s legal practice were
analysed (Table 3.7).
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5.5.3 Statement of financial position (balance sheet)

Medical Practice of Dr Lee
Statement of financial position (balance sheet)
at 31 October Year 20xx

£

Non-current (fixed) assets
Medical equipment at cost 30,000
Office furniture 6,500

36,500
Depreciation (250)
Depreciated cost of fixed assets 36,250
Current assets
Medical supplies 850
Trade receivables (debtors) 2,000
Cash at bank 18,100
Total current assets 20,950
Total assets 57,200
Current liabilities
Trade payables (creditors) 6,500)
Net assets 50,700
Capital at start 50,000
Add: profit 1,700
Less: drawings (1,000)
Total ownership interest 50,700

Comment. The statement of financial position (balance sheet) follows the pattern of
the accounting equation. The non-current (fixed assets) are presented first of all, showing
the resources available to the business over a longer period of time. The depreciation
is deducted to leave an amount remaining which is probably best described as the
‘depreciated cost’ but is often labelled ‘net book value’ or ‘written down value’.
Chapter 8 contains more information on the procedures for measuring and recording
depreciation and the limitations of using the word ‘value’ in relation to those procedures.

The next section contains the current assets which are expected to be converted
into cash within a 12-month period. The medical supplies shown are those which have
not yet been used and therefore remain as a benefit for the next month. Trade receiv-
ables (debtors) are those customers who are expected to pay in the near future. The
other current asset is the cash held at the bank, which is very accessible in the short term.

The only liability is the amount of £6,500 owing to the Office Supplies Company,
due for payment at the start of December. This is a current liability because it is due
for payment within 12 months.

It is felt to be helpful in the statement of financial position (balance sheet) to set out
subtotals which may guide the reader. These have been shaded in the statement of
financial position (balance sheet). The total of non-current (fixed) assets is interesting as
the long-term asset base used to generate profits. The difference between the current
assets and the current liabilities is sometimes identified separately as the working
capital. At the moment the current assets look rather high in relation to the need to
cover current liabilities. This is because the amount of cash held is quite high in rela-
tion to the apparent needs of the business. It is possible that Dr Lee has plans to use
the cash for business purposes quite soon but, in the absence of such plans, Dr Lee
ought to consider investing it to earn interest or else withdrawing it for other uses.

The amount for total assets less total liabilities (A — L) is usually called the net
assets of the business. (The word ‘net’ means ‘after taking something away’ — in this
case, after taking away the liabilities.) There is not much to say here except to note that
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Activity 5.4

5.6

it equals the ownership interest as would be expected from the accounting equation.
The ownership interest has increased over the period through making a profit of
£1,700 but decreased by £1,000 through making drawings, so that the resulting
increase is £700 overall.

Compare the financial statements of Dr Lee’s medical practice with the information
collected in the spreadsheet of Table 5.3. Take a pencil and, very lightly, place a tick
against each amount in the financial statements and a tick against each amount in the
spreadsheet, as you match them together. If you are able to work backwards in this way
from the financial statements to the spreadsheet then you will be well on the way to
understanding how the financial statements are related to the original list of transactions.

Summary

The first stage in recording a transaction is to think about its effect on the accounting
equation.

Assets minus Liabilities equals Ownership interest

A transaction must have at least two effects on the accounting equation. For example,
when cash is contributed by the owner there is an increase in the asset of cash and an
increase in the ownership interest:

Assets T — Liabilities equals Ownership interest T

Accounting transactions may be recorded in a spreadsheet where the columns
record the assets and liabilities and the rows record each transaction. The totals at
the foot of all columns contain the information for the statement of financial position
(balance sheet) at the end of the period. The columns for revenue and expenditure
allow the profit or loss to be calculated. The bank or cash column provides infor-
mation for the statement of cash flows.

The Questions section of each chapter has three types of question. ‘Test your understanding’
questions to help you review your reading are in the ‘A’ series of questions. You will find the
answers to these by reading and thinking about the material in the book. ‘Application’ questions
to test your ability to apply technical skills are in the ‘B’ series of questions. Questions requiring
you to show skills in problem solving and evaluation are in the ‘C’ series of questions. A letter
[S] indicates that there is a solution at the end of the book.

“ Test your understanding

A5.1 [S] The following list of transactions relates to a television repair business during the first
month of business. Explain how each transaction affects the accounting equation:
(Section 5.2)

(@) Owner puts cash into the business.
(b) Buy a vehicle for cash.
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Receive a bill for electricity consumed.

Purchase stationery for office use, paying cash.

Pay the electricity bill in cash.

Pay rental for a computer, used to keep customer records.
Buy spare parts for cash, to use in repairs.

Buy spare parts on credit terms.

Pay garage service bills for van, using cash.

Fill van with petrol, using credit account at local garage, to be paid at the start of
next month.

Carry out repairs for cash.

Carry out repairs on credit terms.

Pay wages to an employee.

Owner takes cash for personal use.

[S] Which of the items in the list of transactions in question A5.1 will have an effect on
an income statement (profit and loss account)?

[S] Which of the items in the list of transactions in question A5.1 will have an effect on
a statement of cash flows?

[S] Which of the items in the list of transactions in question A5.1 will have an effect on
a statement of financial position (balance sheet)?

[S] Analyse each of the following transactions to show the two aspects of the trans-
action: (Section 5.3)

Apr.

Apr.
Apr.
Apr.
Apr.

Apr.
Apr.
Apr.
Apr.
Apr.

Apr.
Apr.

1 Jane Gate commenced her dental practice on 1 April by depositing £60,000 in

a business bank account.

Rent for a surgery was paid, £800, for the month of April.

Dental equipment was purchased for £35,000, paying in cash.

Dental supplies were purchased for £5,000, taking 30 days’ credit from a supplier.

Fees of £1,200 were collected in cash from patients and paid into the bank

account.

15 Dental assistant was paid wages for two weeks, £700.

20 Jane Gate withdrew £500 cash for personal use.

21 Fees of £2,400 were collected in cash from patients and paid into the bank.

29 Dental assistant was paid wages for two weeks, £700.

29 Invoices were sent to patients who are allowed 20 days’ credit, for work done
during April amounting to £1,900.

30 Telephone bill for April was paid, £80.

30 Dental supplies unused were counted and found to be worth £3,500, measured
at cost price.

A OND =

n Application

B5.1 [S]

(@) Using the list of transactions at question A5.5 prepare a spreadsheet similar to that presented
in Table 5.3.

(b) Show that the spreadsheet totals satisfy the accounting equation.

B5.2 [S]
Using the totals from the columns of the spreadsheet of question B5.1, prepare for the dental
practice in the month of April:

(@) a statement of cash flows;
(b) a statement of financial position (balance sheet); and
(c) an income statement (profit and loss account).

There are no questions in the C series for this chapter.



Supplement to Chapter 5

Recording transactions in ledger accounts -
a service business

In the supplement to Chapter 2 it was shown that the rules for debit and credit bookkeeping may
be summarised in terms of the elements of the accounting equation as shown in Table 5.5.

Table 5.5
Rules for debit and credit entries in ledger accounts
Debit entries in a ledger | Credit entries in a ledger
account account
Left-hand side of the equation
Asset Increase Decrease
Right-hand side of the equation
Liability Decrease Increase
Ownership interest Expense Revenue
Capital withdrawn Capital contributed

In the supplement to Chapter 3 a spreadsheet was used to show that a series of
transactions could be analysed and summarised in tabular form. That spreadsheet
format is becoming increasingly used as the basis for computer-based recording of
transactions but the more conventional approach to analysing transactions is to collect
them together in ledger accounts. This supplement takes the transactions of Chapter 5
and analyses them in debit and credit form in order to produce a trial balance as a
basis for the preparation of financial statements.

In Table 5.1 some common transactions of a service business were listed and then
analysed using the accounting equation. They will now be analysed in terms of where
the debit and credit entries would be made in a ledger account. Test yourself by trying
out the answer before you look at the answer in Table 5.6 below. Once you are satisfied
that you could produce the correct answer for the transactions in Table 5.1, you are
ready to deal with Dr Lee’s medical practice.

lllustration: Dr 